
Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday May 19th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the May 19th, 2025 Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS  
a. Public Hearing – Annual Town Meeting Warrant

o Custom Concepts & BH2M Civil Engineering – Lyman Town Hall Expansion

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others. The Board may not
be able to respond to Q&A during public comment; If you wish to be placed on a future agenda,
please contact the Town Manager.

b. Mail •York County Sheriff

ITEM #3 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any
b. Cemetery Committee – Request for Tree Removal Funds
c. Planning Board – Review/Approve Bylaws & Mission Statement – Changes sent to Planning Board
d. CEO – Fee Schedule Updates, changes from last approved fee schedule.

ITEM #4 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  
a. Fire Chief – All Hands
b. Treasurer – Expense Report

ITEM #5 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Parks & Recs – Question regarding Bunganut Ramps, temporary permitting
b. Review/ Approve – Employee Personnel Policy
c. Review/ Approve – Select Board Code of Conduct
d. Historical Society – Request for expendable funds account
e. Amber Swett – Discussion regarding committees recording & streaming meetings/proceedings

ITEM #6 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 05/05/2025

ITEM #7 SIGN WARRANTS  
a. Payroll Warrant #50 in the amount of $31,944.32
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #51 (FY2025) in the amount of $311,307.86

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

ADJOURN 



Town of Lyman 
Select Board 

Public Hearing 

The Select Board will hold a public hearing on  

Monday May 19, 2025 at 6:00pm  

located at the Lyman Town Hall for the purpose of  

presenting information and allowing public comment regarding 

June, 2025 Annual Town Meeting Warrant 

Information regarding the warrant, budget detail and other items are available at 

the Town Hall and on the Town’s website at www.lyman-me.gov  

The Select Board’s regular meeting will follow after the public hearing. 

ITEM #1: (a.) Public Hearing 

http://www.lyman-me.gov/


TOWN OF LYMAN 

ANNUAL TOWN MEETING WARRANT 

TO ERIN CAMARENA, RESIDENT IN THE TOWN OF LYMAN, COUNTY OF 

YORK, AND THE STATE OF MAINE. 

GREETINGS: In the name of the State of Maine, you are hereby required to notify and warn 

the inhabitants of the Town of Lyman, qualified to vote in Town affairs, to meet at the Lyman 

Town Hall on Tuesday, June 10th, A.D., 2025, at 8:00 AM, then and there to act on Articles 

numbered 1 through 2.   The election of Moderator will take place at 7:50 am. 

ARTICLE 1:  To choose a Moderator to preside at said meeting. 

ARTICLE 2:  To choose, by secret ballot:  

One   (1)   Selectmen / Overseer of the Poor 3 Year term: 

Two  (2)   Budget Committee Members 3 Year term: 

One   (1)   RSU #57 School Board Director 3 Year term:  

The Select Board hereby gives notice that the Registrar of Voters will be in session at the 

Lyman Town Hall the day of said meeting, June 10th, 2025, from 8:00 a.m. until the closing 

of the polls for the purpose of correcting the list of voters. The Polls will open at 8:00 a.m. 

and close at 8:00 p.m. 

After the closing of the polls, the meeting will be recessed until 6:00 p.m., June 12th, 2025 

at the Lyman Elementary School in said Town, at which time the remainder of the 

warrant will be acted upon.  

General Note: As per the Town of Lyman Charter, section 2.2.2 – Warrant Articles 

“…….Articles concerning appropriations shall contain the statement of fact in additions to 

other information contained in three (3) columns 

a. One showing the appropriation for the current fiscal year

b. One showing the appropriation proposed by the budget committee

c. One showing the appropriation recommended by the Board.”

___________________________________________________________________________ 

ARTICLE 3: To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to transfer available 

funds such as State Funds and Excise Tax in the amount of $900,000; Surplus in the amount of 

$900,000, and any other funds which might be used to reduce the tax commitment.  

Select Board’s Vote: 5-0-0 Budget Committee Vote: No Vote 

COPY



ARTICLE 4:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $7,500 to be 

deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Computer Reserve

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 0 $ 7,500        $ 7,500 

Select Board Vote:  5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 5:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $7,500 to be 

deposited into a non-lapsing reserve account to be known as Compactor Reserve. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 7,500 $ 7,500 $ 7,500 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0        Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 6:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $100,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Town Hall Reserve. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 10,000 $ 100,000 $ 100,000 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

ARTICLE  7:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $38,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Revaluation Reserve

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 22,000 $ 38,000         $ 38,000 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 
COPY



ARTICLE 8:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $15,000 

to be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Capital Improvement

Current Year 

Appropriation 

       Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

  $ 15,000 $ 15,000  $ 15,000 

 Select Board Vote: 5-0-0      Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 9:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $5,000 to be          

deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Resident Disaster Relief.

Current Year  

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 5,000 $ 5,000  $ 5,000 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 10:   To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $6,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Fire Hydrants

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board        

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 4,000 $ 6,000 $ 6,000 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 11:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $1,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Charter Commission 

Reserve.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ 1,000 

 Select Board Vote: 5-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

COPY



ARTICLE 12:  To see what sum the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes to be 

deposited into a non-lapsing reserve account known as Bunganut Park. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 20,000   $ 25,000   $ 20,000 

  Select Board Vote: 5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 5-1-0 

ARTICLE 13:  To see what sum the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes to be 

deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Property Equalization 

Project.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 37,500   $ 82,400   $ 57,400 

  Select Board Vote: 5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 14:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes to be 

deposited into a non-lapsing reserve account to be known as Cousens Bridge. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 0   $ 25,000   $ 25,000 

  Select Board Vote: 5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 15:   To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$75,000 to be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR Vehicle 

Reserve Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 60,000 $ 75,000 $ 75,000 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

COPY



ARTICLE 16:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$16,000 to be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR 

Facility, System & Equipment Reserve Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 16,000 $ 16,000      $ 16,000 

 Select Board Vote: 5-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 17:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$14,000 to be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR 

Building Reserve. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 14,000 $ 14,000 $ 14,000 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0 Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 18:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $720,000 

and to vote to appropriate from Excise the sum of $44,560 and to vote to raise and appropriate 

from Taxes the sum of $277,376 for a total of $1,041,936 for Salaries & Benefits. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $972,364 $1,041,936 $ 1,041,936 

 Select Board Vote: 3-2-0 Budget Committee Vote: 5-1-0 

ARTICLE 19:  To see what sum the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes for an 

Assessing Assistant and to combine with the sum of Article 18 if voted in the affirmative. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $0 $42,880 $ 0 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0 Budget Committee Vote: 3-3-0 
COPY



ARTICLE 20:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$104,793 for a Director of Facilities & Recreation and to combine with the sum of Article 18 

if voted in the  affirmative. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $0 $104,793 $ 104,793 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0 Budget Committee Vote: 5-1-0 

ARTICLE 21: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$158,344 for the General Administration Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 162,935 $ 158,344 $ 158,344 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0          Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 22: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$11,350 for the Elections Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 15,517 $ 11,350 $ 11,350 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0                Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 23:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$31,221.30 for the General Administration – Insurance Services Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 38,543 $ 31,221.30 $ 31,221.30 

Select Board Vote: 5-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 COPY



ARTICLE 24:   To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$2,500 to be deposited into a non-lapsing reserve account to be known as Contingency 

Reserve.  

Select Board Vote: 4-1-0        Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 25:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$8,607.00 for the Animal Welfare Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 9,328 $ 8,607 $ 8,607 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 26:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$2,631  for Health and Human Services

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 2,632 $ 2,631 $ 2,631 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

Note: Includes General Assistance and a donation to Lifeflight. 

ARTICLE 27: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Excise the sum of $855,440 

for the Roads Account.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 839,048 $ 855,440 $ 855,440 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

       Budget Committee 

       Recommendation 

$2,500 $ 2,500  $2,500 

COPY



ARTICLE 28:   To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$828,060.33 for the Buildings & Grounds Account.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 814,105 $ 828,060.33 $ 828,060.33 

         Select Board Vote: 4-1-0    Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

Note: Includes care & maintenance, mowing, plowing, waste services, energy, and signage. 

ARTICLE 29:   To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from FY 26 Revenue the sum of 

$30,000 and to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of $333,185 for a total of $363,185 

for the Transfer Station Account

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 345,375 $ 363,185 $ 363,185 

         Select Board Vote: 3-2-0     Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 30:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$10,350 for the Parks and Recreation Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 10,310 $ 10,350 $ 10,350 

 Select Board Vote: 5-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

ARTICLE 31:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$136,600 for the Outsourced General Administration Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 130,650  $ 136,600 $ 136,600 

         Select Board Vote: 5-0-0          Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

Note: Includes professional services, legal services, audit services, cemetery, plannings board 

professional services, Springvale/Sanford YMCA, & mapping services.  Town Hall Expansion 

Next Phase has been moved to Capital Improvement.  

COPY



ARTICLE 32:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$209,803.50 for the Outsourced Other Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 207,541 $ 209,803.50  $ 209,803.50 

  Select Board Vote: 4-0-1       Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

Note: Includes Library, Lyman Historical Society, and PSAP’s fees. 

ARTICLE 33: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$784,166.83  for the Town of Lyman’s share of Goodwin Mills Fire Rescue Department and 

said sum to be paid to the Treasurer of the Goodwin Mills Fire Rescue pursuant to the 

Interlocal Agreement between the Town of Lyman and the Town of Dayton. Any unused 

amounts will be carried forward. To be effective, the Town of Dayton must also vote to 

appropriate its share of such costs. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 706,695 $ 784,166.83 $ 784,166.83 

       Select Board Vote: 5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 6-0-0 

Select Board Budget Committee 

Lyman Operating Costs (72.32%) $212,437.76 $212,437.76 

Lyman Personnel Costs (72.32%) $571,729.07 $571,729.07 

Note: Includes ambulance revenue and FY 24  surplus in the amount of $300,000 and applied 

to total balance of $1,384,301.47  (of which Lyman’s portion is 72.32% or $784,166.83). 

ARTICLE 34: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$81,493.61  for the Town of Lyman’s share of Goodwin Mills Fire Rescue Department and 

said sum to be paid to the Treasurer of the Goodwin Mills Fire Rescue pursuant to the 

Interlocal Agreement between the Town of Lyman and the Town of Dayton. Any unused 

amounts will be carried forward. To be effective, the Town of Dayton must also vote to 

appropriate its share of such costs. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 0 $ 81,493.61 $ 81,493.61 

       Select Board Vote: 5-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 5-1-0 

Select Board Budget Committee 

Lyman Operating Costs (72.32%) $ $ 

Lyman Personnel Costs (72.32%) $81,493.61 $81,493.61 

Note: This article would increase hours by 60 with 42 being full-time. 

COPY



ARTICLE  35:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$29,848.35 for Capital Improvement Purchases.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$95,861 $29,848.35 $29,848.35 

      Select Board Vote: 5-0-0        Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

Note:  Town Hall Expansion Next Phase was reclassified from Outsourced Other. 

ARTICLE  36:   To see if the Town will vote to deposit the balance of funds available on June 

30, 2024 that were derived from the sale of timber and any future sales of timber into a non-

lapsing reserve account to be known as Timber Sales designated for capital improvement 

projects or other initiatives related to Town assets.  

Note:  As of April 23, 2025 the balance is $8,642.15 

ARTICLE  37:   To see if the Town will vote to deposit the balance of funds available on June 

30, 2024 that were appropriated for the Kennebunk Pond Reserve into the Bunganut Project 

Reserve Account.  

Note:  As of April 23, 2025 the balance is $18.37 

ARTICLE 38:   To see if the Town will vote to take from the State of Maine Snowmobile 

Registration Fee Fund; said monies to be turned over to the Lyman Snowmobile Club for the 

purpose of maintaining their snowmobile trails to be open for use by the public. These funds 

will be released after the Town is reimbursed for the 2024-2025 registration, as determined by 

the State of Maine.  

ARTICLE 39:   To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Tax Collector to accept any 

prepayments of taxes not yet due or assessed. Any taxes paid above the amount finally assessed 

shall be repaid without interest upon request.   

ARTICLE  40:    To see if the Town will vote to set the interest rate to be paid by the Town 

on abated taxes at 3% for the fiscal year.  

COPY



ARTICLE 41: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $15,000 from overlay to pay tax 

abatements and applicable interest granted during the 2026 year. Explanation: Even though 36 

M.R.S.A §710 authorizes assessors to raise overlay, the municipal officers have no authority to

spend the amount of overlay without an appropriation vote.

ARTICLE 42: To see if the Town will vote to set a date for taxes to become due and payable 

and to fix interest rate of 7.5% for interest charged on taxes unpaid after this or 30 days after the 

bills are mailed out, whichever is later. 

Note:  

Tax Collector Recommendation of 7.5% (a 0.5% decrease from FY25) based on state Maximum 

(current state max is 7.50%) 

Tax Collector Recommendation to set dates on October 1st, 2024, and April 1st, 2025 

ARTICLE  43:  To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to waive 

foreclosure of a tax lien mortgage and pursuant to state statute if (1) the taxpayer agrees in 

writing to pay outstanding balance within one (1) year; and (2) no such waiver has been 

granted by the Town Select Board within the past three (3) years. 

ARTICLE  44:  To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to waive 

foreclosure of a tax lien mortgage pursuant to State statue on such terms as may be determined 

by the Select Board to be in the Town’s best interest.  

ARTICLE  45:  To see if the Town will authorize the Select Board to sell any tax-acquired 

property and/or Town-owned property the Select Board deems no longer purposeful for 

municipal use and to issue a quit claim deed for the same. Sales to be by sealed bid, public 

auction or contract with a real estate broker, if to other than the owner of record at the time of 

foreclosure, and no Select Board member during the term of his or her office may acquire from 

the Town any interest in real estate acquired by the Town on account of nonpayment of taxes 

unless the owner of record at the time of foreclosure was the Select Board member or the son, 

daughter, spouse, or parent of the Select Board member. Except that the Municipal Officers 

shall use the special sale process required by 36 M.R.S §943-C for qualifying homestead 

property if they choose to sell to anyone other than the former owner(s).  COPY



ARTICLE  46: To see if the Town will vote to deposit any excess proceeds from the sale of 

tax-acquired property and/or Town-owned property the Select Board deems no longer 

purposeful for municipal use into a non-lapsing reserve account to be known as Asset 

Proceeds to be designated for capital improvement projects or other initiatives related to Town 

assets. 

ARTICLE  47: To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Selectmen to accept and expend 

State and Federal Grant funds received during the fiscal year 

Given under our hand at Lyman, Maine this _______ day of _______________A.D., 2025. 

Jessica Picard, Chair Victoria Gavel, Vice Chair 

Amber Swett David Alves 

Joseph Wagner COPY









































































TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 
JOB DESCRIPTION 

Page | 1 

Job Title: Director of Facilities & Recreational 
Services -  Exempt 

Department: Facilities and Recreational 
Services.  

Classification (Grade/Step):  11 Reports to: Town Manager 

Effective Date:  Date Updated: 

Summary 
The Director of Facilities and Recreational Services is responsible for the leadership, planning, 
coordination, and implementation of the Town’s facilities’ maintenance and provides support in 
recreational services. This position oversees the year-round maintenance and operation of 
municipal buildings, parks, and public spaces, as well as the streamlining and execution of 
community recreation programs and special events. The Director works closely with 
contractors, vendors, volunteers, civic organizations, and other municipal departments to 
ensure safe, functional, and inviting facilities and recreational amenities. 

Essential Functions 

(The essential functions or duties listed below are intended only as illustrations of the various 
types of work that may be performed. The omission of specific statements of duties does not 
exclude them from the position if the work is similar, related, or a logical assignment to the 
position.) 

▪ Oversees maintenance and repair of all municipal buildings, park amenities, and
recreational facilities. Schedules routine maintenance, inspections, and seasonal amenities.
Monitors the conditions of all facilities and grounds. Corresponds and coordinates vendors.

▪ Tracks capital improvement needs for multi-year capital improvement plan and
maintenance program for all town facilities; oversees execution of approved projects and
implements systems to prioritize maintenance projects.

▪ Responsible for Establishing an appropriate preventive maintenance plan and schedule for
the Towns’ facilities and grounds. Is knowledgeable of all current contractual agreements
for facilities maintenance and corresponds with vendors accordingly each year/seasonally.

▪ Oversees all municipal construction projects. Assists with permitting requirements.
Maintains knowledge of Municipal ordinances and State and Federal laws and regulations.

▪ Responds to emergency repairs and maintenance in an expedient manner and conducts all
reporting and tracking needs.

▪ Determines and establishes detailed bid and quote specifications pertaining to purchase of
supplies, materials, equipment, and local contract work; oversees the acquisition, storage
and issuance of all maintenance materials, supplies and equipmentDRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 
JOB DESCRIPTION 

Page | 2  
 

 

▪ Manages asset inventory and coordinates with insurance provider on annual property 
reviews. Monitors safety conditions across all facilities, addressing hazards promptly and 
documenting incidents 

▪ Monitors and responds to park and recreational reservation requests. Develop and upload 
information for programs available. Assist with developing schedules and promoting 
recreational programs and community events.  

▪ Serves as staff liaison to the Parks & Recreation Committee, Buildings & Grounds 
Committee, and other civic groups.  

▪ Supports community engagement and assists in streamlining and facilitating community 
events. Assists with permitting requirements, promotional content, coordination of vendors 
and community education. 

▪ Oversees park management and coordinates and corresponds with vendors. Assists with 
compiling and tracking data relevant to park use.  

▪ Prepare departmental reports, grant applications, and project updates 

▪ Maintain accurate records for scheduling, maintenance, permits, and vendor contracts 

▪ Responsible for formulating and managing department budgets. 

▪ Maintains regular, predictable, and reliable attendance. 

▪ Reports regularly to Town Manager about department activities 

▪ Maintains excellent communication and fosters a collaborative working environment with 
all departments as well as with the public. 

▪ Places an emphasis on safety, efficiency, quality, and productivity. 

▪ Oversees the organization and maintenance of records, files, and providing public access  

▪ Follows all Town and Department policies. 

▪ Maintains trainings and knowledge of local, state, and federal regulations.  

▪ In person contact is an essential function of this position. 

▪ Performs other related work as required. 

 
Minimum Qualifications (Training, Education, Experience) 
High School Diploma, municipal, office, or related experience. Bachelor’s degree in Public 
Administration, Facilities Management, Parks & Recreation, or 3-5 years of municipal 
experience preferred; or an equivalent combination of education and experience in facility 
operations, municipal services, or recreation management. Experience managing staff, 
contractors, and volunteers. Must maintain a valid Maine Driver’s License. 
 
 

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 
JOB DESCRIPTION 

Page | 3  
 

Knowledge, Ability, Skill 
Knowledge: Strong project management and organizational skills. Knowledge of building 
systems, seasonal maintenance, and outdoor recreation operations. Familiarity with budgeting 
and municipal procurement procedures.  

 

Ability:  Ability to perform prolonged heavy physical labor under adverse weather conditions. 
Ability to perform a variety of manual tasks or perform one routine job for prolonged periods. 
Ability to work alone independently. 
 

Skills: Excellent communication, public engagement, and interpersonal skills. Proficiency with 
office, scheduling software, social media and digital communications experience. Excellent 
written and oral communication skills. Strong organizational skills 

 
Supervision  
Received: Works under the direction of the Town Manager 
 

Exercised: None. 
 

Responsibility: Performs varied and responsible duties requiring a thorough knowledge of 
departmental operations and the exercise of considerable judgment to independently complete 
assigned tasks, and to analyze the facts or circumstances surrounding individual problems in 
situations not clearly defined by precedent or established procedures. 
 
Job Environment 
▪ Work is performed in an office, remotely, and outdoors with exposure to variable outdoor 

weather conditions and hazards associated with construction sites and public works 
projects; on call for various emergencies. Work environment is moderately noisy to loud. 

▪ Operates a computer, automobile, light trucks, heavy equipment, pneumatic tools, power 
and hand tools, calculator, copier, facsimile machine, and other standard office equipment. 

▪ Contacts are by phone, through correspondence, and in person; they generally consist of an 
information exchange dialogue, discussing routine and semi-complex issues. 

▪ Makes frequent contact with Town departments, and contractors. 
▪ Errors could result in delays of department service and damage to buildings and/or 

equipment. 
 
Physical Requirements 
(The physical demands described are representative of those that must be met by an employee 
to successfully perform the essential functions of this job. Reasonable accommodations may be 
made to enable individuals with disabilities to perform the essential functions.)  
 

Regularly required to walk, stand, sit, talk, and hear; operate objects, tools, or controls; pick up 
paper, files, and other common office objects.  Ability to view computer screens and work with 
details for extended periods of time. The employee must occasionally lift and/or move objects 
weighing up to 60 pounds. Must be able to communicate effectively in writing and orally. Vision 
and hearing at or correctable to normal ranges.  
 

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 
JOB DESCRIPTION 

Page | 4 

(This job description does not constitute an employment agreement between the employer and 
employee, and is subject to change by the employer, as the needs of the employer and 
requirements of the job change.)  

I have read and understand the job duties and expectations as outlined in this job description. 

I have read and understand the job duties and expectations as outlined in this job description. 

Employee____________________________________________ Date___________________________ 

Equal Opportunity/Americans with Disabilities Act Employer 

DRAFT



ITEM #2: (b.) Mail





ITEM #3: (b.) Cemetery Committee















ITEM #3: (c.) Planning Board Bylaws

Lindsay Gagne
Line



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

1 | P a g e

Article 1 - General Provisions 

1.1 The Planning Board (hereafter referred to as The Board) will conduct its business in 
accordance with Maine Revised Statutes Title 30A and 38; Town of Lyman Zoning 
Ordinance and Shoreland Zoning Ordinance (hereafter referred to as the LZOs); Town of 
Lyman Street Acceptance, Design and Construction Standards Ordinance; Planning Board 
Land Development and Subdivision Standards; the Town of Lyman Municipal Charter; and 
Roberts Rules of Order. 

1.2 The Board members are expected to review State and Local regulations to become 
knowledgeable with the regulations, and with Board Policies and Procedures. Bylaws 

1.3 Conflict of Interest.   The Board members are required to consider applications and make 
decisions impartially. Any conflict of interest must be avoided. It is expected that a Board 
member will recuse themself from consideration of an applicant’s project if the Board 
member is aware of a conflict of interest. 

Types of conflict of interest may include: 
a. Financial interest in a project.
b. Blood/Marital relationship to the applicant within the 6th degree (see Attachment 4,

Table of Consanguinity from the Maine Municipal Association Planning Board Manual).
as listed in the Town of Lyman, Municipal Code of Ethics, table of consanguinity (page
7) and shall attempt to avoid the appearance of conflict of interest by disclosure or by
abstention (M/R/S/A 30-A ss 2605) 

c. Board member bias as described in Section 1.4.

1.4  Bias.  Bias may be indicated by a Board member’s behavior or statements such that the 
Board member is perceived to be unable to make an impartial decision. Also, bias may be 
indicated by a personal or business relationship between the Board member and the 
applicant such that the Board member may be perceived as being unable to impartially 
judge the merits of the applicant’s project. 

The Board member subject to the bias allegations may choose to recuse themself from 
the discussion of the applicant’s project, and an alternate member may be designated by 
the Chair to be a full member for the consideration of the project. 

Burden of Proof/Board Procedure. The burden of proving bias is on the applicant. Any 
allegations of bias exhibited by a Board member must be accompanied by specific written 
examples of the alleged bias. The Board member shall be given adequate time, but no less 
than 24 hours, to review the bias allegations and an opportunity to respond to the 
allegations. The Board may vote to suspend action on the applicant’s project until the 
alleged bias is adjudicated.  



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

2 | P a g e

The Board should review allegations of bias in open session. After reviewing the bias 
allegations and the Board member’s response, the Board (without the Board member 
accused of bias) shall vote on the issue in open session.  

1.5 Board member discussions/email or other correspondence. To avoid violations of the 
Freedom of Access Act (FOAA) and the constitutional right to due process, Board members 
should NOT have discussions with other Board members regarding an application or other 
substantive Board business outside an advertised Board meeting. Delivery of substantive 
information between meetings by email may be permissible as long as it is a one-way 
communication, and no discussion of the information occurs outside the meeting by email 
or otherwise. All correspondence as listed above is subject to Maine’s open meeting laws 
and are subject to FOAA. 

Article 2 - Membership 

2.1 Appointments to The Board are to be made by the Town Manager with the concurrence 
of the Select Board, and in accordance with the Town of Lyman Municipal Charter. 

2.2 Appointees must be registered voters, and residents of Lyman. 

2.3 The Board will consist of five full members and two alternate members. 

2.4 The term of each member is three years, unless otherwise specified by the Select Board. 

2.5 Any member of The Board may be removed for just cause in accordance with Title 30A 
M.R.S.A., Section 2601, the Town of Lyman Municipal Charter and LZO 8.2.5. The term just
cause shall include failure to attend three consecutive Board meetings without approval
of the Chair.

Article 3 - Officers and their Duties 

3.1 The officers of The Board shall consist of the Chair, Vice-Chair, and Secretary. The Chair 
and Vice Chair are to be full members.  

3.2 The Chair presides at all meetings and hearings of The Board. The Chair has the authority 
to appoint all committees and to call all work sessions and to preside over executive 
sessions. 

3.3 The Vice-Chair acts for the Chair in the Chair’s absence. 

3.4 The Secretary is responsible to coordinate all minutes and records of The Board, notices of 
meetings and hearings, and correspondence of The Board.  



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

3 | P a g e

3.5 The election of officers shall take place in July of each year or as soon as possible 
thereafter. 

3.6 Nominations of officers shall be made from full voting members of The Board. The 
candidates receiving a majority vote are elected. The term of office is one year or until the 
successor takes office. 

3.7 Vacancies of officers listed in Article 3.1 will be filled using normal election procedures. 

Article 4 - Alternate Members 

4.1 Alternate Board members are expected to attend all meetings and workshops and may 
participate in all proceedings but may not vote on a project that is before the Board 
unless the Chair has designated an alternate to fill a full member’s seat for that project. 
Alternate members may sign plans and use permits on a project when they have been 
designated by the Chair to fill the seat of a full member. 

Article 5 - Planning Board Administration 

5.1 The Planning Board Clerk provides administrative support to The Board, and, in 
coordination with the Secretary, is responsible for all minutes and records of The Board, 
notices of meetings and hearings, and correspondence of The Board. The Planning Board 
Clerk must keep records of all resolutions, votes, transactions, correspondence, findings 
and conclusions of The Board. All records are public information and may be inspected 
during normal business hours of the Planning Board Clerk with proper notice. 

5.2  The Secretary shall maintain approved copies of the Board By-Laws and Mission 
Statement. 

Article 6 - Powers and Duties of the Board 

6.1 The Board shall perform such duties and exercise such powers as are provided in 
Municipal Ordinances and Planning Board Regulations and the laws of the State of Maine. 

Article 7 - Meetings 

7.1 Regular meetings are to be held on the 1st and 3rd Wednesday of each month at a time 
specified by The Board. Meetings are held at the Town Office or another Town Approved 
meeting place. Use of the Lyman Elementary School for meetings shall be requested 
through the Town Manager. 

Special meetings may be called by the Chair, or upon request of a majority of The Board, 
or as requested by the Select Board, provided that notice thereof is given to each Board 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

4 | P a g e

member at least 24 hours in advance and that no business may be conducted other than 
as specified in said notice. 

Refer to Attachment 3 for notification requirements. 

All meetings of The Board shall be held in accordance with the Maine Freedom of Access 
Act, Maine Revised Statute Title 1, Chapter 13, Public Records and Proceedings and the 
requirements of the LZOs 

Notice of all Board meetings shall be given as required by law, and all such meetings shall 

be open to the public except as otherwise provided by law. Notice of meetings shall be 

posted at the Lyman Town Hall, and on all official Town digital media platforms, at least 

one working day before the scheduled meeting. Requests to Town employees for posting 

Board meetings shall be made in a timely manner. 

Refer to Attachment 1 for sample Planning Board Meeting Opening Remarks. 

7.2 All meetings are open to the public with the exception of an Executive Session. Normally, 
with the exception of a public hearing, the public is barred from addressing The Board or 
applicant during a meeting, unless The Board by a majority vote permits the public to 
speak. 

7.3 A Board meeting cannot take place without a quorum present. A quorum will consist of 
three members without any of the three having a conflict of interest with any of the 
projects before the Board. The Board may conduct regular business but will not be able to 
hear anything having to do with the project with the conflict, unless another member 
arrives that has no conflict of interest. 

7.4 In the event a quorum is not present for a Board meeting, workshop or site walk, the 
Board shall reschedule with proper notice by the Clerk. 

7.5 All comments addressed to The Board must be made through the Chair. 

7.6 A majority vote of The Board is required to pass any motion. The Chair is a full voting 
member. 

7.7 When a motion results in a tie vote the Motion Fails. 

7.8 All project decisions made by The Board are based on the project meeting all Local, State 
and Federal Laws, Rules and Regulations. 

Article 8 - Agendas 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

5 | P a g e

8.1 All agendas are set by The Board or the Chair. 

8.2 Normal meeting agendas are to be posted in accordance with State statute. Special 
meetings and workshops will be noticed and posted as per section 7.1 of this by-law. 

8.3 New applications, when deemed complete and in accordance with the regulations by the 
Code Enforcement Officer and The Board, may be placed on the next available agenda as 
determined by The Board, subject to Board meeting and public hearing requirements. 

Article 9 – Public Hearings 

9.1 Public hearings of The Board shall be called as required by the LZOs or on such other 
occasions, as a majority of The Board may deem appropriate. Notice of all such hearings 
shall be given as required by law and the LZOs, and shall include the date, time and place 
of the hearing and a general description of the subject matter.  

Refer to Attachment 3 for notification requirements. 

The Chair shall convene all hearings by describing the purpose of the hearing and the 

general procedures to be followed. The Board may receive any oral or documentary 

material but shall exclude irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious material. Every party 

shall have the right to present its material in the order determined by the Chair and without 

interruption, provided, however, that the Chair may impose such reasonable time limits as 

may be necessary to ensure that all parties have an adequate opportunity to be heard.  

Refer to Attachment 2 for sample Planning Board Public Hearing Opening Remarks. 

Article 10 - Executive Sessions 

10.1 Upon a majority vote of the Board members present, the Board may call an executive 
session to discuss a personnel issue with a Board member or to discuss pending or 
potential litigation with the Town Attorney. Within the executive session the Chair is 
responsible for ensuring that only the matter at hand is discussed and that no official 
action be taken. No votes shall be taken in the executive session. 

Article 11 - Amendments 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

6 | P a g e

11.1 The By-Laws may be amended by a majority vote of The Board at a regularly scheduled 
meeting, and then submitted to the Select Board for approval in accordance with the 
Town Charter. 

Article 12 - Severability 

12.1 The invalidity of any section or provision of these By-Laws does not invalidate any other 
section or provision of these By-Laws. 

Attachments: 
1. Sample Planning Board Meeting Opening Remarks
2. Sample Planning Board Public Hearing Opening Remarks
3. Notification Requirements for Board Meetings, Site Walks, Public Hearings, and

minimum time for Site Walks and Public Hearings
4. Table of Consanguinity
5. Remote Participation Policy

ADOPTED BY VOTE OF THE PLANNING BOARD AT A REGULAR MEETING ON: 

March 5, 2025 

Kelly J. Demers, Chair 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

7 | P a g e

Attachment 1 

PLANNING BOARD MEETING OPENING REMARKS 

Welcome to the (date) meeting of the Lyman Planning Board.  This 
meeting will come to order. This is a public proceeding and unless the Board 
specifically votes to go into executive session, you have the right to hear 
everything that is being said and to look at all the exhibits that are offered. If 
the Board votes to go into executive session, the reason for the same shall be 
stated.  Please notify the Chairman if you are having difficulty seeing or hearing. 
This meeting is being digitally recorded and broadcast for YouTube. 

In each instance, the burden is upon the applicant to demonstrate 
compliance with the provisions of the applicable ordinance or ordinances. 

Planning is a mutually collaborative process between the Planning Board and 
the applicant. The Board is responsible for the accurate and reasonable 
application of the Lyman ordinances and for providing guidance to applicants in 
the interpretation of the ordinances. The applicant is responsible for providing 
the information necessary for compliance to the Lyman ordinances. 

 After the Board votes on the merits of each project it will prepare a 
written opinion which will be forwarded within seven (7) days. 

The Board works from a prepared agenda and will be considering this 
meeting’s items in the following order: 

ROLL CALL 

• Determine if PB quorum is present. Designate alternate as voting

member if necessary.

REGULAR MEETING NEW BUSINESS 

• List applicants

• List other meeting topics

MINUTES 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

8 | P a g e

• Review and approve minutes

OLD BUSINESS/MAIL/OPEN ISSUES 

• List applicants/status

• Discuss mail

• Discuss any other open issues



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

9 | P a g e

Attachment 2
PLANNING BOARD 

PUBLIC HEARING OPENING REMARKS 

   Welcome to the _(Date)___  Planning Board Public Hearing 

This hearing will come to order. 

The Lyman Planning Board is holding this Public Hearing to review the 
applications of: 

_______________________________________ 

This is a public proceeding, and you have the right to hear everything that is being said 
and to look at all the exhibits that are offered. Please notify the Chairman if you are 
having difficulty seeing or hearing the presentation.   

This meeting is being digitally recorded and broadcast on YouTube. 

All persons speaking will be asked to first state their name and address or affiliation.  All 
questions and comments will be directed to and through the Chairman.  It is required 
that you sign the sign in sheet to document your attendance at this hearing.  

Thank you in advance for your cooperation. 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

10 | P a g e

Attachment 3 

Planning Board Notification and Minimum Time Requirements 

1. PB Meetings and Site Walks – Publish notice one week in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign.

2. PB Public Hearings on SPR and Preliminary Subdivision Application – Notify CEO, SB, and
ZBA 20 days in advance; Using list provided by applicant, notify abutters 20 days in advance
by certified mail; Publish notice two weeks in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign/Library;
Publish notice once in newspaper 14 days in advance.

3. PB Public Hearing on LZO Amendments - Notify CEO, SB, and ZBA 20 days in advance; Using
list provided by applicant, notify abutters 20 days in advance by certified mail; Publish
notice two weeks in advance on Town Web/BB/Sign/Library; Publish notice twice in
newspaper, first notice at least 14 days in advance, second notice at least 7 days in
advance. NOTE - refer to Lyman Charter Section 3.15.4 for additional requirements to place
LZO Amendments on Town ballot.

4. Minimum Time between PB vote that SPR application is complete or acceptance of
Subdivision Preliminary Plan and Site Walk/Public Hearing:

a. Site Walk – 10 days to allow publishing notice on Town Web/BB/sign
b. Public Hearing – four weeks to allow required notification of CEO, SB and ZBA

Abbreviations/notes: 

BB – Bulletin Board in Town Hall PB – Planning Board 

CEO – Code Enforcement Officer SB – Select Board 

Days – calendar days Sign – Illuminated sign in front of Town Hall 

Library – Community Library; 10 John Street SPR – Site Plan Review per LZO Article 8 

LZO – Town of Lyman Zoning Ordinance Web – Town of Lyman Website; lyman-
me.gov; Town Facebook page 

Newspaper – a newspaper of general 
circulation 

ZBA – Zoning Board of Appeals; refer to LZO 
Article 9 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

11 | P a g e

Attachment 4 



Town of Lyman, Maine 
Planning Board Bylaws – March 2025 

12 | P a g e

Attachment 5 
Town of Lyman Planning Board 

Remote Participation Policy 

Pursuant to 1 M.R.S. § 403-B, and after public notice and hearing, the Town of Lyman Planning Board 
(PB)    adopts the following policy to govern the participation, via remote methods, of PB members and 
the public in the public proceedings or meetings of the PB. 

PB Members are expected to be physically present for meetings except when not practicable, such as 
in the case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the PB to meet via remote methods, or an 
illness or temporary absence of a member that causes significant difficulty traveling to the meeting 
location. All PB meetings will be accessible by Zoom or other remote platform when possible. A 
member who is unable to attend a meeting in person will notify the PB chair or presiding officer as 
far in advance as possible.  

Remote methods of participation may include telephonic or video technology allowing simultaneous 
reception of information and may include other means necessary to accommodate disabled persons. 
Remote participation will not be by text-only means such as e-mail, text messages, or chat functions.  

Applicants appearing before the PB may be allowed to participate via remote methods at the 
discretion of the PB Chair or designee.  

The public will be provided a meaningful opportunity to attend via remote methods when any PB 
member o r  a p p l i c a n t  participates via remote methods. If public input is allowed or required at    
the meeting, an effective means of communication between the PB members and the public will also 
be provided.  The PB chairperson may instruct the moderator to force mute members of the public 
who are disruptive to the proceedings. The public will also be provided an opportunity to attend the 
meeting in person unless there is an emergency or urgent issue that requires the entire PB to meet 
using remote methods. 

Notice of all meetings will be provided in accordance with 1 M.R.S. § 406 and any applicable charter, 
ordinance, policy, or bylaw. When the public may attend via remote methods,     notice will include the 
means by which the public may access the meeting remotely and will provide a method for disabled 
persons to request necessary accommodation to access the meeting. Notice will also identify a 
location where the public may attend the meeting in person. The PB will not restrict public 
attendance to remote methods except in the case of an emergency or urgent issue that requires the 
PB to meet using remote methods of attendance. 

The PB will make all documents and materials to be considered by the PB available, electronically or 
otherwise, to the public who attend remotely to the same extent customarily available to the public 
who attend in person, provided no additional costs are incurred by the PB. 



LYMAN BUILDING DEPARTMENT 
11 South Waterboro Road, Lyman, Maine  04002 

Telephone: (207) 247-0647     Email:  ceo@lyman-me.gov 

FEE SCHEDULE 
 ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Beginning any activity before permit is issued may result in a 

double fee, or a penalty of $200, whichever is more. 

Re-inspection fee for any permit  .............................. $50.00 

Building 

Minimum fee (residential) ..................................... $60.00 

Minimum fee (commercial) ................................. $100.00 

New structures, habitable area - per square ft ....... $0.50 

New structures, non-habitable (decks, sheds, 

garage, etc.) - per square foot ....................... $0.30 

Renovations – per $1000 ....................................... $3.00 

Modular home - per square foot ............................. $0.30 

Foundations - - per square foot .............................. $0.20 

Commercial Structures – per $1000 ...................... $6.00 

Temporary Dock permit……….……………………$60.00 

Permanent Dock permit…………..………………$120.00 

Assigning 911 number) .......................................... $0.00 

Demolition permits................................................ $50.00 

Gravel pit inspection  .......................................... $250.00 

Swimming pools (electric permit if required) ........ $60.00 

Sign permit ........................................................... $50.00 

Plumbing 

Minimum fee ....................................................... $40.00 

Hook-up/Fixture fee, each fixture ....................... $12.50 

Hook-up only is minimum fee ............................. $40.00 

         Transfer fee ......................................................... $40.00

Electrical:   Contact Electrical Inspector – 

lyman.electrical.inspector@gmail.com 

Septic 

New system ................................................... $312.50 

Surcharge on full systems only....................... $ 15.00 

Replacement field .......................................... $187.50 

Non-engineered replacement tank ................ $187.50 

Added component ........................................... $30.00 

Minimum Fee ................................................... $40.00 

Variance (on new systems only)...................... $20.00 

Land Use Fees 

Shoreland Tree Removal  .................. $15.00 per tree 

Home Occupation including Medical 

Marijuana............................................ $250.00 

Bi-annual Gravel Pit Inspection ..................... $175.00 

Site Review Application……………………….$350.00 

Best Practical Location .................................. $350.00 

Subdivision Application Fees ......................................  

Preliminary ................................................ $350.00 

Plus $250 per lot 

Final .......................................................... $350.00 

Plus $250 per lot 

Revision .................................................... $250.00 

       Private Way application/review………………$200.00 

Zoning Board of Appeals ............................... $350.00 

 ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 __________________________ ---------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------- 

Jessica Picard (Chair) Victoria Gavel (Vice Chair) David Alves 

 __________________________ ---------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------- 

Amber Swett Joseph Wagner Effective Date 

(Last document should have reflected the changes 
highlighted above.)

ITEM #3: (d.) CEO Fee Schedule

mailto:ceo@lyman-me.gov
mailto:lyman.electrical.inspector@gmail.com


ITEM #4: (a.) GMFR Report









ITEM #4: (b.) Expense Summary

























TOWN OF LYMAN

 Personnel 

Policy Handbook

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (b.) Personnel Policy Amendments 



DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Personnel Policy Handbook 

Table of Contents 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

1.1: Introduction and Purpose .......................................................................................1 

1.2: Mission Statement ............................................................................................................. 1 

1.3: Municipal Code of Ethics ................................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 2: EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY 

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment ............................................................................2 

2:2: Americans with Disabilities Act ............................................................................3 

2.3: Pregnancy Worker’s Fairness Act .........................................................................3 

2.4: Process for sections 2.2 and 2.3 .............................................................................3 

2.5: Religious Accommodations ...................................................................................4 

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance ...............................................................................5 

SECTION 3: NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT 

3.1: Non-Bullying  ........................................................................................................5 

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment ......................................................................6 

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination  ......................................................................................8 

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence ..........................................................................8 

3.5: Complaint Procedure .............................................................................................9 

3.6: Whistle Blower’s Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation .....................................9 

SECTION 4: RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 

4.1: Recruitment Process ............................................................................................10 

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance ....................................................................11 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

4.3: Employee Classification ......................................................................................12 

4.4: Job Descriptions ..................................................................................................14 

4.5: New Employee Onboarding ................................................................................15 

4.6: Probation ..............................................................................................................15 

4.7: Promotion ............................................................................................................16 

4.8: Performance Evaluation ......................................................................................16 

4.9: Training ...............................................................................................................17 

4.10: Compensation ....................................................................................................17 

4.11: Personnel File ....................................................................................................18 

4.12: Resignation ........................................................................................................18 

4.13: Layoffs ...............................................................................................................19 

SECTION 5: DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

5.1: Discipline .............................................................................................................19 

5.2: Grievance Procedure ............................................................................................21 

SECTION 6: WORKPLACE GUIDELINES 

6.1: Employee Conduct and Public Relations ............................................................23 

6.2: Professional Appearance .....................................................................................25 

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality .................................................................................25 

6.4: Confidentiality .....................................................................................................26 

6.5: Outside Employment ...........................................................................................26 

6.6: Political Activity ..................................................................................................26 

6.7: Conflict of Interest ...............................................................................................27 

6.8: Solicitation ...........................................................................................................27 

6.9: Town Equipment and Materials, and Facilities ...................................................28 

6.10: Cell Phone Use ..................................................................................................29 

6.11: Workplace Safety ..............................................................................................29 

6.12: Social Media  .....................................................................................................30 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use  ..........................................................................30 

6.14: Purchasing Procedure  .......................................................................................30 

6.15: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings ....................................................30 

6.16: Drug and Alcohol  .............................................................................................31 

6.17: Smoking .............................................................................................................31 

SECTION 7: PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES 

7.1: Payroll ..................................................................................................................32 

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock ................................................................................32 

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees ..................................................33 

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote Work)  ......................................................33 

7.5: Pay at Separation .................................................................................................34 

SECTION 8: BENEFITS 

8.1: Health and Life Insurance ....................................................................................35 

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance ................................................................................36 

8.3: Domestic Partner Coverage .................................................................................36 

8.4: Income Protection Plan (IPP) ..............................................................................37 

8.5: Retirement ...........................................................................................................37 

8.6: Open Enrollment  .................................................................................................38 

8.7: Worker’s Compensation ......................................................................................38 

8.8: Unemployment ....................................................................................................38 

8.9: Holidays ...............................................................................................................39 

8.10: Paid Time Off (PTO) .........................................................................................39 

8.11: Employee Recognition Program ........................................................................41 

SECTION 9: EMPLOYEE LEAVE 

9.1: Personal days .......................................................................................................42 

9.2: Earned Paid Leave (EPL) ....................................................................................42 

9.3: Leave for Victims of Domestic Abuse ................................................................43 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

9.4: Military Leave .....................................................................................................44 

9.5: Family Medical Leave .........................................................................................44 

9.6: Maine Family Medical Leave ..............................................................................47 

9.7: Paid Family Medical Leave .................................................................................47 

9.8: Parental Leave .....................................................................................................48 

9.9: Bereavement ........................................................................................................48 

9.10: Jury Duty ...........................................................................................................49 

9.11: Life Threatening Illness .....................................................................................49 

SECTION 10: REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES 

10.1: Mileage Compensation  .....................................................................................49 

10.2: Meals, Lodging, and Other Travel Expenses ....................................................50 

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls ......................................................................................51 

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure .................................................................................51 

SECTION 11: MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy ..........................................................................51 

11.2: Severability ........................................................................................................52 

11.3: Amendment .......................................................................................................52 

11.4: Definitions .........................................................................................................52 

APPENDECIES 

Municipal Code of Ethics ...........................................................................................54 

Communications & Social Media Policy ...................................................................61 

Technology – Acceptable Use Policy .........................................................................65 

Municipal Purchasing Policy ......................................................................................74 

Policy Governing Access to Public Records ..............................................................80 

Grant Application & Management Policy ..................................................................84 DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 1 

SECTION 1: 

 INTRODUCTION

1.1: Introduction and Purpose 

Starting a new job is exciting, but at times can be overwhelming. This Personnel Policies and 

Procedures Handbook has been developed to help you get acquainted and answer many of your 

initial questions.  

As an employee of the Town of Lyman, the importance of your contribution cannot be 

overstated. Our goal is to provide residents with the finest and most efficient service possible. 

You are an integral part of this process.  

This Personnel Policy Handbook is a resource to help you understand our organizational needs 

and expectations. Our business make up is service and we will strive to ensure we continue to 

provide citizens of Lyman with excellent services in the most efficient and effective manner 

possible. For this reason, it is important all persons conducting business on behalf of the Town, 

whether of an employee, board, committee, or volunteer status are expected to adhere to all 

Town policies and procedures.  

This handbook includes policies and procedures for employee hiring and advancement, fringe 

benefits, retirement, employee leave policies, discipline and grievance processes, performance 

management, and other related policies. The policies in this handbook apply to all employees. 

These policies and procedures are not intended to and do not constitute a binding employment 

contract with any individual or group of employees. These policies and procedures are developed 

to provide reasonable assurances that all rights and benefits of employees and applicants for 

employment are protected and respected.  

The rules, regulations, policies, and procedures in this handbook constitute the Town’s Personnel 

Policy Handbook and they have been adopted for information and guidance and for use by the 

Town of Lyman Select Board, Town Manager (or Designee), Supervisor/Department Head, and 

Employees of the Town. The Town Manager (or Designee) is responsible for the administration 

of the provisions of this handbook and has the authority to take appropriate action in dealing with 

cases of violations of it.  

In implementing this handbook, the Supervisor/Department Head of the Elements of Town 

Government, with approval of the Town Manager (or Designee), are authorized to generate and 

implement departmental rules and regulations supplemental to the policies in this manual. Such 

rules and regulations bear the same authority as the policies in this handbook.  

1.2: Mission Statement 

The Town of Lyman partners with our community members to deliver superior services in the 

most effective manner possible. We respect members of the public, each other, and treat all with 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 2 

courtesy and dignity. We rely on teamwork to provide a seamless experience for all customers. 

We uphold high standards in our personal, professional, and organizational conduct. We 

continuously strive to meet the needs of our residents through available resources by being 

flexible and promoting the use of innovation. We accept responsibility for our personal and 

organizational decisions and actions. We openly communicate with the public and each other by 

sharing information.  

Our Expectations of Excellent Services 

• Listening to your customers and team members

• Responsiveness

• Effective communications

• Taking ownership

• Creating a positive, helpful, friendly environment

• Teamwork

• Going above and beyond to help customer with their needs

1.3: Municipal Code of Ethics 

The Municipal Code of Ethics applies to all Town officials whether elected, appointed, 

volunteering, or an employee of the Town. It is the responsibility of all employees to review and 

become familiar with the ethics policy and abide by it. Refer to policy labelled “Municipal Code 

of Ethics”. 

SECTION 2:  

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY 

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment 

The Town is committed to a policy of equal employment opportunity to all persons based on 

individual merit, competence, and need. As an Equal Opportunity Employer, the Town of Lyman 

shall employ, upgrade, and promote the best qualified candidates who fit the mission statement 

of the Town and who are available at the salary level established for the position, without 

discrimination as to race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation 

(including gender identity and expression), national origin or ancestry, marital status, genetic 

information, protected veteran or military status, color, pregnancy, familial status, political 

affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 3 

This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including hiring, placement, 

promotion, termination, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation, benefits, and 

training.  

2.2: Americans With Disabilities Act 

The Town is committed to complying with all applicable provisions of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, It is the Town’s policy not to discriminate against 

any qualified employee or applicant with regard to any terms or conditions of employment 

because of such individual’s disability or perceived disability so long as the employee can 

perform the essential functions of the job.  

Consistent with this policy of nondiscrimination, the Town will provide reasonable 

accommodations to a qualified individual with a disability, as defined by the ADA, who has 

made the Town aware of his or her disability, provided that such accommodation does not 

constitute an undue hardship on the Town.  

The Town encourages individuals with disabilities to come forward and request reasonable 

accommodation. Employees with a disability who believe they need reasonable accommodation 

to perform the essential functions of their job should notify their Supervisor/ Department Head 

and Town Manager (or designee) as outlined in 2.4 of this section. The Town will maintain all 

medical information in a confidential manner in accordance with the ADA.  

2.3: Pregnancy Worker’s Fairness Act 

The Town does not discriminate based on pregnancy or related conditions, including lactation 

and the need to express breast milk for a nursing child. The Town also does not discriminate 

based on sex, which can include pregnancy, childbirth, and the need for maternity leave.   

2.4: Process for Sections 2.2 and 2.3 

Employees who have mental or physical disabilities, or pregnancy related medical conditions 

which may impact their ability to perform the essential functions of their job, shall notify their 

Supervisor/Department Head and the Town Manager (or Designee) in writing to request an 

accommodation. Once a request has been made, the employee, Supervisor/Department Head and 

Town Manager (or Designee) will begin the following steps: 

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) meet to

discuss potential accommodation.

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee)

review the essential functions of the job. It may be necessary to provide a job

description or list of essential functions to the employee’s medical provider to confirm

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 4 

the disability and the need for the accommodation. 

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will

review options for potential accommodation and will work together to come up with

ideas that are reasonable and that do not create an undue hardship for the employer

(Town).

• In the event that a reasonable accommodation is determined, it will be documented

and placed in the employee’s medical file.

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will

continue to monitor the need for the accommodation to ensure there are not any issues

or concerns by either party.

• If the employee rejects the proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal

following the Town’s grievance policy and procedure.

Any individual with a disability who believes he or she have been subject to 

discrimination based on disability may discuss the complaint with the Town Manager (or 

Designee). It is unlawful for the Town, its employees, contractors, or grantees to retaliate 

against anyone who files a grievance or cooperates in the investigation of a grievance. 

2.5: Religious Accommodations 

The Town of Lyman respects the religious beliefs and practices of all employees and will make, 

on request, accommodation for such observances when a reasonable accommodation is available 

that does not create undue hardship for the Town.  

An employee whose religious beliefs or practices conflicts with their job, work schedule, or other 

aspects of employment, and who seeks a religious accommodation must submit a written request 

for the accommodation to their immediate Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or 

Designee). The written request will include the type of religious conflict that exists and the 

employee’s recommendation of accommodation.  

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (Or Designee) will review the request and 

consider whether a conflict exists due to a sincerely held religious belief or practice and whether 

an accommodation is available that is reasonable and that would not create an undue hardship on 

the Town.  

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the employee 

and discuss the merits of the accommodation and conclusion of a decision. If the employee 

accepts the proposed religious accommodation, the Supervisor/ Department Head and Town 

Manager (or Designee) will implement the decision agreed upon. If the employee rejects the 

proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal following the Town’s grievance policy and 

procedure.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 5 

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance 

The Town only employs United States citizens and Non United States citizens authorized to 

work in the United States. In compliance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1968, 

it is against Town policy to discriminate in any aspect of employment of a person authorized to 

work in the United States based on the person’s national origin, citizenship, or intent to become a 

U.S. citizen. In accordance with federal law, every prospective employee is required to provide 

verification attesting that he or she is legally employable in the United States. The Town retains 

copies of these documents submitted/signed by an employee. To the extent practical and 

appropriate, these documents will be kept confidential. However, on request, the Town is 

required to provide copies of these documents to any applicable state or federal departments. 

Providing false documentation or making any false statement related to this verification shall be 

grounds for immediate discharge. And, if during the course of employment, the Town requests 

further information relating to an employee’s authorization to work in the United Staes, the 

employee must furnish the information requested. Failure to cooperate in providing such 

information shall be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.  

SECTION 3:  

NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT 

3.1: Non-Bullying 

The Town will not tolerate any instance of bullying behavior. Employees found in violation of 

this policy will be disciplined up to and including termination.  

The Town defines bullying as repeated inappropriate behavior, either verbal, physical, or 

otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others at the place of work or in 

the course of employment. Employees have the right not to be bullied, harassed, or victimized 

and have the right to work in a safe environment free from hostility.  

Examples of bullying include the following types of behavior: 

Physical Bullying: Pushing, shoving, hitting, poking, tripping, assault or threat of physical 

assault; damage to a person’s work area or property. 

Verbal Bullying: Making abusive or offensive remarks; persistent name calling that is hurtful, 

insulting, or humiliating; making defamatory statements, slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a 

person or the persons family; using the person as the butt of a joke.  

Gesture Bullying: Non-verbal threatening body language or gestures. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 6 

Exclusion: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-related activities. 

Bullying may be intentional or unintentional. However, when an allegation of bullying is made, 

the intention of the alleged bully is irrelevant and will not be given consideration during 

disciplinary decisions. It is the effect of the behavior on the individual that is important. 

Additionally, the following examples may constitute or contribute to evidence of bullying in the 

workplace: 

• Shouting or raising voice at an individual in public or in private.

• Making threats of harm or intimidation whether verbal, non-verbal, or in writing.

• Persistent singling out of an individual

• Spreading rumor and gossip regarding individuals.

• Making verbal remarks or obscene gestures.

• Public humiliation in any form.

• Constant criticism of matters unrelated or minimally related to the person’s job

performance or job description.

• Blocking, cornering, or crowding a person to cause intimidation.

• Personal insults and use of offensive slander.

• Ignoring or interrupting an individual in meetings

• Public reprimands

• Encouraging others to disregard a supervisor’s or designee’s instructions.

Bullying is NOT: Expressing differences of opinions; offering constructive feedback, guidance, 

or advice about work-related behavior; or reasonable action taken by an employer or supervisor 

relating to the management and direction of employees or place of employment (i.e. managing an 

employee’s performance, taking reasonable disciplinary actions, assigning work). 

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment 

The Town of Lyman is committed to maintaining a work environment free from all forms of 

harassment and intimidation. Harassment is prohibited in connection with any employee activity 

including, but not limited to, relations with other employees, supervisors, prospective employees, 

clients, vendors, elected officials, appointees, or members of the public. Reports of harassment 

will be promptly investigated. Employees found in violation of this policy will be disciplined up 

to and including termination. 

The Town expects that all relationships among persons in the work environment will be 

professional and conduct themselves in a business-like manner. The Town strictly prohibits and 

does not tolerate any type of harassment, sexual, or otherwise in the form of unwelcomed or 

unwarranted verbal, physical, or visual conduct of its employees based on the protected 

characteristics of race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 7 

(including gender identity and expression), national origin, genetic pre-disposition, color, 

political affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.  

Definitions of Sexual Harassment: 

Sexual Harassment: Unwelcomed and inappropriate sexual remarks, gestures, visual displays, or 

physical advances in the workplace or other professional situation.  

Quid Pro Quo: Harassment that occurs when submission or rejection of such conduct is used as 

the basis for employment decisions affecting an individual, such as promotions in exchange for 

sexual favors, or an unfavorable change of duties in response to rejected sexual advances.  

Hostile Work Environment: Unwelcomed sexual conduct which creates an intimidating, hostile, 

or offensive work environment, or interferes with an individual’s work performance. Conduct 

which is not sexual in nature may still create a sexually hostile work environment if it is based on 

the victim’s gender. Such instances may include physical or verbal abuse based on gender, 

exclusion or isolation of the individual, or tampering with belongings.  

Definitions of Harassment: 

Behavior which is offensive and intrusive creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, or 

humiliating environment towards an individual because of their race, religion, age, sex, color, 

gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, national origin, disability, marital status, 

citizenship, genetic information, or any other characteristic protected by law.  

Sexual and other types of harassment may take many forms. Such forms may include, but are not 

limited to: 

• Unwelcome sexual advances, gestures, comments, or contact.

• Offensive material including sexually explicit cartoons, pictures, drawings, videos,

objects, or other communications including email, internet programs, blogs, or websites.

• Offensive or sexual jokes.

• Pinching, grabbing, sexual assault, or any physical contact of a sexual nature.

• Threats.

• Subjecting employees to ridicule, slurs, or derogatory actions.

• Basing employment decisions or practices on submission to such harassment

• Deliberate blocking of a person’s path

• Non-verbal sexual behavior, such as staring or leering at a person’s body.

• Use of derogatory stereotypes.

• Refusal to cooperate with employees in performing work-related tasks.

Unwelcome harassment of any kind need not occur in the workplace to be unlawful if the 

harassment activity creates a hostile or offensive work environment, the activity may constitute 

actionable harassment regardless of where it occurs.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 8 

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination 

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 prevents discrimination in the workplace. Any discrimination 

based on a protected class is illegal with regard to race, religion, national, social, or ethnic 

origins, sex (including pregnancy). Age (over 40, physical, mental, or sensory disability. Sexual 

orientation, gender identity or expression, marital status, past or present military service, genetic 

information, familial status, whistleblower activity, and any other status protected by state and 

federal law. All such complaints will be addressed and if necessary, appropriate action will be 

taken.  

Employees should report any discrimination immediately to their Supervisor/Department Head 

and Town Manager (or Designee) and are protected from retaliation in any form. All complaints 

of retaliation will be investigated promptly, and remedial action will be taken.  

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence 

It is vitally important to the Town to protect the safety and security of employees and the public 

who conduct business in municipal buildings/facilities. Any threats, threatening behavior, or acts 

of violence against employees, visitors, guests, or other individuals by anyone on Town property 

will not be tolerated. Violations of this policy will lead to disciplinary action up to and including 

termination, and if otherwise necessary, arrest and/or prosecution.  

Any person who makes substantial threats, exhibits threatening behavior, or engages in violent 

acts on Town Property shall be requested to leave immediately, and if warranted removed by law 

enforcement. The Town will investigate reported incidents and initiate an appropriate response, 

which may include, but is not limited to, suspension and/or termination of employment, and/or 

criminal prosecution of the person or persons involved.  

Employees are responsible for making a report regardless of the relationship between the 

individual who initiated the threat or threatening behavior. Even without an actual threat any 

behavior an employee has witnessed that they regard is job related or may be carried out on 

Town-owned property or is connected to Town employment should be reported. Employees shall 

file a report of the incident as soon they are reasonably able to and direct reports to the Town 

Manager (or Designee). Reports shall include specific details of an event to be investigated. The 

report shall include such information as: 

• Name of the individual making the threat or engaging in violent acts

• Relationship to organization and/or recipient

• Name of other persons involved including witnesses and victims.

• A brief description of the event including antecedents leading up to the incident.

• Any specific threats or language and/or physical acts of the incident

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 9 

The Town of Lyman recognizes the sensitivity of the information and will exercise all 

procedures in a confidential manner and respect the privacy of reporting employees and any 

victims involved.  

3.5: Complaint Procedure 

The Town of Lyman respects employees’ rights to a safe and professional work environment. An 

employee, whether being the recipient of bullying, harassment, sexual harassment, or 

discrimination, is witness to, or otherwise becomes aware of such misconduct that is prohibited 

by this policy is encouraged to file a report.  

Internal complaints may be filed by contacting the Supervisor/Department Head and Town 

Manager (or Designee). It is the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to respond to 

complaints promptly, evaluate appropriate corrective action, and maintain confidentiality of all 

parties involved. Corrective action is required regardless of whether a complaint is made, or the 

conduct appears to be unwelcome. Even if the person providing information requests that no 

action be taken, the Town Manager (or Designee) must engage to actively prevent or stop 

inappropriate, unprofessional conduct in the workplace. 

The Town will not tolerate discrimination, bullying, or harassment of any kind. Every effort will 

be made to resolve the complaint at the lowest level possible. If an investigation is warranted, it 

will be conducted promptly and with confidentiality, respecting the rights of the parties involved. 

All employees, as well as any municipal officials named or alleged in a complaint, are required 

to cooperate fully in any investigation of alleged discrimination, bullying or harassment. Any 

report of alleged misconduct that is made in a knowingly false or frivolous manner is prohibited, 

will not be tolerated, and will be appropriately addressed should it occur, including possible 

disciplinary action.  

If an employee believes they are being harassed or discriminated against, they have the right to 

file a complaint with the Human Rights Commission (MHRC) within six months of the unlawful 

act or unlawful discrimination. To file a charge or obtain more information on the procedure, 

contact the Commission at (207)-624-6290 or by mail at: Human Rights Commission 51 State 

Street Augusta, ME 04333-0051 

3.6: Whistle Blower’s Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation 

The Town of Lyman complies with State and Federal laws of the Whistle Blowers Protection 

Act (WPA) and encourages its employees to report illegal, unethical or violation of Town 

policies and procedures by municipal officers, or employees and protects Town employees who 

report improper government actions. Any employee who is aware of a violation of the law, or 

condition or practice that risks any person’s health and/or safety, is required to immediately 

report the circumstances to the Town Manager (or Designee). Employees must provide 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 10 

information about the issue and allow a reasonable time for it to be corrected. The employee will 

be requested to provide a detailed report in writing. The Town Manager (or Designee) will 

investigate the report promptly and act in a timely manner to take any necessary remedial action. 

Employees who report any violations are protected from retaliation from all other employes and 

supervisors. Violations of this policy may result in appropriate disciplinary action up to and 

including termination.  

SECTION 4:  

RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 

4.1: Recruitment Process 

It is the Town Manager’s (or Designee) duty to hire and appoint all employees of the Town 

pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Municipal Charter. The Town Manager’s office coordinates and 

oversees the recruitment, interview, and selection process. Within the limits of time in which a 

position is filled, there shall be as wide a search for qualified candidates as is practicable. The 

character of this search will vary from position to position but shall consist of an internal posting 

in Town departments, and may include external advertising, open competitive examination, 

contact with State and other employment offices, contact with special sources of information, or 

any combination. It shall be the duty of the Town Manager (or Designee) to seek out the most 

qualified employees for the Town based on relative knowledge, skills, abilities, overall 

performance and ability to aptly suit the Town’s Mission Statement. It is the Town Manager’s 

(or Designee) duty to keep the Board apprised of all vacancies and the status of filling those 

vacancies.  

Municipal Officials may select deputies as authorized by State law, however, appointment of 

deputies must be approved by the Town Manager (Section 4.3 (c) of the Municipal Charter). 

The recruitment process of the Town Manager is the responsibility of the Select Board as 

outlined in Article 4.1 of the Municipal Charter. 

Employment Applications: All candidates are required to complete a Town of Lyman 

employment application regardless of whether supporting documentation is provided. 

Applications for employment shall be submitted on forms provided by the Town. Applications 

are only accepted for positions in which a posted vacancy exists.  

Conditional Offer of Employment: The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) coordinates all 

conditional offers of employment. Conditional offers of employment are approved by the Town 

Manager (or Designee) and provided to the candidate in writing. The conditional offer of 

employment outlines the specific and applicable requirements, based on the nature of the job, 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 11 

which must be met in order for the person to be hired. Examples of conditions of hire may 

include the applicant’s ability to pass a criminal records check or any other lawful pre-

employment screenings. The cost of any conditions of employment is the responsibility of the 

Town.  

Offer of Employment: Upon satisfactory completion of all conditions of employment, a written 

offer of employment is extended. After the offer of employment is signed and returned, the 

Town Manager (or Designee) will coordinate the on-boarding process with the appropriate 

Supervisor/Department Head. 

The Town is committed to providing an equitable and competitive compensation package that 

will attract and retain well-qualified employees.  

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance 

The Town of Lyman wants to ensure that employment practices do not create conflicts of interest 

or favoritism based on employment of relatives. This extends to practices that involve employee 

hiring, promotion, advancement, and transfer.  

The employment of relatives in an organization may present a perceived or actual conflict of 

interest such as favoritism, personal conflicts, and potential conflicts from outside the work 

environment that are carried into the workplace.  

For the purpose of this policy, a relative is defined as someone with whom there has been or is a 

significant personal relations, including, but not limited to, a spouse, domestic partner, cohabiter 

(romantic partner/significant other), parent, child, sibling, sibling in-law, parent in-law, 

grandparent, aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew who is related by blood, marriage, adoption or some 

other relationship, as further defined below: 

Blood Relative: Someone who is related to you by birth rather than marriage or another 

relationship.  

Spouse: A legally married person 

Domestic Partnership: Legal declaration per public law 2003, c.672. Two unmarried adults who 

are domiciled together under long-term arrangements that evidence a commitment to remain 

responsible indefinitely for each other’s welfare.  

Cohabiter: To live together as if married, usually without legal sanction. 

This policy applies to all current employees and candidates for employment. DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 12  
 

To that end,  

• Relatives of those currently employed by the Town may be hired only if they will not be 

working directly for or supervising a relative. Under circumstances where there may be a 

conflict with this provision the Town Manager (or Designee) shall review such special 

circumstances and may waive such provision on a temporary basis. 

• Current employees may not be promoted, advanced, or transferred into a position where 

they will be working directly for or supervising a relative.  

• For the purpose of this section, a direct Supervisor/Department Head is defined as 

overseeing the daily performance of the employee and has the authority to recommend or 

exercise discipline, promotion, and rewards. 

Workplace Romance 

To avoid actual or potential conflicts, sexual harassment, and other adverse impacts on the work 

environment that may result from romantic and/or physical relationships within the workplace, 

the Town prohibits Supervisor/Department Head employees from becoming romantically or 

physically involved with employees directly under their supervision. In the event a 

Supervisor/Department Head develops a personal relationship with a subordinate in the course of 

employment with the Town, those employees shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or 

designee) who will take further action as necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. 

Supervisor/Department Head employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary 

action. In the event that coworkers, neither of whom are in a supervisory role with one another, 

develop a personal relationship in the course of employment with the Town, the employees shall 

immediately report to the Town Manager (or designee).  

4.3: Employee Classification 

The Fair Labor Standards Act requires the classification of all employees according to the 

overtime provisions of the law. For purposes of paying any compensation, all employees are 

either “Exempt” or “Non-Exempt” from overtime compensation. All determinations of wage 

classification status are made through the job evaluation process. The Town Manager (or 

designee) is responsible for classifying all employees.  

Exempt Employees: Are generally executives, managers, professionals, Department Heads, 

administrative or outside of sales staff who are exempt from minimum wage and overtime 

provisions of the FLSA. Exempt employees hold jobs that meet the standards and criteria 

established under the FLSA by the US Department of Labor. 

Non-Exempt Employees: Are employees whose work is covered by the FLSA. They are not 

exempt from the law’s requirement concerning minimum wage and overtime. 
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 13 

Employee Classification: It is the intent of the town to clarify the definitions of employment 

classifications so that employees understand their employment status and benefits eligibility. 

These classifications do not guarantee employment for any specified period of time. 

Employees of the following classifications are subject to all personnel policy rules and 

regulations, except where specifically excluded. 

A. REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE: A regular full-time position is year-round in

nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work no less than 32 hours

per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. The employee is eligible to receive all

employee benefits and rights as provided by this personnel policy.

B. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: Regular part-time position is year-round in

nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work at least 20 hours per

week but less than 32 hours per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. An

employee in this category may work more than 30 hours per week sporadically for a

short duration under certain circumstances but may not work more than 130 hours in

a 4-week period. Regular part-time employees who work 20 or more hours per week

on a continual and indefinite basis are eligible to receive Earned Paid Leave (EPL),

the Town’s 457 (b) Retirement Plan per section 8.4, and paid holidays but only if the

holiday falls on a day that the employee is regularly scheduled to work.

C. VARIABLE HOUR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category does

not work a consistent schedule from week to week but is generally actively employed

on a year-round basis. The employee usually works under 20 hours per week but may

work over 20 hours per week sporadically and on occasion due to the nature of the

work. Variable hour part-time employees are not eligible for Town benefits except

those mandated by State or Federal law, nor do they accrue Paid Time Off (PTO), or

received holiday pay. An example of variable hour part-time employees are: Planning

Board members, Zoning Board of Appeals.

D. TEMPORARY SEASONAL EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a

standard work week or less on a regular basis but for a limited period of time, usually

not to exceed six months. Temporary employees are paid for hours worked and

receive no other benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of

temporary seasonal employees are: Summer laborers and Summer Camp Counselors.

E. PER DIEM EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a variable and flexible

schedule. Work hours vary from week to week depending on the department’s needs

and the availability of the employee. An employee of this type is not eligible for

Town benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of per diem

employees are: Election/Ballot Clerks.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 14  
 

Volunteers and Elected Officials 

All volunteers and elected officials are expected to adhere to the Municipal Code of Ethics and 

the Town’s Acceptable Use policy. While some appointees to boards, committees, and 

commissions may fall under an employee classification of this policy, all Board, Committee, and 

Commission members are expected to follow guidelines, procedures, and policies described in 

the Town’s Boards and Committee Handbook in addition to all Town policies and procedures.  

A. APPOINTEES TO BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS: People 

appointed to serve in positions on Boards, Committees, or Commissions where there is 

no compensation are not employees but volunteers providing service to the Lyman 

community. Recruitment of appointees to boards, committees, and commissions, whether 

classified as an employee or as a volunteer, is as outlined in the Recruitment and 

Appointment of Volunteers Policy and in accordance with Municipal Charter Section 

5.1.2.  

 

B. TOWN SELECT BOARD: Members of the Town Select Board are officers of the 

municipal corporation and are not considered employees. Members of the Select Board 

are eligible for compensation as established by the Municipal Charter (Section 3.2). 

 

C. ELECTED OFFICIALS: All other Elected Official are not considered employees and are 

exempt from the personnel policy handbook and any benefits allotted herein. However, 

any elected official is strongly encouraged to adhere to anti-discrimination, harassment, 

non-bullying, workplace violence and other policies related to Town-owned assets, 

workplace conduct, and treatment of employees. The Town may take any necessary 

action against an elected official who violates any Town policy. 

4.4: Job Descriptions 

The Town Manager (or Designee) maintains job descriptions for all positions. Job descriptions 

are utilized in all postings and advertisements for job openings.  

Job descriptions will contain the following information: 

• Position details Title, department, exempt or non-exempt status, classification.  

• Supervision received and exercised.   

• Essential duties and responsibilities.  

• Peripheral or Special duties (if applicable) 

• Education and experience qualifications 

• Knowledge, skills, and abilities qualifications.  

• Physical requirements and work environment. 
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 15  
 

The Town Manager (Or Designee) will review job descriptions at least on an annual basis during 

the performance evaluation process and determine modifications.  For employee positions that 

are under the supervision of a Supervisor/Department Head, the Town Manager (or Designee) 

may solicit recommendations from the Supervisor/Department Head. The Town Manager (or 

Designee) has final approval of all changes and revisions to job descriptions. The Select Board 

has final approval on all changes and revisions to the Town Manager’s job description.  

4.5: New Employee Onboarding  

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) will oversee and coordinate with the employee to 

provide onboarding materials such as: 

• Review of Personnel Policies and Procedures, including all other policies outside of this 

policy handbook that are herein referenced under relevant sections.   

• Review of employee’s job description 

• Review of Municipal Code of Ethics 

• Review of the Town’s Acceptable Use Policy 

• Review of employee benefits and applications, tax withholding and I-9 forms 

• Review of building access, security codes, and keys.  

• Review of training programs available and applicable to the employee’s position.  

• Review of probationary period 

4.6: Probation 

All Regular Full-Time and Part-Time employees are considered probationary employees for the 

first six (6) months of employment unless otherwise provided for by law. During the 

probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) shall 

conduct an evaluation at or before the completion of six months of employment. The purpose of 

the probationary period is for the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) 

to observe an employee’s work habits, skills, attitudes, competency, and other pertinent 

characteristics for successful job performance. Any Regular Full-Time or Part-Time employee 

who receives a promotion or transfer may be required to serve another probationary period. The 

probationary period shall be considered an extension of the selection process.  

During the probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head may recommend to the Town 

Manager (or Designee) that an employee be removed if unable or unwilling to perform the duties 

of the position satisfactorily or whose work habits and dependability did not merit the 

continuance of services. Such removal will not be subject to review or appeal.  

At the time of hiring, transfer, or promotion, the employee shall be advised of the probationary 

period.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 16 

Performance Appraisal Process for Probationary Employees During the probationary period, 

employees shall receive written evaluation(s) at two months, four months, and six months of 

their employment (or any combination thereof as necessary). The Town Manager (or Designee) 

will review the evaluations. If applicable the Supervisor/Department Head will give a 

recommendation to the Town Manager (or Designee) regarding continuance of employment. The 

Town Manager (or Designee) shall conduct reviews of Department Head employees.  

4.7: Promotion 

Town employees shall be given the opportunity for advancement. Employees shall be given first 

consideration in filling a vacancy when qualified employees express an interest in the vacancy. 

Upon approval by the Town Manager (or Designee), an existing employee may fill a vacant 

position without posting the position for external advertising. Employees may not be promoted to 

a new position without loss of seniority, pay, or job grade to a vacant position. The Town 

Manager (or Designee) may authorize reclassifications and/or job title changes when appropriate 

outside of the normal selection process.  

Current employees may be given training opportunities to qualify for promotions. However, 

based on qualifications, experience, and abilities required for the position, the vacancy may be 

filled by an outside applicant. Such a decision shall be made only after careful review of the 

qualifications of all Town employees who apply for the position.  

4.8: Performance Evaluations 

The Supervisor/Department Head shall be responsible for the implementation of employee 

performance evaluations. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall evaluate the performance of 

Supervisor/Department Heads.  

The annual evaluation period is January 1 through December 31. Regular full-time and part-time 

employees are evaluated on an annual basis. The performance evaluation shall include a goal 

setting process for the upcoming calendar year. Employee evaluations must be signed by the 

employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or designee). An employee may 

attach a written statement within ten (10) calendar days after any evaluation given to be included 

in their personnel file.  

Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should provide frequent 

and periodic feedback to the employee on job performance. To assist employees in improving 

their job performance, various tools such as training and implementing performance 

improvement plans may be utilized.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 17  
 

All job-related employee performance evaluations are strictly confidential and shall only be 

between the Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manager (or Designee) and the employee. 

Unless in the event that disciplinary action and/or complaints are at the level of the Select Board 

and/or Fair Hearing Board, only then, will the Select Board and/or Fair Hearing Board have 

access to the employee’s performance evaluations. Only individuals who have a job-related 

interest in reviewing an employee’s performance evaluation shall have access to the document. 

(i.e. Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manager (or Designee)). 

4.9: Training 

Both the Town and its employees benefit from training opportunities reasonably related to the 

employee’s current position. The outcome of training opportunities is to improve the quality of 

an employee’s job performance, which in turn results in more efficient and effective operations. 

It shall be the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to provide Town employees 

with reasonable opportunities for in-service training and attendance at conferences.  

Prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) is required 

for the course/conference fee and any accommodation reasonably necessary. The approval is 

subject to available and approved funds in the budget, the relationship of the employee’s position 

and training must be in the best interest of the Town. The Town Manager (or Designee) and 

Supervisor/Department Head shall authorize employee attendance at out-of-state conferences 

based on available funds and conditions determined by the Town Manager (or Designee).   

4.10: Compensation 

PAY DATES:  Employees are paid bi-weekly, with the pay week from Thursday through 

Wednesday. Deductions are taken out each pay period, with insurance premiums deducted based 

on a two-pay month. Also see section 8.1 for more information on deductions.  

PAY RANGES: The Town Manager (or Designee) will prepare pay ranges for all employees in 

accordance with the approved budget. Each pay range will reflect knowledge, skills, abilities, 

and responsibilities and shall be related to compensation for comparable positions in other public 

and private employment. Individual rate changes or re-assignments must be approved by the 

Town Manager (or Designee) and signed by the employee. The Town Manager will advise the 

Board as needed and submit an updated list of pay rates/ranges to the Board as part of the annual 

budget process.  

OVERTIME: Any time actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one work week shall be 

compensated by overtime pay at a rate of time and one-half, with the exception of Exempt 

Employees.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 18  
 

ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT: Any salary or wage adjustment based on the Cost of Living 

Adjustment (COLA) will commence on July 1 of each respective year in accordance with the 

approved municipal budget. The Town Manager (or Designee) may recommend a COLA 

adjustment to the Board, subject to voter approval, taking into consideration the Town’s staffing 

patterns, the relevant labor market, the rate of inflation, and adjustments to compensation 

packages. Due to budget constraints, economic downturns, or other circumstances and events, 

the Town Manager (or Designee) may choose not to recommend a COLA adjustment, nor 

guarantee that levels will remain the same. COLA is not a guaranteed rate and may be changed 

from the Town Manager’s (or Designee) recommendation through the Budget process.  

PERFORMANCE BASED MERIT PROGRAM: The Town Manager (or Designee) may each 

year at his or her discretion establish a performance-based merit program in order to recognize 

the positive performance of employees. The program will be dependent on available funding.  

4.11: Personnel File 

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) is responsible for maintaining a centralized personnel 

file for all employees. Supervisors/Department Heads are required to provide the Town 

Manager’s office (or Designee) personnel paperwork provided by an employee. Access to an 

employee’s personnel file is limited to the employee, the Town Manager (or Designee), Legal 

Counsel, and other persons determined to have a legitimate need to know.  

Employees may review their personnel file by forwarding a written request to the Town 

Manager’s office (or Designee). Personnel files may not be removed from Town Property and 

are reviewed by the employee in the presence of the Town Manager (or designee). Upon written 

request, employees shall receive one copy of their personnel file at the cost to the Town per 

annum (M.R.S.A 26:7 ss 631). If the employee wishes for an additional copy during the calendar 

year, it will be at the expense of the employee.  

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) maintains all personnel files for terminated employees 

as specified by State and Federal retention laws. Any request for information made under the 

Maine Freedom of Access Act shall be forwarded to the Town Manager (or Designee).  

4.12: Resignation 

Employees who are considering resignation  resigning from their position with the Town are 

encouraged to discuss the situation with the Town Manager (or Designee). An employee who 

chooses to resign should submit their resignation to the Town Manager (or Designee) in writing 

and provide at least ten (10) working days’ notice. The Town Manager (or Designee) will meet 

with the employee to conduct an exit interview and discuss such matters as the final paycheck 

and benefits status.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 19 

Under certain circumstances and situations, the Town Manager (or Designee) has the authority to 

accept verbal resignations. Pay at separation procedure is as outlined in section 7.5 of this 

Personnel Policy Handbook  

4.13: Layoffs 

An employee may be laid off whenever is necessary because of a shortage of funds, lack of 

work, or other related reasons, which do not reflect discredit upon the employee. Layoff 

decisions shall be based on the needed skill set in each job classification. Seniority within the 

department may be considered as appropriate.  

If the layoff is temporary in nature with the intention to re-employ an employee as soon as 

possible, coverage in Town sponsored benefits such as health, dental, and vision may continue 

for 90 days. However, retirement contributions cease until such a time when the employee 

returns to regular full-time employment.  

SECTION 5:  

DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

5.1: Discipline 

The Town shall base disciplinary actions or measures on a “just cause” basis. Under normal 

circumstances, the Town endorses a policy of progressive discipline to provide employees with 

notice of deficiencies and an opportunity to improve. All discipline, including verbal warning, 

must be documented appropriately and specify reason(s) and actions necessary for improvement. 

Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should inform the 

employee promptly and specifically of such lapses of employee conduct. The Town expects 

employees to comply with its standards of conduct and performance and to correct any 

noncompliance with these standards.  

Types of Action Outlined below are the Town’s progressive discipline procedures. The Town 

reserves the right to combine or skip steps depending on the facts of each situation and the nature 

of the offense. 

1. Verbal warning

2. Written warning

3. Suspension

4. Termination

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 20 

Verbal and Written Warnings: Identify each issue of discipline, as well as the appropriate 

corrective measures to be taken by the employee (including their time frame for completion) in 

order for the Town to consider each issue as resolved. Supervisors/Department Heads are 

responsible for communicating warnings after consultation with the Town Manager (or 

Designee). 

Suspension of Employment: Is a period of paid or unpaid leave during which the employee is 

relieved of duty and will not be permitted at the job site or act in the capacity of their duties. This 

action is taken when performance, conduct, or safety incidents necessitate a review. When 

immediate action is necessary to ensure the safety of the employee or others, the 

Supervisor/Department Head shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or Designee). All 

suspensions are subject to approval from the Town Manager (or Designee). The Town Manager 

(or Designee), may suspend an employee for up to 48 hours when immediate action is deemed 

necessary. If a suspension of longer than 48 hours is warranted, the Town Manager (or Designee) 

will promptly coordinate a hearing with the Select Board. An employee may be suspended 

without pay if their work performance or conduct justifies such action. 

Termination of employment: May be necessary in cases where corrective actions have failed to 

improve performance, obtain compliance with Town policies, and/or correct inappropriate 

conduct. Under no circumstances shall an employee be terminated without Town Manager (or 

Designee) approval. If immediate removal from the work site is necessary, the employee shall be 

suspended pending review. The Select Board shall be the final authority of the termination of an 

employee. The Town Manager (or Designee) will promptly coordinate a hearing with the Select 

Board in accordance with State law.  

This policy does not provide contractual rights regarding employee discipline or counseling, nor 

should anything in this policy be read or construed as modifying or altering the employment-at-

will relationship between the Town and its employees. Any time the Town determines it is 

necessary, such as in the case of a major breach of policy or violation of law, the Town reserves 

the right to immediately proceed to appropriate action, up to and including termination.  

Paid Administrative Leave 

When the situation warrants, the Town may consider paid administrative leave, which is a non-

disciplinary action that allows the Town to remove the employee from the workplace for reasons 

other than disciplinary issues, such as when an investigation is conducted or when there is a 

safety concern in the workplace. Notice of paid administrative leave shall provide the cause, time 

frame, and conditions for reinstatement. As previously stated, paid administrative leave is not 

considered to be in and of itself discipline.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 21  
 

Documentation  

If a disciplinary action is taken, a copy of the decision regarding the action shall be filed in the 

employee’s personnel file and a copy given to the employee. The employee will be asked to sign 

copies of this documentation attesting to his or her receipt and understanding of the corrective 

action outlined in these documents. The employee has the right to respond in writing and to have 

this response placed in the employee’s personnel file but must do so within ten (10) calendar 

days of the date of the corrective action. Any disciplinary action that is removed must also have 

the employee’s response removed at the same time. The employee may request that disciplinary 

action be removed from the personnel file: 

A. When all corrective action has been taken and a re-review of the disciplinary decision has 

shown significant improvement.  

B. The employee may request a re-review of the disciplinary decision after a period of five 

(5) years.  

C. Unless the disciplinary decision is termination, then the record(s) shall remain on file per 

State and Federal retentions laws.  

5.2: Grievance Procedure  

Grievances are disputes, claims, or complaints of issues relating to the employer-employee 

relationship. The procedures outlined below allow Town employees to receive a fair and 

unbiased review of workplace concerns. As outlined below, every effort must be made to 

reconciliate disputes at the lowest level possible before any complaint or grievance is brought to 

a higher level. The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) maintains records of grievances 

confidentially and securely. In the event of employee termination, after such termination has 

been made final by the Select Board, no grievance procedure under this policy shall apply.  

A. Informal Discussion: The employees’ concerns should first be discussed with the 

Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Many concerns can be 

resolved informally when an employee and Supervisor/Department Head meet to review 

and discuss options to address the issue. 

 

B. Written Complaint:  

I. If a grievance is not resolved after an informal discussion with the employee’s 

Supervisor/Department Head, the employee may submit a written complaint within 

five (5) working days of the incident to the Human Resources Officer Town Manager 

(or Designee) to include: 
 

• A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to 

resolve the issue.  

• Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.  

• The remedy or outcome desired. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 22 

The Human Resources Officer Town Manager (or Designee)  has five (5) working 

days to respond to the employee in writing as to either the outcome or the next 

course of action.   

II. If the grievance arises from an alleged act or omission on the part of the Town

Manager, the employee may submit a written complaint within five (5) work days to

the Finance and Human Resources Officer, who will promptly notify the HR

Liaison(s) of the Select Board. The written complaint shall include:

• A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to

resolve the issue.

• Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.

• A copy of the Town Manager’s written response.

• Detailed information regarding the employee’s dissatisfaction with the Town

Manager’s response

The HR Liaison(s) will evaluate the grievance and conduct a period of discovery to 

review any and all related details pertaining to the grievance and provide a written 

response within ten (10) work days of receipt of the appeal as to either the outcome 

or the next course of action.  

C. Written Complaint to Town Manager (or Designee) Select Board: In the event the

employee is unsatisfied with the dispute resolution of the Human Resources Officer HR

Liaison(s) the employee may file a written request, within five fifteen (15) working days

of receipt of appeal the decision of the Human Resources Officer, to the Town Manager

(or Designee) for a hearing with the Select Board. The Town Manager (or Designee) will

promptly inform the Select Board. Upon receipt of the grievance, The Select Board will

hold a hearing in executive session (unless otherwise agreed to, in writing, by all

involved parties to waive their executive session rights) at their next regularly scheduled

meeting that is no less than fifteen (15) work days and no more than twenty (20) work

days to review the grievance and issue a decision. The decision of the Select Board shall

be final. The written request must include details of the grievance as outlined below:

• A clear and concise statement of the facts giving rise to the grievance,

including date, time and place of the alleged incident, if any, relating to the

grievance, and characterizing each particular act or omission.

• A copy of any documents relating to the grievance (if any).

• A statement setting forth the remedy sought.

In the event that the decision of the Town Manager rendered pursuant to (C) above is not 

acceptable to the employee, he/she may, within five (5) working days thereafter, request the 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 23 

matter be submitted to the Select Board by notifying the Town Manager and Select Board Chair. 

Within fifteen (15) working days and no more than twenty (20) working days thereafter, the 

Select Board shall meet with the employee and Town Manager in executive session for the 

purpose of resolving the grievance. The Select Board shall render their written decision within 

five (5) working days after said meeting. Any member of the Select Board who has discussed the 

grievance with the employee or a representative of the employee must recuse himself/herself 

from taking part in the executive session/grievance meeting and the decision making process. 

The decision of the Select Board shall be final. 

D. Fair Hearing Board: Before any complaint, grievance or concern is brought before the

Fair Hearing Board, all other avenues, internal to Town Government, for addressing such

matters must have been exhausted. The Fair Hearing Board shall moderate any pre-

suspension or termination hearings of Town employees in accordance with Municipal

Charter Section 5.2.1 (c) and to determine if due process was or was not applied to the

grievances brought to the Fair Hearing Board, section 5.2.3.

The employee may submit a written appeal to the Finance and Human Resources Officer, 

who will promptly inform the Fair Hearing Board and shall act as liaison to the Fair 

Hearing Board to provide necessary documents pertaining to the grievance. The Fair 

Hearing Board will uphold confidentiality for all parties involved and conduct an 

unbiased review of the case in accordance with Municipal Charter section 5.2.3. The Fair 

Hearing Board will render a decision, within 15 work days of receipt of the written 

appeal, if due process was or was not applied in the disciplinary action process along with 

any necessary remedial actions to be taken (section 5.2.3 (1)(2) Municipal Charter). 

SECTION 6:  

WORKPLACE GUIDELINES 

6.1 Employee Conduct and Public Relations 

In order for the Town, Officials, and Employees to maintain a positive relationship with the 

public they serve, we must abide by policies and procedures that will protect the public and 

fortify public trust and the trust we place in ourselves and our co-workers. All Town employees 

must avoid any conduct that might result in or create the impression of using public employment 

for private gain, giving preferential treatment to any person, or losing complete impartiality in 

conducting Town business. Employees must always act in the best interest of the Town.  

Town employees shall cooperate with the public and uphold standards of efficiency, 

professionalism, and economy in their work. All departments shall promote teamwork and 

collaborate efforts in response to public inquiries, ensuring our taxpayers are entitled to the best 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 24 

services we can provide them. Conduct that interferes with the Town’s operations, brings 

discredit on the Town, or is offensive to residents or fellow employees will not be tolerated. 

Cooperation, responsiveness, and courtesy are fundamental elements of good service. In efforts 

to provide meaningful services to Town residents, employees are expected to: 

• Give full and productive work to the best of their abilities and skills.

• Demonstrate a constructive, friendly, and positive attitude towards residents, co-workers,

visitors, or any other affiliates with the Town.

• Be prompt and timely in responses to public inquiries.

• Respect and follow the policies, guidelines, and procedures of the Town.

• Comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

While it’s not possible to outline every potential violation, below is a non-exclusive list of types 

of conduct, which may give rise to discipline for any reason, even if not set forth in the following 

standards. Examples listed below are illustrative of prohibitive behavior and are not intended to 

be all-inclusive. Please direct questions about this section to the Town Manager (or designee). 

• Being at work while under influence of illegal drugs or alcohol. Also refer to Section

6.16 for the Drug and Alcohol Policy.

• Possession, distribution, sale, transfer, or use of illegal drugs or alcohol in the workplace

while on duty or while operating Town owned vehicles and equipment.

• Operating equipment or performing duties in an unsafe manner.

• Fighting or provoking a fight on Town property.

• Theft of any Town property, materials, equipment, supplies, or other items under

ownership of or deemed an asset of the Town.

• Indecent or immoral personal conduct, including the use of profanity or abusive

language, displaying offensive pictures, screen savers, etc.

• Threatening, coercing, intimidating, or interfering in any way with the work or safety of

other employees or residents

• Displaying or holding pornography either by printed or electronic media

• Falsification of timekeeping records

• Excessive absenteeism or any absence with or without notice. See section  6.3

• Failure to give complete and accurate information on any forms of other Town

documents where data is required or requested of the employee

• Making false or malicious statements about the Town, or any of its employees or

residents

• Engaging in gambling or other illegal activities on Town property at any time

• Disclosing confidential information about Town employees or residents

• Engaging in workplace gossip that may harm morale or disrupt operations

• Criminal activity

• Insubordination
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 25  
 

6.2: Professional Appearance 

Employees are representatives of the Town and expected to have professional conduct and 

project a positive image. Professional attire is expected of all employees consistent with the work 

location and nature of work. Employees are asked to use good judgement and present themselves 

at all times in a manner that best represents the Town. Departments may elect to establish 

different standards based on job roles, safety, or OSHA requirements.  

When determining whether or not attire is appropriate, employees should consider: 

• What types of job duties are required in the performance of their roles. 

• General location where performance of job duties is carried out.  

• With whom an employee is interacting with when transacting Town business.  

• Personal safety consideration.  

Additionally, employees are expected to come to work in clothing that is neat, clean, in good 

repair and is free from slogans or symbols that may be offensive to co-workers, the general 

public and others with whom they do business. Employees must also exercise discretion with 

regard to safety when specific job functions present different standards in the work environment.  

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality 

In order to provide effective services to Lyman citizens, it’s important for employees to be 

regular and punctual in attendance. Employees are expected to report to their designated work 

location based on their regular work schedule. In the event an employee cannot report to work as 

scheduled, the employee shall notify their immediate supervisor within thirty (30) minutes of the 

time that employee was scheduled to work. Exempt Employees should maintain consistent and 

regular scheduled hours but are also required to work outside their normal schedule. For 

discretionary time off for exempt employees, refer to section 7.3.  

Hourly (non-exempt) employees may occasionally be required to attend meetings or perform 

work outside of their regular schedule to meet operational needs. When this occurs, employees 

must, with prior notice to and approval from their supervisor, adjust or “flex” their schedule 

within the same workweek to avoid exceeding their regular weekly hours. Flex time must be 

coordinated in advance and approved by the Supervisor/ Department Head to ensure adequate 

coverage and compliance with wage and hour laws. Any time worked beyond the employee’s 

regular schedule without prior approval may be subject to disciplinary action, may not be flexed 

and may be subject to overtime rules. The Town Manager (or Designee) reserves the right to 

determine when flex time is appropriate or when exceeding regular hours may not be flexed 

based on departmental needs and staffing levels. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 26  
 

Tardiness, unexpected absences, or failure to report as required may result in disciplinary action. 

If an employee is absent for more than three (3) days due to illness or injury, they may be 

required to provide a medical statement from their doctor indicating the reason for the absence. 

Employees may also be required to produce a statement from their doctor assuring they are fit for 

duty to return from an absence. A physician’s statement or fitness for duty certificate may be 

required where absence is continuous for a period of several working days and after surgery or 

accident, regardless of the length of absence. Failing to report an absence properly or excessive 

absences or lateness, even when reported may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and 

including termination. 

6.4: Confidentiality  

During the course of their duties, employees of the Town are often privy to information about 

individuals, which is sensitive and will be kept confidential. Examples include, but are not 

limited to, labor relations, General Assistance, and personnel actions. Employees are expected to 

respect the confidential nature of such information. Violations may be grounds for disciplinary 

action up to and including termination.  

6.5: Outside Employment 

Town employees may engage in outside employment; however, no employee may engage in 

outside employment which in any manner interferes with the performance of their position. 

duties. of their position, or results in a conflict of interest. Employees must ensure that outside 

employment does not occur during their scheduled work hours for the Town, utilize Town 

resources, equipment, or confidential information, or results in a conflict of interest. Employees 

must inform their Department Head/Supervisor and Town Manager of their outside employment.  

6.6: Political Activities 

Except as otherwise provided by law, no person who is an employee of the Town shall be 

eligible to hold any elective office in the Town Government.  

While in the employment of the Town, an employee shall not: 

• Engage in political activity while on duty; 

• Use the influence of his or her employment capacity for or against any candidate for any 

County, State, Federal, or Town elective office (i.e: Select Board, Budget Committee, or 

School Board); 

• Use Town facilities, equipment, materials, or supplies to communicate, organize, assist, 

or advocate for or against any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective 

office, or for or against a political cause, regardless of whether he or she is on or off duty. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 27 

For the purposes of this section, political activity means to advocate expressly for or against any 

candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to circulate nomination papers, 

petitions, or campaign literature for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to 

advocate expressly for or against a political cause; and/or to knowingly give, solicit, accept, or 

receive a political contribution for any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town 

elective office or for a political cause.  

This provision is not to be construed to prevent Town employees from carrying out the duties 

and responsibilities of an employee’s position; from becoming, or continuing to be, members of 

any political organization; from attending political organization meetings from donating personal 

time, service, or resources to a political cause or candidate for any office; from expressing their 

views on political matters; or from voting with complete freedom in any election.  

6.7: Conflict of Interest 

Town employees are expected to treat everyone they serve with complete impartiality and are 

prohibited from using their official position for personal gain. Employees will not have any 

material financial interests in any private or professional activity that will be in conflict with 

their job responsibilities and will not represent private interests that are in conflict with the 

Town’s interest.  

Employees shall treat all citizens and others doing business with the Town with courtesy and 

respect and will not grant any citizens any favor, benefit, or special privileges beyond what is 

provided to all citizens. Employees will place public interests above individual, group and 

special interests.  

Employees shall keep confidential any information not available to citizens that becomes known 

to them by virtue of their position with the Town. Matters of personnel, including recruitment, 

selection, or promotion shall be handled on the basis of qualification, ability, and merit.  

Employees must disclose to the Town Manager (or Designee) the nature and extent of any 

financial or personal interest in any Town contract, agreement, purchase of goods or services, or 

projects. The Town Manager (or Designee) will review such disclosures of conflicts of interest 

and determine appropriate practices to maintain partiality. 

6.8: Solicitation 

The Town of Lyman prohibits solicitation, distribution, and posting of materials on or at Town 

property by Town employees, except as may be permitted by this policy. The sole exception to 

this policy is charitable and community activities sponsored by the Town and Town-sponsored 

programs related to the Town’s services.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 28 

Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with Town 

approved or Town-sponsored events. Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during 

work times, or in any work areas, except in announcements in connection with Town-sponsored 

events. The posting of materials or electronic announcements are permitted with approval from 

the Town Manager (or Designee).  

6.9: Town Equipment, and Materials, and Facilities 

All Town-owned facilities, equipment, vehicles, tools, materials and supplies are the property of 

the Town of Lyman. The following shall govern the personal use by employees of Town-owned 

facilities, equipment (including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies.  

I. Town equipment (including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies will not be

used by an employee in the conduct of private business activities, for compensation, or

profit.

II. Town equipment that is issued to an employee for purposes related to their job functions

(i.e. laptop, cell phone, devices designated for out of office use) will not be used for an

employee’s personal use or the personal use of another.

III. Town equipment, that is otherwise not issued for out of office use, will not be removed

from Town premises for an employee’s personal use or the personal use of another.

IV. Employees are expected to follow the Town’s Acceptable Use Policy.

V. The Town’s letterhead will not be used for personal correspondence or in personal

business correspondence.

VI. With approval of the Town Manager (or designee), an employee may use Town

equipment such as computers, photocopy machines, or faxes occasionally for personal

tasks, so long as these tasks are performed on the employees own time and cost of

supplies will be reimbursed to the Town for any supplies consumed in their personal use

of Town equipment. Employees are responsible for any damage to Town equipment

occurring during personal use thereof.

VII. Personal use of Town facilities is prohibited unless expressly authorized in writing by the

Town Manager (or Designee).

Additionally, employees may have access to heavy equipment, such as vehicles, loaders, tractors, 

or other types of machinery to perform essential functions of their job. Employees are expected 

to adhere to all workplace safety policies and procedures. Supervisors/Department Heads may 

employ stricter practices and determine who may operate Town-owned heavy equipment within 

their department. 

Smoking and smokeless tobacco are not permitted in any Town-owned vehicles or heavy 

equipment.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 29 

All employees must use seat belts while in Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment, either as 

an operator or a passenger. This policy also applies when an employee is using his or her own 

personal vehicle for Town business.  

Any employee that is operating Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment will not use any 

cellular device or any other type of electronic device that impairs or distracts the employee from 

the safe operation of vehicle equipment.  

Employees in violation of any section of this policy may receive disciplinary action up to and 

including termination.  

6.10: Cell Phone Use 

The Town allows employees to bring personal cell phones to work, however, use of personal cell 

phones is expected to be kept at a minimum for calls and text messages. Urgent calls to/from 

family members or for emergency matters can be made/received and should be kept brief. While 

occasional phone calls are acceptable, frequent or lengthy personal calls and texts can be 

disruptive and non-productive and not in the best interest of the Town. For this reason, it is 

expected that employees make or receive personal phone calls and text messages during non-

work time as much as practicable, including personal calls using Town equipment.  

When sending text messages for Town business-related matters, employees are expected to use 

discretion and good judgement. As with email and other documents related to Town business, 

text messages made on Town-owned and personal cellular phones are subject to Maine’s 

Freedom of Access Act (FOAA). Sending text messages of a confidential or inappropriate nature 

should be avoided.  

Employees who willfully violate this policy are subject to progressive disciplinary action for 

disruptive, excessive use, or continuous non-compliance.  

6.11: Workplace Safety 

The Town of Lyman strives to provide a safe work environment for all employees and the 

general public conducting business in Town facilities. All employees have a responsibility in 

keeping the workplace safe, healthy, and productive, and to provide safe and efficient services to 

the public. Supervisors/Department Heads are responsible for ensuring worksites and office areas 

are free from recognized job hazards and performance of job duties is done in a safe manner.  

The Town’s goal is to minimize hazards such as human injury, property loss, or fire. All 

employees must report all accidents or injuries immediately to their supervisor and/or Town 

Manager (or Designee). Employees shall exercise caution when operating machinery. Horseplay, 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 30 

practical jokes, or shortcuts that jeopardize the safety of others will not be tolerated and will 

result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

Employees should report unsafe working conditions to their Supervisor/Department Head and 

Town Manager (or Designee).  

Despite employees’ best efforts in maintaining a safe work environment, workplace injuries may 

occur. In the event of a workplace injury, employees are required to follow procedures as 

outlined in section 8.6 of this Personnel Policy Handbook. 

6.12: Social Media 

All employees are expected to follow the Social Media Policy which has been established as a 

separate policy titled “Communications and Social Media Policy” as well as relevant social 

media sections of the “Acceptable Use Policy” 

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use 

Technology resources, computer information systems, and networks are an integral part of the 

business of the Town. The Town provides technology resources to employees to support them in 

accomplishing their work-related tasks. Employees are expected to review the Town’s 

Acceptable Use Policy upon employment and annually.  

6:14: Purchasing Procedures 

All employees are expected to follow policy and procedures as outlined in the “Town of Lyman 

Purchasing Procedures” which has been established as a separate policy. 

6.15: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings 

Certain emergencies may require closure of municipal facilities in order to provide appropriate 

emergency response and/or maintain the safety of employees and the public. Those emergencies 

may include, but are not limited to, major medical crisis, public health or safety threats, fires, 

serious workplace injuries, vehicular and pedestrian accidents. The Town Manager (or Designee) 

shall have discretion to close the municipal facility for such emergencies. Employees will be 

paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of the official closing. In the event 

the emergency occurs before the Town office opens, employees will be notified of the closure as 

soon as is reasonable. While the Town will always make every effort to keep municipal facilities 

open to continue public services, if an employee feels their safety is at risk by remaining at work, 

the employee may use available accrued time off to remain at/return home.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 31  
 

During periods of inclement weather, the Town Manager (or Designee) may decide to close the 

Town Office. Employees will be paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of 

the official closing. In the event the Town office remains open during inclement weather an 

employee may use available accrued paid time off if they are unable to arrive at work.  

6.16: Drug and Alcohol  

The Town of Lyman strongly believes in a safe environment free from substance misuse for all 

employees and members of the public conducting business with the Town. Employees are 

expected to report for work and perform their duties in a manner that does not jeopardize the 

health, safety, and well-being of co-workers and the public.  

No employee of the Town shall possess, dispense, distribute, store, use, or be under the influence 

of any alcoholic beverage, malt beverage, fortified wine, intoxicating liquor, illegal drugs, 

intoxicants, controlled substances, or other useable substances during working hours, including 

rest breaks and meal breaks.  

Employees shall not smoke, ingest, possess, distribute, or be under the influence of 

tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) or psychoactive cannabis products in the workplace, or at any time 

during which the employee is working, expected to work, and/or is on duty. The prohibitions of 

this paragraph apply to all cannabis usage, medicinal and recreational, whether or not lawful 

under Maine law.  

As provided in the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, employees are required to notify the 

Town Manager (or Designee) of a criminal or civil conviction for drug violation occurring in the 

workplace no later than five (5) calendar days after such conviction. The Town Manager (or 

Designee) will: 

• Take appropriate personnel action against such employee up to and including 

termination; and/or 

• Require the employee to satisfactorily participate in a substance use disorder treatment or 

rehabilitation program.  

6.17: Smoking 

Smoking of tobacco products is prohibited in any buildings/facilities owned by the Town. 

Employees are allowed to use tobacco products during their break times but must be outside of a 

building, away from any public entrances or within a designated smoking area and should not 

interfere with any person conducting business with the Town. No litter associated with tobacco 

may be discarded on or in Town property. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 32 

SECTION 7:  

PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES 

7.1: Payroll 

Payroll payments are made on a bi-weekly basis, outlined in 4.10 of this personnel handbook, to 

every employee for salary or wages earned. Pay days are on every other Wednesday, with direct 

deposit commencing on said day. 

Direct Deposit: The Town requires employees to use direct deposit for payroll to the financial 

institute of their choice. The Town does not make payroll advances to its employees, nor does 

the Town make loans to employees. 

Overcompensation - Pursuant to State Statute Title 26 §635: In the event of overcompensation, 

the Town will not withhold more than 5% of the net amount during subsequent pay periods 

without the employee’s written permission, except under the circumstance of the employee 

voluntarily terminating employment, the Town will deduct the full amount of overcompensation 

from any wages due.  The town may not exceed the amount of overcompensation paid to the 

employee in the three years preceding the date of discovery of overcompensation. The Town 

may deduct more than 5% of net pay if: 

• The employee agrees in writing;

• The employee voluntarily quits, or

• The employee “knowingly accepts” the overcompensation

For the purpose of this section, net amount, means the amount of money due an employee as 

compensation after any deductions or withholdings other than the Town’s withholdings for the 

purpose of recovering any overcompensation.  

Tax Withholding Forms: The Town follows IRS guidelines and rules for tax withholding forms 

(Federal W-4 and Maine Withholding). Employees may amend their tax withholding forms and 

it will be the employee’s responsibility to determine and elect the appropriate tax withholding 

from wages. Tax withholding forms are available from the Finance and Human Resources 

Officer. 

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock.    

The Town is required to keep records of hours worked by its non-exempt employees. Non-

exempt employees will record their work hours by using a time clock system. In the event the 

time clock system is not in function, non-exempt employees will record their work hours in 

writing and report the record to the Finance and Human Resources Officer (or Designee) for 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 33 

processing payroll. Employees may request their time records by contacting the Finance and 

Human Resources Officer.  

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) Exempt employees are required to work outside the normal 

schedule of working or office hours and are compensated on the basis of accomplishing the tasks 

demanded of the position without regard for specific number of hours worked. Exempt 

employees are not eligible for overtime pay or compensatory time.  

Exempt employees may take occasional discretionary time off without applying paid time off 

accruals for such time off taken when: 

A. It does not interfere with department operations, or the operations of other departments.

B. With prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or

Designee)

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote Work) 

Employees may on occasion need to conduct their work by Telecommuting/ Remote work 

methods, such as when an employee works any hours from a location other than Town facilities. 

Telework arrangements can provide a mutually beneficial option for both the Town and its 

employees. Employees are expected to be responsible in their conduct of remote work and 

ensure that work goals can be met. 

The Town Manager (or Designee) will determine which positions are most suitable for 

temporary remote work options and shall make their determination based on the Town’s needs 

and the positions’ responsibilities. Not all jobs can be performed from off-site locations. 

Positions requiring face-to-face interaction with customers and office personnel may not be 

suitable for telecommuting.  

At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee) the eligibility of telecommuting/ remote 

work options of an employee may be revoked. Notice of revocation shall be given as far in 

advance as possible but is not required. Reasons for revocation may include, but is not limited to, 

failure to follow applicable policies and procedures, changes in job responsibilities, limited or 

significantly decreased necessity, and any other reason as determined by the Town Manager (or 

Designee).  

Employees must be able to carry out the same duties, assignments, and other work obligations 

when working remotely as they would when working on Town premises. Candidates for 

temporary telecommuting arrangements must demonstrate good time-management and 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 34 

organizational skills, be self-motivated and self-reliant. Employees are expected to demonstrate 

professional conduct when engaging in remote meetings, webinars, trainings, etc.  

As a general rule, the Town will not be responsible for costs associated with the setup of an 

employee’s remote workspace, such as remodeling, furniture, or lighting, nor for repairs or 

modifications to the remote workspace. However, if the employee is in need of a reasonable 

accommodation in accordance with the American’s with Disabilities Act (ADA), an employee 

shall follow the process as outlined in section 2.4 of this Personnel Policy Handbook.  

Town Records: During remote work, employees shall be required to maintain all work product 

and records in a manner consistent with the Town’s standard record keeping practices and in full 

compliance with the Maine Freedom of Access Act and Records Retention Rules established by 

the Maine State Archivist. Employees shall not delete or destroy any records that are otherwise 

required to be maintained by the Town per these laws and rules. It shall be the responsibility of 

the employee to ensure he or she can satisfy these record keeping requirements while working 

remotely.  

Emergency Telecommuting/ Remote work: In the event of an emergency such as inclement 

weather, emergency closures or pandemic, the Town Manager (or Designee) may allow or 

require employees eligible for remote work to temporarily work from home to ensure continuity 

in business and productivity. Employees are required to follow any and all guidelines provided 

by related policies and procedures.  

Determining equipment needs for each employee will be on a case-by-case basis.  Any employee 

with accessibility to perform remote work is expected to follow and adhere to the Town’s 

Acceptable Use Policy. Employees are expected to use any assigned Town-owned equipment for 

Town business purposes only. Employees must keep equipment safe and avoid any misuse. 

Additionally, other sections including 6.9 of this Personnel Policy Handbook shall apply. 

Violations of this policy or any other related policies and procedures shall be grounds for 

disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

7.5: Pay at Separation 

Upon retirement or separation in good standing from the Town, an employee will receive a 

percentage of their accumulated Paid Time Off accruals (PTO) or Earned Paid Leave accruals 

(EPL), whichever applies, as separation pay in their final paycheck. “Good standing” shall mean 

ten (10) working days’ notice to the Town in advance of the employees last actual day worked, 

in the case of proper resignation (section 4.12 of this Personnel Policy Handbook), valid 

retirement, or separation of the employee from the Town service for other than cause. The 

percentage amount is determined by the following: 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 35 

A. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, an employee who has completed one full

year of employment, whether full-time or part-time, and up to ten (10) consecutive years

from the date of hire, shall receive 35% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals in

their final paycheck.

B. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after ten (10) years of continuous full-

time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 50% of their accumulated PTO

or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.

C. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after twenty (20) years of continuous

full-time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 70% of their accumulated

PTO or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.

D. If an employee dies, 100% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals will be paid to the

estate of the decedent unless otherwise directed by a probate court.

SECTION 8: 

BENEFITS 

8.1: Health and Life Insurance 

Health Insurance Benefits: The Town will provide a Maine Municipal Association (MMA) group 

insurance plan, which provides Maine Municipal Employees’ Health Trust medical coverage. 

The Town’s MMA Employees’ Health Trust coverage and level of service shall be established 

by the Select Board during the budgeting process. Currently the Town offers a POS C with a 

100% employer share for a Single Plan and will pay 70% of the difference of a single plan and 

that of a family two-person, or employee and child(ren) plan.  

Regular Full-Time employees and their families are eligible to participate. An employee must 

apply for coverage during open enrollment. The Town does not automatically enroll employees 

under any coverage plans. Employees are responsible for applying for any changes in coverage 

during the open enrollment period. Coverage will begin the first month following the employees’ 

hire date.  

Insurance Opt-Out: Any Regular Full-Time employee who does not elect to receive health 

insurance benefits and can demonstrate they have eligible insurance coverage, shall be eligible to 

receive 50% of the equivalence to a single plan, biweekly through payroll.  

Life Insurance Benefits: All Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible for basic life 

insurance equal to one year of their annual salary as provided by State Statute and established by 

the Select Board annually. Upon the first month after the employee’s hire date, coverage shall be 

automatically applied. If an employee does not participate in the Town’s health insurance 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 36 

coverage, they will also receive the Town’s life insurance benefits unless the employee refuses 

life insurance coverage in writing.  

Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage: Above what the Town will cover for basic life insurance 

Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible to opt in to supplemental Life Insurance 

coverage at the cost to the employee. Available Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage is as 

outlined below: 

• Life Insurance equal to two (2) years of an employee’s annual salary where the Town

will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional

second year.

• Life Insurance equal to three (3) years of an employee’s annual salary where the Town

will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional two

years. The insurance company may request access to an employees’ medical information

for this option.

• Dependent Life Insurance is offered to all employees at 100% cost to the employee.

For any employee that is not eligible to receive the above benefits, they shall have the option to 

opt into any benefit provided by the Town at 100% cost to the employee.  

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance 

The Town will provide 100% employer share of a single plan for dental insurance for Regular 

Full-Time employees. Any employee that is not eligible for the single plan for dental, the 

employee may opt in for this benefit at 100% cost to the employee. For additional supplemental 

or family dental plans, any employee may elect to opt in at 100% cost to the employee.  

Vision insurance is provided to any employee at 100% cost to the employee. 

 8.3: Domestic Partner Coverage 

The Town offers any employee who is eligible to enroll in the employer benefits the option of 

enrolling a domestic partner.  

Any employee who wishes to add a domestic partner will be advised of the requirements set 

forth in the Domestic Partner Affidavit to add said partner. Furthermore, said employee has been 

advised there could be tax implications for adding a domestic partner.  

The Domestic Partner of the Employee shall be: 

• A life partner of either the same sex or opposite sex of the employee.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 37 

• Not legally married or separated, to either the employee or anyone else.

• At least 18 years of age and mentally competent to consent to contract.

• Are each other’s Domestic Partner for at least 12 months prior to the date of the signed

affidavit.

• Are not related by blood to a degree of closeness that would prohibit marriage in the State

of Maine.

• Are jointly responsible for each other’s common welfare; share financial obligations and

share their primary residence.

8.34: Income Protection Plan (IPP) 

The Town offers Income Protection Plans to Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time 

employees to help cover the employee in the event of serious injury or illness where the 

employee must take an extended leave. Eligible employees can elect to opt in at 100% cost to the 

employee to one of three plan options;  

• Income protection up to 40% of the employees weekly salary

• Income protection up to 55% of the employees weekly salary

• Income protection up to 70% of the employees weekly salary

8.45: Retirement 

All Regular Full-Time employees may elect to participate in Town sponsored retirement 

programs. The Town will only provide employer contributions to a single plan for each eligible 

employee. The Town currently offers eligible employees the option of a Maine Public 

Employees Retirement System (MainePERS) plan or a Mission Square 457 (b) Retirement plan. 

All Regular Part-Time employees may participate in the 457 (b) Retirement plan and the Town 

will provide contributions as listed out under section B, below: 

A. MainePERS: New employees must elect whether to participate in the MainePERS within

two (2) weeks of their date of hire. Under federal law, an employee elected in

MainePERS will not be able to leave the MainePERS plan for the duration of their

employment with the Town. If an employee declines to join MainePERS, they will not

be able to later elect to join MainePERS. The MainePERS plan is a Defined Benefit

(DB) pension plan. Employees contribute a percentage of earnings to MainePERS. The

Town will also contribute a set amount to MainePERS on behalf of employees.

Participants in MainePERS and enrollees may also contribute to the Towns Mission

Square 457 (b) plan, however the Town will only match contributions to MainePERS if

an employee contributes to both MainePERS and Mission Square 457 (b)

B. Mission Square 457 (b): Eligible employees may elect to participate in the Town’s 457

(b) Retirement Plan at hire or any time during employment. If the employee selects this

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 38 

as their primary retirement plan, the Town will match employee contributions up to 6%. 

Employees may contribute additional amounts so long as it’s in compliance with federal 

regulations.  

Social Security: The Town provides Social Security and Medicare coverage in compliance with 

federal law to all employees.   

8.56: Open Enrollment 

The open enrollment period will be once a year during a period established by the Maine 

Municipal Employee Health Trust. During the open enrollment period, employees are able to: 

• Enroll in health, dental, and vision plans

• Add or remove dependents from health, dental, and vision plans

• Drop coverage in health, dental, and vision plans

In certain life-event situations, employees may be able to opt in outside of the normal open 

enrollment period. For questions about Open Enrollment dates and how to make changes, please 

contact the Finance and Human Resources Officer.  

8.67: Workers’ Compensation 

The Town participates in a federally mandated Worker’s Compensation program. The following 

actions are required by employees: 

I. All injuries to personnel, no matter how minor, during the work schedule will be reported

immediately to the Town Manager (or Designee), but in no event later than sixty (60)

days after the date of injury. Maine law requires the Town to file a First Report of Injury

with Workers’ Compensation within seven (7) days of receiving notice of the injury.

II. An employee suffering from an on-the-job injury will be sent to a medical facility,

specified by the Town, for examination at the Town’s expense.

III. The employee will receive their normal pay for that day, and if eligible may be entitled to

use Paid Time Off (PTO) for any regularly scheduled time missed between the incident

and the date that workers’ compensation benefits may begin.

8.78 Unemployment 

Federal and State law govern unemployment benefits. The Town provides such benefits as 

mandated under these laws.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 39  
 

8.89: Holidays 

The Town of Lyman recognizes all holidays as currently recognized by the State of Maine. 

 New Year’s Day    Labor Day 

 Martin Luther King Jr. Day   Indigenous Peoples’ Day  

 Presidents’ Day    Veteran’s Day 

 Patriot’s Day     Thanksgiving Day 

 Memorial Day     Day after Thanksgiving 

 Juneteenth Day    Christmas Day 

 Independence Day     

If a regular holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday is considered a holiday; If on 

Saturday, the preceding Friday is considered a holiday. For Christmas Day and/or New Year’s 

Day; if said holiday falls on a Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, the work day prior will 

be a half day.  

Paid holidays will be granted to all Regular Full-Time employees. Regular Part-Time employees 

whose normal work schedule falls on the holiday, will receive holiday pay equal to the hours the 

employee would normally work that day.  

An employee on approved unpaid leave, such as unpaid extended sick leave or leave of absence, 

shall not be entitled to holiday pay.  

 

8.910: Paid Time Off (PTO)  

Regular Full-Time employees are eligible to earn Paid Time Off (PTO) accruals to cover any 

sick leave, personal days, or vacation time. The Town encourages employees to use their PTO 

accruals and take time off to enhance a positive work/life balance. Employees may use their PTO 

accruals at any time after their date of hire pending approval from a Supervisor/ Department 

Head or Town Manager (or Designee).  

Time Off Request Using PTO:  

Requests for use of PTO accruals shall be submitted in writing to the Supervisor/ Department 

Head or Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. The Supervisor/Department Head 

shall approve time off requests for employees working within their department. The Town 

Manager (or Designee) shall approve time off requests for Supervisors/Department Heads. If the 

request is denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial.  

Time Off Requests Without PTO:  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 40 

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of PTO is 

insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department 

Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the 

employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in 

excess of the available PTO the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is 

denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating 

circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker’s comp, prevention of communicable 

illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town 

Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued PTO hours for the 

employee on a short-term basis. 

Requests for time off must be submitted as outlined above. If an employee’s available Paid Time 

Off (PTO) balance is insufficient to cover the full duration of the requested leave, the Town 

Manager (or Designee) shall approve or deny the request. If approved, the employee is required 

to use any remaining PTO to cover as much of the leave as possible. Any additional time off 

beyond the available PTO will result in a negative PTO balance, unless the employee is able to 

flex or make up any time during regular hours of operation with the approval of their Department 

Head or Supervisor within the same pay period. If the request is denied, the authorizing party 

must provide a written explanation for the denial. The Town Manager (or designee) may approve 

or deny such requests for any reason and will take extenuating circumstances into account on a 

case-by-case basis. 

All approved and denied PTO requests will be submitted by the authorizing 

Supervisor/Department Head to the Finance and Human Resources Officer for payroll purposes. 

If a holiday falls within the employee’s time off period, the employee shall not have that day 

charged against their accumulated PTO. “Holiday” shall be defined by section 8.8 of this 

Personnel Policy Handbook.  

All Regular Full-Time employees eligible for PTO accruals will be able to roll over any unused 

PTO accruals or up to a maximum of 35% of their annual accruals, whichever is lesser. Rollover 

of PTO will be effective each year on July 1 and will be automatic. 

Full-time employees have the option at the end of the fiscal year—beginning no sooner than the 

second Wednesday in May—to choose one of the following three options regarding their unused 

paid time off (PTO): 

• Rollover any unused accruals, or up to 36% of their annual accruals, whichever is less;

• Request a buyback of any unused accruals, or up to 36% of their annual accruals,

whichever is less; Accruals beginning on July 1 will begin at 0.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 41 

• Buy back unused accruals and rollover unused accruals at an equal rate not to exceed

36% of their annual accruals.

Employees must submit their selection in writing to their Department Head or Supervisor and the 

Department Head or Supervisor must have the approved request into the Finance Officers 

department for payroll no later than May 31st. If no written request is received by the deadline, 

roll over any unused accruals, or up to 36% of their annual accruals, whichever is less will be 

applied automatically on July 1 of each year. 

Any eligible PTO payout will be as follows under section 7.5. 

Exempt Employees: Accruals will be calculated bi-weekly at a prorated amount based on the 

Specific Eligibility Table under this section of the Personnel Policy Handbook.  

Non-Exempt Employees: Accruals are prorated based on the number of their regular scheduled 

hours worked and will not exceed a regular schedule of forty (40) hours per week.  

Specific Eligibility of PTO: This table is based on 37.5 hours worked per week. Years of service 

shall be continuous for employee eligibility.  

Years of continuous service Paid Time Off  (PTO) hours 

0 through 2 years 105 

3 through 5 years 145 

6 through 15 years 183 

Over 15 years 245 

Years of continuous service Paid Time Off  (PTO) hours 

Date of employment to completion of year 1 105 hours/year 

Start of year 2 to completion of year 3 145 hours/year 

Start of year 4 to completion of year 7 183 hours/year 

Start of year 8 to completion of year 14 217 hours/year 

Start of year 15+ years of service 245 hours/year 

8.1011: Employee Recognition Program 

The Town of Lyman believes recognizing employees’ achievements is essential for raising staff 

moral and engagement. As part of the recognition program merit pay may be awarded. See 

section 4.10 for the Performance Based Merit Program. Additionally, the Town Manager may 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 42 

coordinate with the Select Board other special events, awards, incentives, or gifts for recognition 

of employees and volunteers of the Town. The program will be dependent on available funding. 

SECTION 9:  

EMPLOYEE LEAVE 

9.1: Personal Days 

Any Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employee will receive time allocation equal to two 

(2) regular scheduled work days. Personal time does not accrue year to year and is not subject to

pay out at separation.

Whenever possible, personal time must be requested and approved by the Supervisor/ 

Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Personal time will be applied for the regular 

scheduled hours of the day(s) being requested. The Town also recognizes employees’ ability to 

use time consistent with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave Law.  

9.2: Earned Paid Leave 

The Town of Lyman provides Earned Paid Leave (EPL) pursuant to State law Title 26 M.R.S.A 

sec. 1043(11).  

All employees under section 4.3 of this Personnel Policy Handbook are eligible for EPL 

accruals. The Town provides a benefit greater than EPL to Regular Full-Time employees through 

its Paid Time Off (PTO) policies under section 8.9. To comply with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave 

Law, eligible employees may utilize up to 40 hours of accrued benefit time during the calendar 

year for any type of time off as needed.  

Accrual of Earned Paid Leave: All eligible employees, other than Regular Full-Time employees, 

are entitled to earn one hour of paid leave for every 40 hours worked, up to a maximum of 40 

hours in one year of employment. Accruals begin at the start of employment. Any unused EPL 

will roll over into the next fiscal year of employment. However, the maximum amount of EPL 

available to the employee will not exceed 40 hours in one year. Rollover of EPL will be effective 

each year on July 1 and will be automatic. 

Time Off Requests Using EPL: 

Requests for use of EPL accruals shall be submitted in writing to the Supervisor/ Department 

Head or Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. If the request is denied, the authorizer 

shall provide in writing the reason for denial.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 43 

Time Off Requests Without EPL: 

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of EPL is 

insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department 

Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the 

employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in 

excess of the available EPL the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is 

denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating 

circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker’s comp, prevention of communicable 

illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town 

Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued EPL hours for the 

employee on a short-term basis.  

Requests for time off must be submitted as outlined above. If an employee’s available Earned 

Paid Leave (EPL) balance is insufficient to cover the full duration of the requested leave, the 

Town Manager (or their designee) shall approve or deny the request. If approved, the employee 

is required to use any remaining EPL to cover as much of the leave as possible. Any additional 

time off beyond the available EPL will result in a negative EPL balance, unless the employee is 

able to flex or make up any time during regular hours of operation with the approval of their 

Department Head or Supervisor within the same pay period. If the request is denied, the 

authorizing party must provide a written explanation for the denial. The Town Manager (or 

designee) may approve or deny such requests for any reason and will take extenuating 

circumstances into account on a case-by-case basis. 

All approved and denied EPL requests will be submitted by the authorizing 

Supervisor/Department Head to the Finance Department for payroll purposes. 

Any eligible EPL payout will be as follows under section 7.5. 

9.3: Leave for Victims of Domestic Violence 

In accordance with Maine law, the Town will grant employees reasonable and necessary amount 

of unpaid leave if the employee or the employee’s child, parent, or spouse is a is a victim of 

domestic violence, domestic assault, sexual assault or stalking, and if he/she needs time to 

prepare for or attend court hearing, receive medical treatment, or obtain necessary services to 

remedy a crisis caused by domestic violence. 

As soon as an employee becomes aware of the need of a leave of absence, they must make a 

written request to the Town Manager (or Designee). If leave is approved, the employee will be 

required to first use any accrued Paid Time Off (PTO).  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 44 

9.4: Military Leave 

The Town complies with all State and Federal law, governing the rights of employees who are 

entitled to leave and other rights and obligations applying to their military service. All employees 

in the military service will be granted time off from work for annual training obligations or 

active service in the Military. Employees engaged in active military service will be placed on 

military leave of absence status. Employees receiving orders for military training or service 

should notify their Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) of the dates of 

their military service as far in advance as possible unless military necessity prevents such notice.  

Military leave and rights to re-employment after such leave are available to employees under the 

terms and conditions of applicable Federal and State law, as may be amended from time to time.  

9.5: Family Medical Leave 

The Town complies with the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) of which entitles eligible 

employees of covered employers to take unpaid, job-protected leave for specified family and 

medical reasons. FLMA will run concurrently with all other leave and leave benefits, including 

but not limited to, Workers’ Compensation, Maine FMLA and will run even while the employee 

is using their own accrued leave (such as Paid Time Off and Earned Paid Leave). Family 

Medical Leave and rights to re-employment after such leave are available to employees under the 

terms and conditions of applicable Federal and State law, as may be amended from time to time.  

Eligible Employees: 

Only eligible employees are entitled to take FMLA leave. An eligible employee is one who: 

• Works for a covered employer (The Town of Lyman)

• Has worked for the employer for at least 12 months.

• Has at least 1,250 hours of service for the employer during the 12-month period

immediately preceding the leave.

The 12 months of employment do not have to be consecutive. That means any time previously 

worked for the same employer (including seasonal work) could, in most cases, be used to meet 

the 12-month requirement. If the employee has a break in service that lasted seven years or more, 

the time worked prior to the break will not count unless the break is due to service covered by 

the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), or there is a 

written agreement, outlining the employer’s intention to rehire the employee after the break in 

service.  

Leave Entitlement: 

An eligible employee shall be entitled to twelve (12) work weeks of unpaid leave during a twelve 

(12) month period for one or more of the following reasons:

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 45 

• the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care.

• to care for a spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition.

• for a serious health condition* that causes the employee to be unable to perform the

essential functions of their job; or

• For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, child, or parent is a

military member on covered active duty or call to covered active-duty status.

• a serious health condition, which shall be defined as an illness of a serious and long-term

nature resulting in recurring or lengthy absences. Treatment of such an illness would

occur in an inpatient situation at a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility,

or would consist of continuing care provided by a licensed health care provider.

*A serious health condition means an accident, injury, impairment, or physical or mental

condition that involves either inpatient care or continuing treatment by a health care provider.

When both spouses are employed by the Town, they are each entitled to twelve (12) work weeks 

of family leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care, and to care for a 

parent who has a serious health condition.  

An eligible employee may also take up to 26 work weeks of leave during a “single 12-month 

period" to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness, when the employee 

is the spouse, child, parent, or next of kin of the servicemember. The "single 12-month period" 

for military caregiver leave is different from the 12-month period used for other FMLA leave 

reasons.  

Under some circumstances, employees may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced 

schedule basis. That means an employee may take leave in separate blocks of time or by 

reducing the time he or she works each day or week for a single qualifying reason. When leave is 

needed for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule 

treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. If FMLA leave is for the birth, 

adoption, or foster placement of a child, use of intermittent or reduced schedule leave requires 

the employer’s approval.  

The Town requires employees to "substitute" (run concurrently) accrued Paid Time Off (PTO) or  

Earned Paid Leave (EPL) to cover all the FMLA leave period. However, employees may 

maintain up to forty (40) hours of PTO time for future time off.  

Notice: 

Employees must provide notice as far in advance as possible or as soon as possible and 

practicable under the circumstances.  

If the Town acquires knowledge that a leave may be for a FMLA-qualifying reason, the Town 

will provide the employee with notice concerning their eligibility for FMLA leave and their 

rights and responsibilities under the FMLA. The Town will also notify employees whether leave 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page | 46  
 

is designated as FMLA leave and the amount of leave that will be deducted from the employees’ 

FMLA entitlement.  

Certification:  

In the event an employee is requesting a leave, or the employer has acquired information the 

employee is going to be on leave due to their own serious health condition or a covered family 

member’s serious health condition, the Town may require certification in support of the leave 

from a health care provider.  

 

FMLA is generally unpaid, however, an employee may substitute any paid leave available to the 

employee under the Town’s policy (such as PTO or EPL). Employees should determine which 

paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to use each pay period with the Finance and 

Human Resources Officer for payroll purposes prior to going on leave.  

Maintenance of Benefits:  

An employee shall be entitled to maintain group health insurance coverage on the same basis as 

if they had continued to work at the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee 

will be required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is 

receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is 

normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefits premiums in the case that the employee is 

unpaid. Employees may opt for an automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The 

payment shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee's payment is more than sixty 

(60) days overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.  

If the employee informs the Town that they do not intend to return to work at the end of the leave 

period, the Town’s obligation to provide health benefits ends. Vacation, sick, and holidays will 

not accrue beyond the twelve (12) weeks leave period, consistent with the Town’s leave policies, 

unless the employee is utilizing available accrued vacation, sick, or personal time. However, the 

use of family or medical leave will not be considered a break in service when vesting or 

eligibility to participate in benefit programs is being determined. Seniority of position is not 

affected.  

Job Restoration:  

Upon return from FMLA leave, an employee shall be restored to their original job or to an 

equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment.  

Employees accepting employment elsewhere while on FML may be disciplined, up to and 

including discharge. 

 

 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 47 

9.6: Maine Family Medical Leave 

If not eligible for FMLA, an employee may qualify for Maine Family Medical Leave (MFML). 

To be eligible under MFML, an employee is required to have worked for the Town for 12 

consecutive months. Under the Maine Family Medical Leave Act, employees are (1) eligible for 

10 work weeks of unpaid FML (2) during a two-year period (3) for the employee’s serious health 

condition, the birth or adoption of a child, including a domestic partner’s child, the serious health 

condition of a child or grandchild, domestic partner’s child and grandchild, domestic partner or 

spouse, sibling, or death of an employee’s spouse, domestic partner, parent, sibling, or child who 

is a covered service member who dies while on active duty.  

Request for MFML will be analyzed under both Maine and Federal FMLA. 

9.7: Paid Family Leave 

Employees are eligible for Paid Family and Medical Leave (PFML) beginning May 1, 2026. To 

be eligible, the employee must have earned at least six times the State Average Weekly Wage 

(SAWW) in four of the previous five completed quarters. The PFML program provides up to 

twelve (12) weeks of paid leave for family, medical, military status, or safe leave from abuse or 

violence. Maine Department of Labor (MDOL) is responsible for the implementation and 

administration of this leave. The State requires payroll contributions up to 1% of wages, and the 

employer may charge up to 0.5% of that fee to each employee as a payroll deduction beginning 

January 1, 2025. PFML may run concurrently with FMLA leave.  

Qualifying Reason for Leave: 

If eligible, an employee may be able to take up to twelve (12) weeks of paid leave during a 12-

month period for the following reasons: 

• Family Leave – To care for a family member with serious health conditions.

• Medical Leave – To care for one’s own health condition

• Safe Leave – To stay safe, or help a family member stay safe after abuse or violence.

• Military Leave – For emergencies related to a family member’s impending military

deployment.

Procedure and Timing for Requesting Leave: 

In the event PFML is needed, the employee must apply through MDOL. The request for PFML 

shall be relayed to the County and the Town Manager (or Designee) within reasonable notice, as 

soon as practical or at least 30 days, whichever is longer.  

Pay During PFML Leave 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 48 

Pay during PFML will be paid by MDOL on a tiered system based on the SAWW. Wage 

replacement is 90% of the ½ of the SAWW plus 66% of the remainder of wage. Benefits are 

capped at the SAWW. SAWW will be determined annually by the MDOL. Employees may use 

their PTO or EPL but it may not be required by the employer.  

Benefits 

The County is required to maintain its contribution toward medical coverage for up to the twelve 

(12) weeks of PFML leave at the same level as if the employee were actively at work. Benefits

funded by the County also continue during this period. 

If employee contributions are required, such contributions remain the employee’s responsibility 

for payment. At the employee’s option, payment may be made either in advance, in lump sum, or 

monthly during the leave. Employees paying for coverage continuation on a monthly basis will 

be required to pay on the first of each month for that month’s coverage.  

For more details, information can be found at https://www.maine.gov/paidleave/. The Town of 

Lyman will follow the most current State of Maine laws regarding PFML and those shall 

supersede this policy.  

9.78: Parental Leave 

Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-time employees who have completed at least one full year of 

employment with the Town will be granted an additional four (4) weeks of paid time upon the 

birth or adoption of their child to be used concurrently with Family Medical Leave. Such time 

shall be used in addition to the employee’s current Paid Time Off (PTO) balance. Parental Leave 

expires twelve (12) months after the date of birth or placement. 

Requests for paid parental leave shall be submitted to the Supervisor/Department Head or Town 

Manager (or Designee). Requests shall be made in a timely manner at least 30 days prior to the 

proposed date of leave (or if the leave was not foreseeable, as soon as possible). All Approved 

requests for Parental Leave will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 

the Finance and Human Resources Officer for payroll purposes. 

9.89: Bereavement 

All Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees shall receive bereavement leave as 

provided by the town. In the event of the death of an employee’s spouse, legally recognized 

partner, children, mother, father, or legal guardian, the employee shall be granted five (5) days’ 

leave of absence, with full pay, to make household and service arrangements and attend death 

services. In the event of the death of an employee’s sister, brother, stepparents, stepchildren, 

grandmother, grandfather, spouse’s grandparents or grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, 

DRAFT

https://www.maine.gov/paidleave/


____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 49 

sister in-law, or brother in-law, the employee shall be granted up to three (3) days’ leave for 

absence, with full pay, to make household adjustments and arrange for or attend the death 

services. For relatives other than mentioned above, such as aunt, uncle, niece, nephew or first 

cousin, the employee may use available personal time, Paid Tim Off (PTO), or Earned Paid 

Leave (EPL) for absences. The employee may be required to furnish their immediate supervisor 

with proof of death.  

9.910: Jury Duty 

Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees who are called for jury duty should 

promptly notify their Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) to ensure 

appropriate arrangements are made. The employee will receive his or her regular paycheck and 

are required to forward payments received for their jury duty to the Finance and Human 

Resources Officer, with the exception of mileage reimbursement. This procedure will 

compensate employees for any difference in pay. Employees excused from jury duty must report 

back to work if it is during their normal working hours.  

9.1011: Life Threatening Illness 

In the event an employee submits a physician’s certification to the Town Manager (or Designee) 

that the employee has a life-threatening illness and is expected to result in premature death, the 

Town Manager (or Designee) may make an exception to the existing sick leave and PTO/EPL 

sections of this Personnel Policy Handbook and pay the employee’s entire accrual record to the 

employee.  

SECTION 10:  

REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES 

10.1: Mileage Compensation 

Employees required to drive personal vehicles for approved, legitimate municipal purposes shall 

be compensated by the Town at the amounts set by the IRS Per Diem daily rates (when 

government rates are available), the IRS mileage reimbursement rate, or another rate agreed to 

by the Town Manager (or Designee). Compensation may be approved as a “reimbursement” 

under an Accountable Plan. Elected Officials, Volunteers, and those appointed to Boards, 

Committees, or Commissions are excluded from mileage compensation benefits unless otherwise 

approved by the Town Manager (or Designee) for specific purposes, excluding regular meetings.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 50 

Employees will be paid by an approved appropriation in the departmental budget. The 

appropriation will be in the best interest of the Town. Travel will be accomplished at the least 

cost to the Town. Expenses incurred in excess of the approved appropriation will be subject to 

approval by the Town Manager (or Designee). 

Accountable Plan – Mileage Reimbursement: 

Eligible mileage reimbursement will be granted at the prevailing IRS rate per mile if using 

personal vehicles for approved business-related travel. Home to office travel is not compensable. 

The Town shall reimburse employees for business travel at the lesser of (a.) mileage from home 

to destination (excluding “normal place of business”. For the purpose of this policy, “normal 

place of business” shall mean the location the employee works on a day-to-day basis), or (b.) 

mileage from normal place of business to destination.  

Employees are responsible for documenting all travel logs on the official mileage reimbursement 

log approved by the Town Manager (or Designee). All travel logs shall be submitted to the Town 

Manager for approval on a monthly basis. At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee), 

travel logs may be submitted on a every other month or quarterly basis and such requests will be 

reviewed on a case-by-case basis.  

10.2: Meals, Lodging and Other Expenses 

Meals: 

The Town will reimburse employees for meal expenses incurred in the event of long-term 

arrangements, such as the necessity for overnight lodging (i.e: attending training beyond the 

employee’s residency where travel to and from would create an unreasonable burden on the 

employee). The employee must furnish all detailed meal receipts for reimbursement (a summary 

of the total paid will not be accepted). The Town will reimburse up to $40 per meal. The Town 

will not reimburse for the items: 

• Sales Tax

• Alcoholic beverages, movies, admissions, and personal incidental expenses that may be

incurred while traveling for work-related purposes but are not otherwise related to or

necessary for the performance of work.

The Town does not encourage employees to purchase any goods or services for the Town. 

However, under certain circumstances, such as emergencies or unusual events an employee may 

make appropriate purchases upon approval of the Town Manager (or Designee) and provided 

that other means of the Town’s Purchasing Procedure was not reasonable given the 

circumstances.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 51 

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls 

Employees will be reimbursed for parking fees and tolls provided that the cost was incurred 

during travel for legitimate Town business. The employee shall document such fee(s) incurred 

with their travel logs and additionally shall furnish all appropriate receipts. The Town will not 

reimburse employees for parking tickets and/or motor vehicle violations or infractions. 

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure 

Employees shall submit any required official forms with attached itemized receipts, if applicable, 

no later than thirty (30) days to the Town Manager (or Designee) for approval.  

SECTION 11:  

MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy 

All employees are expected to adhere to the Town’s Freedom of Access Act Policy entitled 

“Town of Lyman, Maine Policy Governing Access to Public Records Under the Freedom of 

Accesses Act”. Refer to this policy for procedural details.  

Additionally, all Town records, whether classified as public or confidential, are the property of 

the Town of Lyman including but not limited to; final and/or draft form documents; emails either 

sent, received, junk, draft, or deleted; audio and/or video recordings; any data, text, and 

voicemail on Town cellular devices, historical records, and any other record required to be 

maintained in accordance to the Maine State Archives Local Government Record Retention 

Schedules. All Town records will be maintained in accordance with State and Federal law.  

Training: Any employee required by State law Title 1 M.R.S sec. 412 shall complete the 

minimum requirements of training within 120 days of their oath of office. If the oath is annual, 

then the training must be completed annually.  

No employee shall destroy and/or permanently remove any record of the Town either knowingly 

or unknowingly and any violation will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 

termination. Any employee found in violation shall be responsible for the cost for recreation 

and/or replacement of said documents.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 52 

11.2: Severability 

If any provision of this Personnel Policy Handbook to any person or circumstance(s) is held 

invalid, this invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Personnel Policy 

Handbook which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application. For this 

purpose, the Personnel Policy is severable.  

11.3: Amendments & Interpretation 

The Town of Lyman reserves the right to unilaterally amend, delete, modify or change these 

polices without prior notice and at any time for any reason. The Select Board and Town Manager 

(or Designee) shall review these policies at least on an annual basis. The Town Manager (or 

Designee) and Town Select Board shall have exclusive and final authority to interpret these 

polices.  

11.4: Definitions 

Appointed Official: Anyone appointed to a board or committee to perform duties in the capacity 

of that board or committee.  

Designee: A person, employed by the Town, who has been assigned specific duties and/or 

employment role(s)  

Employee: An individual working for the Town on a permanent or temporary basis drawing wage 

or a stipend from the Town and as classified in section 4.3. 

Financial Interest: A direct or indirect interest having monetary or pecuniary value, including, 

but not limited to, the ownership of shares of stock.  

Immediate Family: Spouse, children, parents, siblings, including step, half, and in-law relations, 

a domestic partner of a Town official, or persons sharing the same household and intermingling 

financial assets with a Town official.  

Special Interest: Any interest which will allow some form of personal gain, usually pecuniary in 

nature.  

Town Official: Any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their capacity 

serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services 

related to municipal affairs. 

Volunteer: Anyone conducting specific business and/or duties on behalf of the Town as delegated 

by the Town Manager or Select Board either on a temporary or permanent basis and does not 

receive wage or stipend from the Town.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 53 

This revised amended policy supersedes any and all other Personnel policies adopted 

and/or revised prior to April 16th, 2024 _____________________, ____________ 

Adopted: April 16, 1990 

Revised: September 2, 1997 

Revised: September 6, 1999 

Revised: March 6, 2000 

Revised: August 28, 2002 

Revised: July 5, 2005 

Amended: September 6, 2005 

Amended: September 2, 2008 

Amended: March 1, 2010 

Amended: June 20, 2011 

Amended: August 15, 2011 

Amended: March 2, 2015 

Amended: May 15, 2017 

Amended: September 17, 2018 

Amended: April 16, 2019 

Revised: April 16, 2024 

Amended: __________, 2025 

Revision/Amendment adopted and signed by a majority of the Select Board 

on this _______ day of _________________________, ______________: 

______________________________________Jessica Picard 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________David Alves 

______________________________________Joseph Wagner 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 7 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Code of Ethics 

SECTION 1: STATEMENT OF POLICY 

The Town of Lyman is committed to the highest ethical standards and practices, protecting employees, 

partners, volunteers, elected and appointed officials, and the organization from unethical, illegal, or 

damaging actions and statements by individuals, either knowingly or unknowingly. When the Town of 

Lyman acts in an ethical manner, addresses issues proactively, and uses best business judgement and 

practices, it establishes a positive reputation and protects the interest of our citizens.  

The proper operation of the Town requires that all Town officials whether elected or appointed, be impartial, 

equitable, and responsive to the needs of the people and each other in the performance of their respective 

functions and duties; that proper conduct of Town officials will promote public confidence in the integrity 

of government and ensure a culture of transparency, openness, fairness, and equity; that public office not 

be used for personal or financial gain or advantage; that the structure of government be used properly in 

decision and policy making. In recognition of these goals, this Code of Ethics is hereby established for all 

Town officials of elected office, appointed members of boards and committees, volunteers, and employees. 

All ethical policies that are created outside of this code of ethics shall be null and void.  

SECTION 2: PURPOSE  

The purpose of this Code of Ethics is to establish ethical standards of conduct expected of all Town elected 

officials, appointed members of boards and committees, volunteers, and employees by setting forth those 

acts or actions deemed to be in conflict or incompatible, or to create the appearance of impropriety, with 

the best interests of the Town of Lyman.  

SECTION 3: RESPONSIBILITY OF PROPER CONDUCT AND COMMITTEMENT TO 

ETHICS 

The Town of Lyman elected officials, appointed members of boards and committees, volunteers and 

employees will treat everyone with respect, fairness, promote a team environment, and will consistently 

avoid the intent and appearance of unethical or compromising practices. For the purpose of this code of 

ethics, “Town official” shall mean any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their 

capacity serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services 

related to municipal affairs.  

a. Every Town official needs to apply effort in maintaining ethical standards.

b. Town officials shall treat each other with mutual respect and strive for a collaborative, team

environment that enhances fairness, impartiality, and is responsive to the needs of the

people they serve and each other in the performance of their duties.

Page 54

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  2 | 7 

c. Town officials must, at all times, disclose any potential conflict of interest that may arise

regarding their position or duties with the Town.

d. Town officials will support the Town to increase its citizens, public, and vendor

satisfaction by providing quality services.

e. Public office will not be used by any Town official for personal gain.

f. All Town officials will maintain a standard of conduct that will inspire public confidence

and fortify the integrity of the Towns’ government.

g. Decisions and policy making will be made within the proper channels of the Town

government structure, and will uphold federal, state, and local law.

The Town will not tolerate any wrongdoing or impropriety at any time. 

SECTION 4: TOWN MANAGER RESPONSIBILITY OF ADMINSTRATION 

The Town Manager shall perform their duties with professionalism, civility, respect, and with the duty of 

avoiding impropriety whenever possible. With respect to the administration of the day-to-day affairs of the 

Town, the Town Manager shall conduct his/her duties to the extent possible: 

a. Affirm the dignity and worth of the services rendered by local government and maintain a

constructive, creative, and practical attitude toward local municipal affairs and a responsibility as

a trusted public servant.

b. Conduct his/her official affairs in such a manner as to give a clear impression that they cannot be

improperly influenced in the performance of their duties.

c. Uphold and implement local policies adopted by the Select Board; and submit policy proposals to

the Select board.

d. Refrain from political activities, which undermine public confidence in the integrity of government.

e. Uphold the duty to continually improve his/her professional ability and to develop the competence

of associates in the use of management techniques.

f. Emphasize friendly and courteous service to the public and seek to improve the quality and image

of public service.

g. Handle all matters of personnel on the basis of merit so that fairness and impartiality govern

decisions pertaining to appointments, pay adjustments, promotions, and discipline. Concerns of

employee performance should only be made directly with the affected individuals through private

conversation.

h. Uphold all sections of this code of ethics as well as the International City/County Management

Association Code of Ethics.

SECTION 5: DISCLOSURE OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

No Town official shall, to the detriment of the Town, disclose confidential information concerning the 

property, government or affairs of the Town; nor shall he or she use such information for the advancement 

of their own financial, special, or private interests or the financial, special, or private interest of others. 

Information received and discussed during an executive session of any Town agency called pursuant to    

Page 55

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  3 | 7 

1 M.R.S.A § 405 et seq. shall be considered within the constraints of this section and shall not be disclosed 

to any third party unless permitted by an affirmative vote of such body. For the purpose of this section, the 

term “Confidential information” shall mean any information, oral or written, that comes to the attention of, 

or is available to a Town Official only because of their position with the Town and is not a matter of 

public record.  

SECTION 6: GIFTS AND FAVORS 

The conduct of public business shall be free of any influence arising from gifts, favors, donations, or special 

privileges. It is the obligation of all Town officials to refuse personal gifts, favors, donations, or special 

privileges in every instance where favor or special privilege would not have been extended but for the 

position of such Town official; where there exists a reasonable belief that the giver’s interests are likely to 

be affected by the actions of the Town official; or where the gift is or may reasonably be considered to be 

designed to influence the actions of the Town official.  

This does not prohibit the following: 

a. The acceptance of gifts or social courtesies related to a family relationship or friendship between

the Town official and the donor, which are not designated to influence the proper judgement or

action of the Town official in a matter within his/her authority.

b. Public, government-sponsored or informational events, generally accepted as a condition of office,

where refreshments are served or other sponsored gifts are provided, which are not designed to

influence the proper judgement or action of the Town official in a matter within his/her authority.

c. “De Minimis” Things of Value, which shall initially be defined as Things of Value that do not

exceed $25 in total value.

d. Gifts associated with holidays or special events to the extent that such gifts are made available

and/or shared with all employees in a department/office. Gifts made available for the purpose of

customary performance, merit awards or honorariums, consistent with municipal practices. Nor

shall it extend to reasonable gifts made to employees to recognize their service at time of retirement

or separation.

e. Political contributions received in compliance with law.

In determining whether a violation of this section has occurred, the following may be taken into 

consideration: the monetary or pecuniary value of the Thing of Value received; the act and/or item that 

constitutes the Thing of Value; any special economic value the Thing of Value received may have to the 

recipient; and the circumstance of which the Thing of Value was receive. 

For the purpose of this section, “Thing of Value” shall mean any gift, favor, service, loan, event, promise, 

or other thing of value.  

SECTION 7: INCOMPATIBLE EMPLOYMENT 

No Town official shall engage in or accept private employment or render or sell services or goods for 

private interests when such employment or services is incompatible with the proper discharge of his/her 

official duties.  

Page 56

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  4 | 7 

SECTION 8: CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

All Town officials must be fair and impartial in carrying out their duties and responsibilities. All Town 

officials must ensure that their official actions are not intended to create actual or the potential for personal 

or financial gain, either directly or indirectly, for themselves, family members, personal friends, or other 

related parties. Any actual or potential conflicts between personal interests and Town business must be fully 

disclosed in a timely manner. If it is determined that a conflict of interest does exist, the Town official shall 

recuse themselves from officially participating in any discussion or decision-making action on the issue. 

For the purpose of this section, the Table of Consanguinity in Appendix A outlines the degrees of 

relationships in conflict with each other.  

SECTION 9: POLTICAL ACTIVITIES 

No Town official shall participate in any political activity that would be in conflict or incompatible with 

the performance of their official functions and duties for the Town. No Town official may use their official 

authority or position for the purposes of influencing, interfering with, or affecting the results of any election, 

nor shall they solicit or accept funds or contributions during the workday from other Town officials for 

political purposes. Nothing herein shall prohibit any Town official from participating in the political process 

in their capacity as a private citizen or as candidates for elected office.  

SECTION 10: USE OF TOWN PROPERTY 

No Town official shall use or authorize others to use Town-owned property, including but not limited to, 

motor vehicles, equipment, and buildings for any private purposes. Nothing herein shall prohibit the use of 

Town-owned property for the following: 

a. The purpose of Town business.

b. For purposes and on terms generally available to other persons.

c. In accordance with a contract of employment with the Town in which the use of such property is

part of the compensation or a term of employment.

SECTION 11: SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 

Town officials are responsible for their conduct on social media platforms and, in matters of the Town, 

shall refrain from defamatory, offensive, libelous or slanderous conduct that adversely affects any Town 

officials job performance or duties, suppliers, vendors, or contractors who work on behalf of the Town or 

conduct legitimate business for the Town; and shall not violate any section of this code of ethics, including 

but not limited to, section 5.  

Town officials should have the utmost regard in the professional representation of the Town and its 

functions and shall conduct themselves in a manner that promotes civility, rectitude, competence, and 

respectability whether on any form of social media or other media exchanges, including but not limited to, 

emails, direct mail, flyers, websites, newspapers, social platforms, internet communities, or other types of 

publications. No Town official shall engage in any media forum exchanges while in the capacity of his/her 

Page 57

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  5 | 7 

official duties. Nothing herein shall prohibit any Town Official from engaging in any media forum in their 

capacity as a private citizen.  

SECTION 12: VIOLATIONS OF CODE OF ETHICS 

Town officials have an affirmative obligation to report all suspected violations of this code of ethics. 

Reporting violations shall follow the Town’s whistleblower and protection reporting policy.  

Violations of this code of ethics, including failure to report violations of others, may result in disciplinary 

action, up to and including removal of appointment or termination of employment, in accordance with the 

disciplinary procedures outlined in the personnel policy.  

SECTION 13: STATUTORY STANDARDS 

There are certain provisions of the general statutes of the State of Maine which, while not set forth herein, 

should be considered an integral part of this Code of Ethics. Accordingly, the provisions of the following 

sections of general statutes of the State of Maine, as may be amended, are hereby incorporated in this Code 

of Ethics by reference to the extent applicable.   

• 17 M.R.S.A § 3104, Conflicts of interest; purchase by the State.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 456, Tampering with publics records or information.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 602, Bribery in official and political matters.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 603, Improper influence.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 604, Improper compensation for past action.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 605, Improper gifts to public servants.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 606, Improper compensation of services.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 607, Purchase of public office.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 608, Official oppression.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 609, Misuse of information.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 903, Misuse of entrusted property.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 504, Persons ineligible to serve.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 2605, Conflicts of interest.

• 17 M.R.S.A § 5122, Interests of public officials, trustees, or employees.

SECTION 14: SEPARABILITY 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase, of this Code of Ethics is for any reason held to be 

invalid or unconstitutional, such validity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the validity or 

constitutionality of the remaining portions of this code of ethics. 

Page 58

DRAFT



P a g e  6 | 7 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

SECTION 15: AMENDMENT 

This Code of Ethics may be amended or revised by a majority vote of the Town of Lyman Select Board. 

SECTION 16: DEFINITIONS 

Appointed Official: Anyone appointed to a board or committee to perform duties in the capacity of that 

board or committee.  

Employee: An individual working for the Town on a permanent or temporary basis drawing wage or a 

stipend from the Town.  

Financial Interest: A direct or indirect interest having monetary or pecuniary value, including, but not 

limited to, the ownership of shares of stock.  

Immediate Family: Spouse, children, parents, siblings, including step, half, and in-law relations, a 

domestic partner of a Town official, or persons sharing the same household and intermingling financial 

assets with a Town official.  

Special Interest: Any interest which will allow some form of personal gain, usually pecuniary in nature. 

Town Official: Any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their capacity serve a 

role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services related to 

municipal affairs. 

Volunteer: Anyone conducting specific business and/or duties on behalf of the Town as delegated by the 

Town Manager or Select Board either on a temporary or permanent basis and does not receive wage or 

stipend from the Town.  

Adopted:   August 21, 2023

Amended: 

______________________________________Ralph “Rusty” Blackington - Chair 

______________________________________Thomas Hatch – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Jessica Picard 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

Page 59

DRAFT

mnikel
Stamp



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  7 | 7 

APENDIX A 

TABLE OF CONSANGUINITY 

Showing degrees of relationships 

4 

Great Great 

Grandparents 

3 

Great  

Grandparents 

5 

Great Grand 

Uncles & Aunts 

2 

Grandparents 
4 

Grand 

Uncles & Aunts 

6 

First Cousins 

Twice Removed 

1 

Parents 
3 

Uncles & 

Aunts 

5 

First Cousins 

Once Removed 

7 

Second Cousins 

Once Removed 

Person 2 

Brothers & 

Sisters 

4 

First Cousins 
6 

Second Cousins 

8 

Third Cousins 

1 

Child 
3 

Nephews & 

Nieces 

5 

First Cousins 

Once Removed 

7 

Second Cousins 

Once Removed 

9 

Third Cousins 

Once Removed 

2 

Grandchildren 
4 

Grand 

Nephews 

& Nieces 

6 

First Cousins 

Twice Removed 

8 

Second Cousins 

Twice Removed 

10 

Third Cousins 

Twice Removed 

3 

Great 

Grandchildren 

5 

Great Grand 

Nephews & 

Nieces 

7 

First Cousins 

Thrice 

Removed 

9 

Second Cousins 

Thrice 

Removed 

11 

Third Cousins 

Thrice 

Removed 

Page 60

DRAFT

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil

mnikel
Pencil



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Communications & Social Media Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 4 

Adopted: January 7th, 2019 Amended:_____________ 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for the creation, use, and distribution of 

public communications and social media as a means of informing the citizens of Lyman. For 

purposes of this policy, communications and social media are understood to be content created 

by individuals, using accessible, expandable, and upgradable publishing technologies, through 

and on the Internet. Examples of Social Media include, but are not limited to, Facebook, 

Instagram, Blogs, YouTube, Twitter, and LinkedIn. For purposes of this policy “comments” 

include information, articles, pictures, videos, or any other form of communication content posed 

on a Town of Lyman’s social media site.  

STATEMENT 

The Town of Lyman (Town) has an overriding interest and expectation in deciding what is 

“spoken” on behalf of the Town regarding public and social media. Active communication 

between eh Town and its citizens may include local newspapers, electronic newspapers, 

electronic emails, electronic signs, postcards, postal correspondence, postal newsletter, local 

community posters, public meetings, Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, and the Town Website. 

Content for announcement can be created by Town Officials, Town Employees. These 

announcements reflect matters and issues of common public interest and information that relates 

to Town’s functions, objectives, and missions. The Town Manager will approve the content 

generated by any party. If content is generated by any party other than Town Officials, it must 

meet the test of common public interest and must be nonpartisan and noncommercial. The Town 

Manager 

GENERAL MANAGEMENT 

The establishment and use by any Town department of the Town’s public and social media are 

subject to the approval of the Town Manager. Town communication and social media sites 

should make clear that they are maintained by the Town, and they follow the Town’s 

communication and social media policy. The Town Manager (or their designee) will monitor the 

content on the Town communications and social media sites to ensure adherence to both the 

Tonw’s communications and social media policy and the interest and goals of the Town. The 

Town will approach the use of communications and social media tools as consistently as 

possible, enterprise wide.  

Whenever possible, Town social media sites should link back to the official Town of Lyman’s 

website for forms, documents, online services, and other information necessary to conduct 

Page 61

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Communications & Social Media Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  2 | 4 

business with the Town. The Town’s website at www.lyman-me.gov will remain the Town’s 

primary and predominant internet presence.  

All Town public and social media communications and/or sites shall adhere to applicable 

Federal, State and local laws, regulations, and policies. All Town public and social media 

communications and/or sites are subject to the Maine Freedom of Access Act. Any content 

maintained in a social medica format that is related to Town business, including a list of 

subscribers, posted communication, and communication submitted for posting, may be a public 

record and subject to public disclosure. 

Employees representing the Town via public and/or social media communications must conduct 

themselves at all times as representatives of the Town in accordance with all Town policies. 

When a employee responds to a comment in his/her capacity as a Town employee, he/she shall 

not share personal information about himself/herself or other Town employees.  

The Town reserves the right to restrict or remove any content that is deemed in violation of this 

policy or any applicable law. Any content removed based on these guidelines must be retained 

by the Town for a reasonable period of time including the time, date and identity of the person or 

organization posting, when available. This policy may be amended at any time by a majority 

vote of the Select Board.  

CONTENT 

As a public entity, the Town must abide by certain standards to serve all its constituents in a civil 

and unbiased manner. A comment posted by a member of the public on any Town public or 

media site is the opinion of the commentator or poster only and publication of a comment does 

not imply endorsement of, or agreements by, the Town, nor do such comments necessarily 

reflect the opinions of policies of the Town.  

All comments posted to any Town Facebook site are bound by Facebooks Statement of Rights 

and Responsibilities. The Town reserves the right to report any violation of Facebook’s 

Statements of Rights and Responsibilities to Facebook with the intent that Facebook takes 

appropriate and reasonable responsive action.  

ACCEPTABLE USE OF OFFICIAL TOWN SOCIAL MEDIA 

The appropriate use of official Town social media accounts is dependent on employee status and 

role. No individual who is not an authorized user, as defined in this policy, may create, maintain, 

administer, or utilize any official Town social media platform. 

Authorized users must treat all content and communications shared via official Town social 

media accounts as formal communications from the Town of Lyman. As such, great care must be 

Page 62

DRAFT

http://www.lyman-me.gov/


TOWN OF LYMAN 

Communications & Social Media Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  3 | 4 

taken to ensure content aligns with all applicable Town policies, including but not limited to, 

those governing records retention, public records law, and professional conduct. Authorized 

users should have no expectation of privacy when operating or accessing Town social media 

accounts. 

The Town Manager has the authority to create, manage, oversee, or terminate any official Town 

social media account as deemed necessary. They may use these accounts to communicate matters 

relevant to the operations of the Town. The Town Manager may also delegate these 

responsibilities to another employee as appropriate. 

All official Town social media use must adhere to the following standards: 

• Comply with all Town workplace policies.

• Respect privacy, copyright, and trademark laws.

• Maintain respectful, professional, and courteous communication with the public and all

viewers.

• Avoid profanity, vulgar or disrespectful language, and obscene or explicit content.

• Refrain from using slang, idioms, or phrases that may have inappropriate or offensive

connotations.

• Use accessible fonts and color schemes considerate of individuals with visual

impairments.

• Follow all terms of use for the respective social media platform.

• Comply with applicable local, state, and federal laws, including those related to public

access and records retention.

• Follow all relevant Town policies, particularly regarding confidential or protected

information.

• Abide by the terms of any contracts or agreements the Town has entered into.

• Ensure all communications relate directly to Town operations, services, or initiatives.

• Ensure that only authorized users post on behalf of the Town.

• Avoid content that could harm the Town’s reputation or relationships with the public,

vendors, or other stakeholders.

Page 63

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Communications & Social Media Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  4 | 4 

APPROPRIATE USE OF PERSONAL SOCAIL MEDIA BY TOWN EMPLOYEES 

The Town recognizes that employees may use social media in their personal lives and respects 

their right to do so, including protections under constitutional and statutory law. However, when 

such activity interferes with the Town’s ability to carry out its responsibilities, it may be subject 

to review and corrective action. Personal use of social media outside of work is at the 

employee’s discretion; however, employees must not represent or imply that they are speaking 

on behalf of the Town. Employees should also avoid using personal social media in ways that 

could negatively affect the Town’s reputation with the public, clients, or partners due to their 

association with the Town. This includes, but is not limited to, posting or distributing content 

that is illegal, threatening, or disclosing confidential or private information that is not classified 

as a public record under Maine law. Such conduct may result in disciplinary action up to and 

including termination.  

Employees should have no expectation of privacy when using social media on Town-owned 

devices or systems. Additionally, harassment, threats, or other inappropriate conduct on personal 

social media may lead to discipline if it impacts the workplace. Use of personal social media 

during working hours must not interfere with job performance, and access to personal accounts 

on Town-owned devices is prohibited without Town Manager approval. Any social media 

activity—whether on official Town platforms or personal accounts—that violates this policy or 

any other policy, may result in disciplinary measures. 

Adopted:   January 7th, 2019 

Amended: _____________________ 

Effective:   Immediately 

______________________________________Jessica Picard - Chair 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Dave Alves 

______________________________________Joseph Wagner 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

Page 64

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 1 of 9 

Town of Lyman 

Acceptable Use Agreement 

Effective cyber security is a shared responsibility, and a team effort involving the participation and support of all 

employees, including volunteer members of boards, committees and/or commissions in the Town of Lyman. It is 

everyone’s responsibility to know, understand and adhere to the guidelines listed in this agreement.  

Based on best practices and regulations, we have endeavored to create safe cyber practices which are clear, concise, 

and easy to understand. If you have any questions about this agreement, please contact The Select Board’s Office at 

selectboard@lyman-me.gov. 

Thank you in advance for your support as we do our best to maintain a secure environment and fulfill our obligations 

and our mission. 

Acceptable Use Agreement 

• I certify that I have read and fully understand this Acceptable Use Agreement. I understand and acknowledge

my obligations and responsibilities.

• I understand that Lyman reserves the right to monitor system activity and usage. My signature on this

document means I have consented to this monitoring.

• I agree that I will not purposely engage in activity that may: harass, threaten or abuse others; take actions

that will impede or reduce the performance of Information Resources; deprive an authorized Lyman user

access to a Lyman resource; obtain extra resources beyond those allocated; or in any way circumvent Lyman

security measures.

• I further understand that violation of these policies is subject to disciplinary action up to and including

termination. Additionally, individuals may be subject to civil liability and criminal prosecution.

Acknowledged & Agreed to by: 

User Signature Date 

Printed Name 

Page 65

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 2 of 9 

Distribution 

• Employees of the Town of Lyman and members of boards, committees and/or commissions, hereinafter

known as employees/members, that have access to any Town owned devices, emails, or office

equipment/media will receive a copy of the Acceptable Use Agreement upon hire/appointment and annually

thereafter.

• Failure to comply with initial and/or annual training requirements and review of this agreement within a

reasonable time upon request for review will result in temporary revocation of any and all access to Town-

owned devices, emails, or media until all compliance requirements are met.

Definition 

• IT Support is defined as the current IT Remote Managed Services Contractor under contract with the Town of

Lyman.

o To contact IT Support, Lyman uses the support email address provided to document a support

ticket. For emergencies, the Select Board’s Office shall be contacted as well as IT Support.

• Select Board’s Office is defined as the current department head working with and under the supervision of

the Select Board.

Access Control 

Access to Lyman information will be limited to those persons who are reasonably required to know such information 

in order to accomplish our legitimate business purposes or as is necessary for compliance with local, state and federal 

regulations. 

Data Classification 

• Lyman data classifications include Protected and Confidential.

o Protected information is defined as information that requires the highest level of protection; which

if modified or disclosed would have legal, regulatory, and financial or negative public perception

impact.

o Confidential information is defined as information that is restricted to Lyman employees/members,

auditors, regulators, vendors, and affiliates on a “need-to-know” basis.

• For details regarding Lyman data classifications, and the security requirements around each classification,

contact The Select Board’s Office at selectboard@lyman-me.gov.

Authentication 

Password Requirements 

• Passwords must be at least 12 characters long and be comprised of a minimum of 3 out of the following 4

types of characters: numbers, lower-case letters, upper-case letters, and special characters (i.e., #, &, *, etc.).

• The password must not include the user’s first or last name and should not contain dictionary words or

names like those of children, pet, or favorite hobby.

• Passwords must be changed at least every 180 days.

• Users are not permitted to reuse any of their last 10 passwords when selecting a new password.

Page 66

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 3 of 9 

• Accounts will be locked out (disabled) after 5 consecutive failed log-on attempts.

o Network accounts will remain locked out for 30 minutes.

o If you need your account reenabled during the lockout period, contact the Select Board’s Office, or

IT Support.

o We understand getting locked out of your account is inconvenient and we will attempt to resolve

the issue as quickly as is reasonably possible.

Password Protection 

• Every user is responsible for any actions performed using their network or application account. Therefore, it

is critical that users protect their passwords by not storing them in a text file on their computer in an

unencrypted form.

• Passwords are to be kept in a secure location and not to be left open to public areas or as visible by others

• Passwords must never be shared with anyone, including IT staff.

• Work passwords must never be used for personal accounts such as Gmail, Amazon, an ISP e-mail account,

etc. These passwords can be easily intercepted and can result in compromising Lyman’s network security.

• Users must report all password compromises or attempted compromises to the IT Support.

• Passwords must be changed by the user immediately if there is any suspicion of compromise and the issue

must be reported to IT Support as soon as the user is able to.

Email 

Email use is subject to the following: 

• Lyman owns the email system and the information transmitted and stored within it. Users will have no

expectations of privacy.

• Users will use the Lyman’s approved email encryption solution when sending any email (with or without

attachments) which contains Protected or Confidential data.

• The following activities are prohibited:

o Sending email that can be construed as intimidating, harassing, libelous, slanderous, or defamatory

of another person, business, or entity.

o Using email for purposes of political lobbying or campaigning.

o Violating copyright laws by inappropriately distributing protected works.

o Posing as anyone other than oneself when sending or receiving email, except when authorized to

send messages for another when serving in an administrative support role.

• The following activities are prohibited because they impede the functioning of network communications and

the efficient operations of electronic mail systems:

o Sending or forwarding chain letters.

o Sending unsolicited messages to large groups except as required to conduct Lyman business.

o Sending excessively large messages.

o Sending or forwarding email that is likely to contain computer viruses.

• Individuals must not send, forward or receive protected or confidential information through non-Lyman

email accounts. Examples of non-Lyman email accounts include, but are not limited to, Gmail, Yahoo mail,

and email provided by other Internet Service Providers (ISP).

• Individuals must not access non-Lyman email accounts from Lyman provided equipment.

Page 67

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 4 of 9 

• Individuals must not send, forward, receive or store protected or confidential information utilizing non-

Lyman approved devices. Examples of such devices include, but are not limited to, home computers and

laptops, smartphones, tablets, etc.

• E-mail messages and Internet sites accessed are not private but are property of Lyman. Lyman may review e-

mail messages and Internet sites accessed by a user.

• Think twice before you open attachments or click links in email.

o If you don't know the sender, delete the email; if you do know the sender but weren't expecting an

attachment, double check using an alternate method of contact that they actually sent the email.

o If your contact didn't send you the attachment, delete the message. If his or her computer is

infected with malicious code, it may automatically send you emails (without their knowledge) with

links or attachments in an attempt to infect your computer as well.

Internet Use 

In addition to being an excellent resource for information and a revolutionary way to communicate with the world, 

the Internet is a rapidly changing and volatile place which can introduce threats to Lyman and its ability to achieve 

our mission. These policies are intended to provide guidance and protection, while still making available this useful 

business tool. The following rules apply when using the Internet: 

All users must not: 

• Knowingly visit Internet sites that contain obscene, hateful or other materials that could be construed as

offensive; send or receive any material, whether by email, voice mail, memoranda or oral conversation, that is

obscene, defamatory, libelous, slanderous, harassing, intimidating, offensive, discriminatory, or which is

intended to annoy, harass, or intimidate another person, business, or entity. Intentional access to such sites,

whether or not blocked by Lyman’s content filtering system, is prohibited, and subject to disciplinary action,

including termination.

• Solicit non-Lyman business for personal gain or profit.

• Use the Internet or email for any illegal purpose.

• Use the Internet or email for offensive or vulgar messages such as messages that contain sexual or racial

comments or for any messages that do not conform to Lyman’s policies against harassment and

discrimination.

• Download or install any software or electronic files without the prior approval of the IT Support.

• Access the Internet via any means other than an approved connection provided for that purpose.

• Change any security settings in their Internet browser unless under the direction of the IT Support.

• Upload, download, or otherwise transmit commercial software or any copyrighted materials belonging to

parties outside of Lyman, or Lyman itself

• Download or stream images, podcasts, music files, videos, games, etc. unless there is a business-related use

for the material.

• Intentionally interfere with the normal operation of the network, including the propagation of computer

viruses and sustained high volume network traffic, which substantially hinders others in their use of the

network.

Page 68

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 5 of 9 

Artificial Intelligence Technologies 

Artificial Intelligence (AI) technology offers powerful tools that can assist municipal staff in improving productivity, 

enhancing data analysis, and supporting administrative functions. However, its use must be carefully managed to 

ensure ethical standards and legal compliance. The purpose of this policy is to establish clear guidelines for the 

responsible and appropriate use of AI technologies within the Town’s operations, with an emphasis on accountability 

and the safeguarding of confidential information. 

AI shall not be used to generate or disseminate misinformation, harass individuals, make decisions involving 

employment, benefits, or public services without human oversight, or process personally identifiable or sensitive 

information. Users are strictly prohibited from uploading protected, sensitive, or confidential information—including 

but not limited to personally identifiable information (PII), health records, personnel files, and financial data—into any 

open-loop AI system or platform not expressly approved by the Town. Uploading such information to unapproved 

systems constitutes a policy violation and may result in data breaches or violations of local, state, or federal laws and 

regulations, regardless of the user’s intent. 

AI generative systems shall not be used to conduct or write employee reviews, draft personnel documentation, issue 

legal opinions, generate unique and unaltered content intended for official Town use, troubleshoot technical issues, 

or replace human judgment in any matter requiring official review or discretion. All users are responsible for ensuring 

that AI-generated content is thoroughly reviewed, fact-checked, and edited before use. Copying and pasting AI-

generated text without attribution or review is prohibited; users may be held accountable for plagiarism or for 

presenting content as original work when it is not. 

AI is a tool—not a substitute for professional judgment, subject matter expertise, or human oversight. Employees are 

expected to use AI responsibly and in accordance with this policy, maintaining the highest standards of integrity, 

accuracy, and accountability. Violations of this policy may result in disciplinary action, including loss of access 

privileges. 

Social Media 

Social media, such as Facebook, Twitter, and blogs, is largely a personal communication medium. Even LinkedIn, as 

well as other “professional” social media sites, are used by individuals in their personal capacity. If Lyman elects to 

participate in social media, any Lyman communications will be subject to review and approval by The Select Board’s 

Office.  

Personal use of such media needs to be conducted in compliance with the following: 

• Under no circumstances will Protected or Confidential Information be posted on social media sites.

• The personal use of Facebook, Twitter or social networking web sites must not interfere with working time.

Personal use of social networking web sites from Lyman provided equipment is prohibited.

• Any identification of the author, including usernames, pictures/logos, or “profile” web pages, must not use

logos, trademarks, or other intellectual property of Lyman, without approval of the Select Board.

• Employees/members are responsible for their conduct on social media platforms and in matters of Lyman

shall refrain from defamatory, offensive, libelous, or slanderous conduct that adversely affects

employees/members job performance or duties, or customers, suppliers or people who work on behalf of

Lyman or conduct legitimate business for Lyman.

Page 69

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 6 of 9 

• Employees/members are prohibited from using their personal social media to post responses, questions, etc.

while acting in an official capacity. All posting requests shall be submitted to the Select Board’s office for

posting from Town of Lyman social media accounts.

• Written messages are, or can become, public. Use common sense.

Messaging 

Lyman’s messaging systems are a communication tool designed to enhance productivity and facilitate internal 

communications in order to provide excellent customer service. Only messaging applications approved by the Select 

Board are permitted. Policies governing the acceptable use of email and the Internet apply to Messaging systems.   

• Employees have no reasonable expectation of privacy when using the company’s Messaging system. The

company reserves the right to monitor, access and disclose all employee Messaging communications.

• The Messaging system is intended for business use only.

• Employees will use professional and appropriate language in all messages.

Removable Media 

To minimize the risk of loss or exposure of sensitive information maintained by Lyman and to reduce the risk of 

acquiring malware infections on computers operated by Lyman, the following restrictions on removable media apply: 

• Authorized Lyman staff may only use Lyman removable media in their work computers.

• Lyman removable media may not be connected to or used in computers that are not owned or leased by

Lyman without explicit permission of Lyman’s Select Board.

• Media such as printers, copiers, scanners, etc. may not be connected to a Lyman remote or mobile device

unless such media is owned by Lyman and leased with explicit approval of the Select Board.

• Protected or Confidential information may only be stored on removable media when required in the

performance of your assigned duties.

• When Protected or Confidential information is stored on removable media, it must be encrypted.

Mobile Devices 

This section applies to all users who have been granted permission to access Lyman’s internal information resources 

via the use of a mobile device (smartphone or tablet). 

Mobile Device Controls 

Smartphones and tablets are a great convenience and are a part of doing business. They also come with many risks 

including ease of theft, operation in unsecured environments, and easily intercepted wireless communications. 

In order to protect our valuable information; it is important that users of mobile devices follow these rules of use: 

• Only Lyman approved mobile devices may be used to access Lyman information resources.

• Mobile devices must never be shared with anyone and are intended only for the authorized user.

• The theft or loss of a mobile device must be reported to the IT Support immediately.

• Mobile devices require a powered-on password and will lock after 5 minutes of inactivity.

• Mobile devices will be configured to be wiped after 10 failed password attempts.

• Lyman data residing on mobile devices must be encrypted.

Page 70

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 7 of 9 

• Mobile devices must be physically secured at all times.

Laptops 

Laptops are a great convenience. They also come with many risks including ease of theft, operation in unsecured 

environments, and easily intercepted wireless communications. 

In order to protect our valuable information; laptop users must follow these rules of use: 

• Only Lyman approved laptops may be used to access Lyman information resources.

• Laptop devices must never be shared with anyone and are intended only for the authorized user.

• Laptops are subject to the same Lyman controls as workstations, including patch requirements, malware

protection, firewall rules, screen saver timeouts, etc.

• Laptops must be full disk encrypted.

• Laptops must be physically secured at all times.

• The theft or loss of a laptop must be reported to the IT Support immediately.

• Protected and/or Confidential company data cannot be stored on laptops unless specifically authorized by

the Select Board’s Office.

Remote Access 

This section applies to all users who have been granted permission to access the Organization’s internal computing 

resources from a remote location. 

Remote Access Policy 

• Remote access to the Lyman network will be provided to users authorized by The Select Board.

• Any devices used for remote connectivity to the Lyman network must conform to Lyman remote access

standards.

• Termination of an authorized user’s Remote Access is handled through the standard employee termination

process upon employee termination or at management’s request.

Remote Access System 

Users must review this Acceptable Use Agreement and acknowledge they understand their requirements in respect to 

remote access. 

• Lyman information WILL NOT be stored on / saved to the remote workstation unless authorized by the

Select Board

• Remote access connections must use the authorized Lyman remote access solution by VPN or authorized

remote desktop via provided Town device.

• Remote access connections require two factor authentication by VPN or 2-factor secure remote desktop

client.

• The remote workstation will:

o Be kept physically secure and not be used by anyone other than a Lyman workforce member.

o Have security controls in place:

▪ Antivirus Software installed and virus definition files updated.

▪ Desktop Firewall Software.

Page 71

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 8 of 9 

▪ Updated and current with operating system and application patches.

▪ No critical vulnerabilities or malware are present that could negatively affect the health of

the Lyman network.

• Remote sessions will be automatically disconnected after 5 minutes of inactivity.

Physical Access 

This section applies to all facilities operated by Lyman and all employees/members and any other person who may 

come in physical contact with resources that affect Lyman’s information assets on Lyman’s premises. 

Physical Security is the process of protecting information and technology from physical threats. Physical access to 

information processing areas and their supporting infrastructure (communications, power, and environmental) is 

controlled to prevent, detect, and minimize the effects of unintended access to these areas (i.e., unauthorized 

information access or disruption of information processing itself). The business of Lyman requires that facilities have 

both publicly accessible areas as well as restricted areas. 

• When an individual authorized to access a controlled area is separated from Lyman or has a role change that

no longer authorizes access to that area, that person’s authorization will be removed from all applicable

access lists and immediately removed from controlled areas.

o When a user is separated from Lyman, any access tokens or keys will be collected, and the

necessary access control personnel will be notified.

• All individuals that enter any of Lyman’s secured areas must be verified as authorized to do so.

• Third parties must not be given access to the Data Center unless authorized by The Select Board’s Office.

• Protected and confidential data and/or information systems containing confidential or protected data must

be physically secured when not in use. Files must be stored in controlled areas or locked vaults and access is

limited to appropriate users based on job function.

• Individuals are required to notify a Manager if they notice improperly identified visitors.

• Desktops will be automatically disconnected after 5 minutes of inactivity.

• No users personal information or data should be stored on Lyman’s devices.

Incidental Use of Information Resources 

As a convenience to the user community, incidental use of Information Resources is permitted. Only brief and 

occasional use is considered to be incidental. The following restrictions on incidental use apply: 

• Incidental personal use of electronic mail, Internet access, fax machines, printers, copiers, and so on, is

restricted to approved users; it does not extend to family members or other acquaintances.

• Incidental use must not result in direct costs to Lyman.

• Incidental use must not interfere with the normal performance of a user’s work duties.

• Incidental use of information resources must not involve solicitation in any form, must not be associated with

any outside business or employment activity, and must not potentially injure the reputation of Lyman, or its

employees/members.

• All messages, files and documents – including personal messages, files and documents – located on

information resources are considered to be owned by Lyman and may be subject to open records requests

and may be accessed in accordance with this policy.

Page 72

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 Acceptable Use Agreement 

June, 2023 Page 9 of 9 

Termination 

The following requirements apply to all users and contractors whose employment or affiliation is terminated either 

voluntarily or involuntarily. 

• The terminated user must immediately surrender the following: all keys, IDs, access codes, badges, business

cards and similar items that are used to access Lyman’s premises or records.

• The terminated user’s voicemail access, e-mail access, Internet access, passwords, and any other physical or

electronic access to personal information will be disabled immediately.

• The terminated user must return all records to Lyman that contain protected or confidential information,

which at the time of termination is in the terminated user’s possession. Such records include all personal

information stored on laptops or other portable devices or media, and in files, work papers, etc.

Adoption 

Adopted June 5th, 2023 

Amended:___________________ 

Amendment of this agreement is by a majority of the Town of Lyman Select Board  

on this ___________day of ___________________________, 2025 and is effective immediately. 

____________________________________________________Jessica Picard - Chair 

____________________________________________________Victoria Gavel – Vice Chair 

____________________________________________________Amber Sweet 

____________________________________________________David Alves 

____________________________________________________Joseph Wagner 

A majority of the Select Board 

Lyman, Maine 

Page 73

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Purchasing Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 6 

Adopted: June 15th, 2020 Amended:_____________ 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this policy is to standardize the purchasing procedures of the Town of Lyman, 

thereby securing for the Town the advantages of centralized and uniform purchasing procedures 

saving the taxpayer’s money and increasing public confidence in the procedures for purchasing. 

This policy includes Section 7.7 of the Town of Lyman Charter Purchasing and Sales 

Procedures.  

DEFINITIONS 

“Bid most advantageous to the Town” means a bid chosen on the basis of price, quality of 

merchandise, suitability of merchandise, and service reputation of the vendor, and not 

necessarily the lowest bid received. 

“Emergency” means and situation or circumstance by its nature or severity, as deemed so by the 

Town Manager, that would inhibit the Department from providing delivery of services when said 

services are or may be, needed that requires an override of the procedures set out in this policy.  

“Professional Services” means services provided to or for the Town by licensed professionals 

such as lawyers, architects, engineers, auditors and consultants.  

“Purchase” means buying, renting, leasing, or otherwise  acquiring supplies or services for a 

price.  

“Purchase Order” means the form specified by the Purchasing Agent for the purpose of 

identifying the vendor, item(s) purchased, quantities, prices, terms, and budgetary account(s) to 

be charged.  

“Purchasing Agent” means the Town Manager or the Town Manager’s designee.  

“Quotation” means a written or oral proposal obtained from a prospective vendor. 

“Services” means the lease or rental of all grounds, buildings, offices, space or equipment 

required by the Town, the repair or maintenance of equipment or real property owned by or the 

responsibility of the Town and all labor furnished to the Town by persons, firms, individuals or 

corporations 13019359.1 not part of or connected with the Town government.  “Services” shall 

not include Professional Services, or utilities such as electricity, water, and phone services. 

“Supplies” means all materials and equipment. 

“Town Official” means any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their 

capacity serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such 

services related to municipal affairs. 

Page 74

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Purchasing Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  2 | 6 

PURCHASING 

Except in matters pertaining to normal road maintenance or in emergency situations as 

determined by the Board in those cases where the scope of work or services to be performed for 

the Town shall require an expected expenditure of $10,000 or more, the following guidelines 

shall be followed: 

a. A clear statement defining the required scope of services or specifications of the work to

be performed shall be provided to the potential bidders, along with notice as to where the

bid forms may be picked up. Notices shall be mailed to prior and appropriate bidders,

notifying them of the current bid request.

b. Requests for bids shall be advertised in the local papers early enough to give bidders

sufficient time to prepare bids. Such advertisements should include the statement that,

“The Board reserves the right to accept or reject any or all bids”. Awards shall be made to

the most responsible, qualified, and responsive bidder.

c. The manner in which the bids are to be submitted, when they shall be due in the Town

Office, and when the bids are to be publicly opened, shall be clearly stated in the ad.

d. The Board may contractually require a bid bond and/or a performance bond.

e. For purchases between $5,000 and $9,999,a t least three (3) price quotes for comparable

products must be solicited prior to the purchase.

LIMITATIONS ON PURCHASES 

Limit amount is fifty dollars ($50.00) or a combination thereof, which shall require a purchase 

order(s) to be completed and submitted to the Town Manager’s Office. The guidelines for 

purchasing procedures listed below are expected to be followed: 

• The Town Manager shall be the Purchasing Agent for the Town, responsible for

overseeing all purchases of supplies, materials, and equipment for use by the Town. The

Town  Manager reserves the right to deny any purchases based on funding availability

and the scope of the current budget.

• Any purchase over $50.00 shall require a purchase order subject to approval of the

Purchasing Agent and submittal of an approved purchase order to the Finance Officer.

• The purchase order shall include confirmation of funds available for the purchases, a

description of items purchased, or an invoice attached to the purchase order. An invoice

is the vendor’s statement of his/her charges against the Town for materials or services

rendered.  Invoices should contain substantially the same information as on the purchase

order

Page 75

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Purchasing Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

P a g e  3 | 6 

 

• No purchases or services, supplies, materials, and equipment shall be made without prior 

approval of the Purchasing Agent.  
 

• Once approved, the Town Manager will order or submit approval to the appropriate 

Town Official  
 

• Neither the Purchasing Agent nor any Town Official shall make any purchase or allow 

any purchase to be made until an appropriation therefore has been approved by the Town 
 

• Payments will be made in accordance with Title 30-A MRS §5603(2)(A) 

All Town Officials acting in their official capacity on behalf of the Town are expected to: 

• Practice economy in the use of materials, goods, and services 
 

• Maintain property and equipment in serviceable condition 
 

• Determine acceptable quality of commodities and supplies to be purchased 
 

• Share knowledge of special factors which will implement a policy designed to enable the 

Town to minimize cost and maximize quality.  
 

 

• Prepare requisitions and keep corresponding records to facilitate correct accounting 

charges.  
 

• Be empowered to reject any unacceptable supply or commodity on the grounds of high 

cost or low quality, and provide the Purchasing Agent with a written detailed report of 

rejection.  
 

• Choose vendors on the basis of responsibility, quality, prior experience with providing 

goods and/or service to the Town, reputation, and references from other municipalities or 

customers.  
 

• Report to the Purchasing Agent the following 

o Items beyond use 

o Items being replaced or to be replaced 

o Items no longer of use to Department operations.  

Disposal of all surplus equipment valued over $500 shall be by sealed bid process 

established by the Board who reserves the right to reject all bids. Advertisements for 

the disposition of surplus Town equipment shall be posted at the normal locations in 

Town and on available electronic media. If there are no bids, the Board may dispose 

of the surplus equipment as deemed necessary.  

• Plan future purchases to provide ample time to secure favorable prices and terms, and to 

minimize direct purchases.  

Page 76

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Purchasing Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

P a g e  4 | 6 

 

EMERGENCIES 

Purchases made in emergency circumstances shall be considered exempt. Notification that the 

emergency exists is made to the Town Manager with details to the nature of the emergency, the 

source of funding for the emergency and the most advantageous manner in which to make the 

purchase of services, supplies, materials and equipment. Emergency notification will be for 

emergencies only and not used to circumvent this policy. The Town Manager will apprise the 

Board of emergency expenditures.  

CREDIT CARD USE 

The Town Manager shall determine who is authorized to utilize Town Credit cards. 

a. The card will not be used at any time for personal expenditure.  

b. The card will not be used at any time without prior purchase order approval within the 

guidelines listed in this policy.  

Each time the Town’s credit card is used, it will be immediately returned to the Finance Officers. 

All receipts will be attached to the approved purchase order with expense codes written on the 

receipt to be used for payment of the charges. The Finance Officer will pay the bill in a timely 

manner to avoid any interest or penalties whenever possible so long as the payment is not in 

conflict with Title 30-A MRS §5603(2)(A) 

All purchases made with any Town credit card and purchase order require the Town’s tax 

exemption to be utilized whenever it is reasonable feasible to do so. If tax appears on the receipt 

the person authorized to use the card must contact the vendor to have the tax removed from the 

purchase.  

Each time a Town Official is authorized to use any Town credit card the use must signed out and 

signed in the credit card usage log with the Finance Officer. Upon signing the log, the card user 

is acknowledging they have read and understood this policy.  

The individual issued a municipal credit card is responsible for its protection and custody and 

shall immediately notify the Finance Officer if the card is lost or stolen.  

REQUIREMENTS FOR USING STATE AND FEDERAL FUNDS 

The Town shall ensure that all state and federal funds are used in strict compliance with 

applicable laws, regulations, and grant requirements. All expenditures made with such funds 

must directly support the purposes for which the funds were awarded and must be properly 

documented and accounted for in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and 

any specific requirements set by the granting agency. Town Officials utilizing state or federal 

Page 77

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Purchasing Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

P a g e  5 | 6 

 

funds are responsible to ensure proper tracking, reporting, and audit readiness. Any employee or 

official found to have misused or misappropriated such funds may be subject to disciplinary 

action, up to and including termination, and may be held personally liable for the repayment of 

disallowed costs. The Town reserves the right to void any agreement or purchase made in 

violation of this policy. 

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

Any Town Official who has financial interest, direct or indirect, or by reason of ownership of 

stock in any corporation, or ownership interest in a business entity, in any contract with the 

Town, or in the sale of any land, material, supplies, or services to the Town or to a contractor 

supplying the Town, shall make known that interest and shall refrain from voting upon or 

otherwise participating in his/her capacity as an official in making such sale or otherwise in the 

making or performing of such contract.  

Any Town Official who knowingly conceals a financial interest, or who willfully violates the 

provisions of this section, shall be deemed to have committed malfeasance in office and may be 

subject to disciplinary action. Additionally, any violation of this section that occurs with the 

express or implied knowledge of the individual or business entity entering into a contract or sale 

with the Town may, at the Town’s discretion, render the contract or sale voidable 

In all proceedings before the Town, every Town Official shall attempt to avoid the appearance of 

a conflict of interest by disclosure or abstention.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Municipal Purchasing Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  6 | 6 

This policy supersedes any prior policy related to this subject. 

Adopted:  June 15th, 2020 

Amended: ____________________ 

Effective:   Immediately 

______________________________________Jessica Picard - Chair 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Dave Alves 

______________________________________Joseph Wagner 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

Page 79

DRAFT



FOAA POLICY AMENDED ________________ 1 

TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

POLICY GOVERNING ACCESS TO PUBLIC RECORDS 

UNDER THE MAINE FREEDOM OF ACCESS ACT 

I: SUMMARY AND PURPOSE 

This policy governing access to public records is established to implement the provisions of the Maine 

Freedom of Access Act, I M.R.S.A. Sections 401-412. The purpose of these rules is to support the 

policy of providing public access to the public records in the possession of the Town while, at the 

same time, complying with state law requirements as to confidential information and maintaining 

administrative efficiency. 

2. DEFINITIONS

Terms used in this Policy Governing Access to Public Records shall have the same meaning as in the

Maine Freedom of Access Act.

"FOAA" means Freedom of Access Act.

"Requestor" means person who submits a request for public records under the provisions of the

FOAA.

"Public Access Officer" is the appointed employee of the town responsible for ensuring that each

public record request is acknowledged within a reasonable period of time and a good faith non-binding

estimate of when the response to the request will be complete is provided. A public entity that

receives a public record request must acknowledge and respond to the request regardless of whether it

was delivered to or directed to the Public Access Officer. The unavailability of a Public Access

Officer cannot delay a response to a request therefor; the Public Access Officer shall designate another

employee to serve as an alternate Public Access Officer.

3. PROCEDURES FOR REQUESTING PUBLIC RECORDS

Written requests for public records are requested to be submitted to the Public Access Officer at the

following addresses:

Public Access Officer 

Town of Lyman 

11 So. Waterboro Road 

Lyman, Me. 04002 

OR: 
townmanager@lyman-me.gov 

Written of oral requests submitted to Town Officials or Town employees other than the Public Access 

Officer will be referred to the Public Access Officer for processing and response. 

(Note: The Town cannot require written requests, and it cannot require persons making requests to 

identify themselves, although the Town still gets a reasonable time to respond. Also, as written, this 

makes it sound as if a written request can only be made to the Public Access Officer and will be rejected 

if made to anyone else. The statute does not support such a limitation) 

Page 80

DRAFT

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


FOAA POLICY AMENDED ________________ 2 

4. FORM AND CONTENT OF REQUEST

Requests in accordance with the FOAA and the Town of Lyman Policy Governing Access to Public

Records are requested to be made in writing to ensure that a complete response is given, but a written

request is not required. For the requestor's convenience, e-mail shall be considered a written request.

The following information is requested when submitting a FOAA request:

A. The requester's full name, address and phone number. If a requester does not wish to provide this

information, the requestor will be informed as to when the requested information, or an estimate,

will be available.

B. A brief description of the public records being sought, being as specific as possible. If you do know

what document you are seeking, please state which specific information is being sought.

C. Whether the request is for inspection of public records, copies of public records, or both.

(Note: The FOAA does not require a person making a request to state the reason for the request

and a request cannot be denied if it is for a commercial purpose.)

5. TIMELJNE FOR TOWN RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR PUBLIC RECORDS

The Public Access Officer must acknowledge receipt of the FOAA request within five workings days of

the request. The Public Access Officer shall respond within a "reasonable amount of time" with (1) a

good faith, nonbinding estimate of the time within which the municipality will comply with the request

and (2) a cost estimate for complying with the request. Requests may be made orally under the FOAA,

but the Public Access Officer still has five (5) working days to acknowledge receipt of the request. It is

not required by law that the records be provided for inspection and/or copying within five (5) business

days.

Should a request be denied by the Public Access Officer the requested shall be notified of the reasons

for the denial within five (5) business days.

Factors defining "reasonable time" shall include administrative workload, complexity of request or

amount of staff time required to fill request.

6. TOWN RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR PUBLIC RECORDS

After review of a request for public records, the Town may either provide the materials, give notice that

the materials shall be made available upon payment of reproduction costs and/or staff time, or give

notice of the time and place for inspection of records. A denial of a request for public records shall be

made in writing. It shall state the reason(s) for the denial.

The Public Access Officer may request additional clarification concerning what public records are

sought before responding to a request.

7. PROCEDURES FOR PROVIDING RECORDS

Inspection of records at Lyman Town Hall-generally public records will be made available for

inspection during normal working hours of the Lyman Town Hall.

Unless otherwise arranged, the inspection of records shall take place at the Lyman Town Hall.

It is not required of the public entity to create a record that does not exist.

Page 81

DRAFT



FOAA POLICY AMENDED ________________ 3 

It is not required of the public entity to create a record that does not exist. 

Documents which the requestor wishes to have copies shall be segregated during the course of the 

inspection. An employee of the Town may be present throughout the inspection. 

Generally, all copying shall be done by a Town employee. A requestor may be prohibited from bringing 

bags, briefcases or other containers into the inspection room. 

Copies of public records shall be provided to the requestor only upon payment of any charges which are 

due. 

Charges for copies of public records shall be assessed in accordance with State Statute unless an 

established "fee schedule" as approved by the Select Board. 

9. FEES

The Town shall assess any and all fees to the requestor allowable by the State of Maine Freedom of

Access Act.

Should a requestor make a request requiring Town Employee time to fill such request, which exceeds

the allowable "free" time allotted by the FOAA, an estimate of charges to fulfill the request shall be

given to the requestor before such work begins. Prepayment shall be required if the estimated response

costs exceed $100.00 or if the requestor has previously failed to pay a properly assessed fee under this

policy in a timely manner. Any overpayment shall be refunded upon receipt by requestor.

(Note: This change reflects the statutory limitations on requiring payment in advance)

POLICY FOR HANDLING NON-FOAA COMPLAINTS 

It is the policy of the Town of Lyman to take all citizens’ complaints responsively and seriously, while 

simultaneously ensuring that staff do not spend undue time in receiving complaints. 

A complaint form shall be created and utilized to obtain the person's name, contact information, a brief 

description of the nature of the complaint and the person's signature indicating that they concur with 

the complaint summary. 

All complaints shall be submitted in writing to the appropriate Department and/or Town Manager 

entered into a "log" that will be referred to the Select Board each meeting as part of an agenda item. 

Staff are not expected to take the time to provide a full hearing of the complaint at any point, but only 

to take the limited time necessary to ascertain the nature of the complaint for logging purposes. 

Municipal departments are responsible for professionally receiving and addressing public complaints 

related to services, operations, or general concerns that are not subject to the Freedom of Access Act 

(FOAA). All such complaints shall be documented in writing by the complainant and referred to the 

appropriate department head for review and follow-up. Staff are not expected to resolve civil matters 

or matters outside of their authority to review and may direct the complainant as to appropriate 

procedures outlined by ordinance, policy or other applicable laws. Staff are not expected to provide 

legal advisement regarding any complaint submitted. Complaints involving the conduct or 

performance of a Town employee must not be handled at the departmental level and must be directed 

promptly to the Town Manager for appropriate review and action. This ensures consistent oversight, 

confidentiality, and proper resolution in accordance with Town policies.  People with concerns or 

complaints are invited to attend Select Board meetings to more fully explain the details,  though again, 

due to the nature of these business meetings, the Chair reserves the right to limit time for comments. 

Page 82

DRAFT



FOAA POLICY AMENDED ________________ 4 

It is the Select Board's Policy that this will allow limited staff resources the time necessary to fulfill 

priority work activities while still receiving complaints and referring them to the Select Board for 

consideration and possible action. 

Adopted:   January 7th, 2019 

Amended: _____________________ 

Effective:   Immediately 

______________________________________Jessica Picard - Chair 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Dave Alves 

______________________________________Joseph Wagner 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

Page 83

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

Grant Application & Management Policy 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 2 

Adopted: Amended: 

PURPOSE:  The purpose of this policy is to establish a clear and structured process for 

identifying, applying for, and managing grants and funding opportunities in the Town of 

Lyman.  

To coordinate grant-writing efforts and avoid duplication, all grant applications must be approved 

by the Town Manager before submission, and a copy of the application and supporting documents 

must be filed with the Town. Volunteers may not enter into contracts on behalf of the Town and 

must coordinate any such work with a staff liaison or the Town Manager as appropriate. 

Before submitting a grant application, committees or volunteers must present a proposal to the 

Town Manager detailing the scope and purpose of the grant, the anticipated outcomes, and the 

parties responsible for overseeing the project. The proposal must include cost estimates, any 

financial commitments required from the Town, including maintenance, upkeep, subscriptions and 

services, and a clear breakdown of matching fund requirements, if applicable. If the project 

involves permitting, detailed information regarding the necessary permits must be provided. It is 

the responsibility of the committee or volunteer(s) to gather all relevant information necessary for 

the grant submission unless otherwise assigned by the Town Manager. Depending on the project’s 

scope, the Town Manager may present the proposal to the Select Board for approval. 

Committees or volunteers must track all grant-related documentation and are responsible for 

completing any required post-grant reporting. They must also ensure that projects funded through 

grants are completed within the specified deadlines. They will be responsible for coordinating the 

project through completion unless otherwise assigned by the Town Manager.  

All purchases must comply with the Town’s purchasing procedure and Town Charter. If a grant 

project requires matching or additional funding from the Town, the committee or volunteers must 

follow the appropriate budgeting process for approval of funds.  

To avoid delays and any unforeseen challenges, planning, budgeting, and coordination of projects 

should be done as early as possible. All grant-related records, whether in digital or physical format, 

are considered official Town records and must be submitted for records retention in compliance 

with Town policies. Any proposed project must align with the best interests of the Town and 

support its long-term objectives. 

2/18/2025

Page 84

DRAFT



2/18/2025

Page 85

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  1 | 6 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Select Board 

Code of Conduct 

1. Purpose and Statement

This Code of Conduct is designed to describe the manner in which Select Board members 

should treat one another, Town employees, appointees, constituents, and others they come into 

contact with in representing the Town of Lyman.  It reflects the work of the Lyman Select 

Board with defining more clearly the behavior, manners, rules of order, and courtesies that are 

suitable for various occasions. All members of the Select Board have equal votes, and all 

should be treated with equal respect. Board members shall demonstrate civility and respect at 

all times and shall not use their elected position for personal gain, for that of themselves or 

others, or for any conduct of a self-serving nature. The Select Board serve in their capacity as 

representatives of Lyman and shall endeavor to work for the benefit of the citizens and of the 

Town.  

To ensure the effective functioning of the Select Board, we commit to the following principles: 

• We will uphold the Town Charter and the Constitutions and laws of the State of Maine,

and will act strictly within the authority they grant us.

• We recognize that, under the Town Charter, the Select Board acts as a body. Individual

members hold no authority outside of official board meetings.

• We will use our positions solely for the public good, never for personal benefit or the

benefit of others.

• All board deliberations will be conducted openly, in accordance with the law, except

under the provisions of an executive session. Board members will not meet privately—

individually or in groups—to discuss Town business outside of properly noticed public

meetings, as such actions may violate open meeting laws and compromise public trust.

• We will not commit to a position or vote on any matter before it has been properly

discussed in a public meeting.

• We will not publicly criticize Town employees and will support the day-to-day

operations of the Town by working through The Town Manager.

• We will maintain the confidentiality of all matters discussed in executive session and

safeguard confidential information.

• We will adhere to all Town policies to the fullest extent possible.

• We will strive to avoid conflicts of interest and avoid situations that present, or appear

to present, a personal gain

• We will respect all decisions made by a majority of the Board and will only seek

reconsideration through the appropriate Board process.

DRAFT
ITEM #5: (c.) Select Board Code of Conduct Amendments 



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  2 | 6 

2. Board Meetings

Board Meetings: will be held at the Town Hall unless otherwise designated by the Chair or 

Vice Chair. A suitable alternative location that meets the needs of public attendance will be 

designated as needed. All meetings are open to the public, except under such provisions of 

executive session Title 1 M.R.S.A §405 et seq.  

Election of Chair & Vice Chair: In accordance with Section 3.3 of the Town Charter, the 

Chair and Vice Chair of the Select Board shall be elected by an affirmative vote of at least 

three (3) Board members during the first regular meeting following the Annual Town Meeting. 

The induction of new Board members will occur on or around July 1st to allow time for 

onboarding and deliberation regarding leadership roles. Current Board members whose terms 

are concluding will continue to serve until the official induction of new members has taken 

place. Each year, the fourth Monday following the Annual Town Meeting will be reserved for 

a Select Board workshop dedicated to new member onboarding and discussion of the Chair 

and Vice Chair positions. At the first regular Select Board meeting in July, nominations and 

elections for Chair and Vice Chair will take place at the start of the meeting. If any scheduled 

meeting falls on a holiday, it will be moved to the following Tuesday. 

New Board Member Onboarding: A workshop will be held after the Annual Town Meeting 

to onboard newly elected Board members. This session will cover key topics including a 

review of Board policies and code of conduct, the Municipal Code of Ethics, Personnel 

Policies, training resources, agenda structure and materials, open meeting laws and proper 

select board deliberations handling of confidential information and personnel laws, the 

respective roles of the Town Manager and Select Board, appointment authority, the budgeting 

process, Town Meeting procedures, current initiatives, and other relevant updates or guidance. 

Presiding Officer: The Chair shall be the presiding officer during Board meetings. In the 

absence of the Chair, the Vice Chair shall be the presiding officer. In the absence of the Chair 

and Vice Chair, the next senior Board member shall preside. For the purpose of this section, a 

senior Board member shall be defined as a Board member currently serving the longest, 

consecutive term of all other Board members present.  

Agendas: will be prepared by the Town Manager and approved by the Chair or Vice Chair 

before being posted. All reports, communications, resolutions, documents or other matters to 

be submitted to the Board shall be delivered to the Town Manager’s Office by Thursday 

before noon prior to the regular meeting for consideration at that meeting and following the 

approval of the Chair or Vice Chair. In matters of extenuating circumstances, where items 

not on the agenda are brought to the Board, then the Board shall have discretion by a 

majority vote to consider the item and the reason for the extenuation shall be recorded and 

documented in the minutes. No votes or decisions shall be taken on any items or topics not 

on the agenda and such items shall be tabled and placed on the next agenda for continued 

consideration.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  3 | 6 

Executive Sessions: The Board may only enter into executive session by a majority (3/5) 

vote of the Board. No orders, rules, resolutions, regulations, contacts, appointments, or other 

official action shall be finally approved during executive sessions. Any discussion of matters 

in executive session shall not be shared outside of the executive session. 

3. Conduct of Public Meetings

Decorum and Order: All comments and questions shall be directed to the Chair or 

otherwise presiding officer of the meeting. A public member who wishes to address the 

board may do so during public comment or if called upon by the Chair or presiding officer. 

The Chair or presiding officer has the right to prohibit public comment that is disorderly, 

inappropriate, offensive, disruptive, or threatening in any way. Any Select Board member has 

the right to call a point of order requesting the Chair or presiding officer to take corrective 

action of any disorderly conduct. Side conversations, whispering, or other distractions should 

be addressed by the Chair or presiding officer, to maintain order and limit disruptions.  

Any persons who disrupt a Board meeting may be required to leave in order to permit orderly 

consideration of the matter for which the meeting was called. If the Chair or presiding officer 

requests any persons to leave and they do not do so, any member of the Board may call for an 

adjournment. In the event of an early adjournment, all remaining items not addressed will be 

tabled to the next meeting unless the Chair determines to hold an additional meeting sooner.  

Matters pertaining to the day-to-today operations of the Town, that is not specifically on the 

agenda, should be redirected to the Town Manager. This is to help aid residents or any 

interested party in obtaining information being requested and limit time constraints on Board 

meetings.  

The Chair or presiding officer will determine how to address public comment inquiries and 

may answer the inquiry if reasonably able to do so; or may table to allow for further review 

into the inquiry; or may choose to take no action. The Chair or presiding officer reserves the 

right to refrain from engaging in argumentative, or debate forum and may redirect 

commentary as they deem necessary.  

Practice Civility and Professionalism in Discussions and Debate: Select Board members 

shall prepare themselves for public issues; listen courteously and attentively to all public 

discussions before the body; and focus on the business at hand. They shall refrain from 

interrupting other speakers, making personal comments not germane to the business of the 

body, or otherwise interfering with the orderly conduct of meetings. They shall demonstrate 

effective problem-solving approaches to find common ground and seek compromise when 

disparate points of view are expressed. 

Confidentiality of Executive Sessions: Select Board members must take care to preserve the 

confidentiality of information received or discussed in duly-called executive sessions. 

Information received or discussed in a duly-called executive session shall not be discussed 

with or communicated to members of the public, the press, or other persons (except Town 

employee(s) as needed in connection with the item concerned), unless disclosure is approved 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  4 | 6 

by a majority of the Select Board and is not prohibited by applicable Maine or federal law; or 

as may be required by court order, subpoena, or litigation discovery request. 

4. Select Board Conduct with Town Employees

Developing Effective Working Relationships: Firsthand information obtained from random 

and carefully planned observation of Town activities can be useful in providing proper 

oversight of the Town’s activities and responsibilities. However, too frequent involvement in 

Town administrative activities or overzealous pursuit of information can undermine the 

efficiency and effectiveness of the Town Manager and other properly appointed department 

heads and supervisors. Therefore, Select Board members shall not stop, disrupt or unduly 

preoccupy any Town employee in the proper conduct of their activities, nor shall Select 

Board members excessively occupy any Town employee’s personal working space such that 

their presence interferes with the proper and efficient conduct of their duties.  

The Board subscribes to the concept that effective working relationships between Board 

members and the Town Manager are based on a clear understanding of respective roles, 

responsibilities and an appreciation for the value of constructively working through 

differences. Both the Board and the Manager should additionally embrace the goal of 

working together as associates with a common purpose without stifling independent thinking. 

To that end, Select Board members should adhere to the following: 

o Recognize and support the administrative chain of command by directing all inquiries

and communications to Town employees through the Town Manager. Avoid giving

instructions, seeking assistance, or sharing information directly with department

heads or staff. All complaints or concerns regarding Town operations shall be brought

to the Town Manager, and members shall refrain from acting independently outside

of the board’s collective authority.

o Treat all employees with mutual respect, demonstrate clear and honest

communication, and promote professionalism among the workplace.

o Limit contact to specific personnel. Requests for follow-up or directions to employees

should be made only through the Town Manager. When in doubt about what

employee follow-up or directions are appropriate, Select Board members should ask

the Town Manager for direction.

o Do not disrupt Town employees from their jobs. Select Board members should not

disrupt Town employees while they are in meetings, on the phone, or when

performing their respective functions in order to meet the needs of an individual

Select Board member.

o Never publicly criticize a Town employee. Critical comments about an employee’s

performance should be made only to the Town Manager and in confidentiality.

o Demonstrate the same mutual respect and limited interference, as outlined for

employees, for Volunteers serving on boards, committees, and commissions.

5. Select Board Conduct with the Public
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  5 | 6 

Make no promises on behalf of the Select Board or the Town: Select Board members may 

be broached on topics or issues pertaining to Town Business as they meet and talk with 

constituents in the community. It is appropriate to give a brief overview of Town policy and 

to refer to the Town Manager for further information. It is inappropriate to overtly or 

implicitly promise Select Board action, or to promise Town employees will take specific 

action.  

Potential Access of Written Notes, Voicemail/Text Messages, and e-mail: Freedom of 

Access laws describe public access to Town communications; written, voice, or electronic 

communication. Any Select Board members’ communications should recognize potential 

access and evaluate communication with an exception of pubic dialog.  

It is important Select Board members know that any written, electronic or digital 

communication pertaining to Town business is public record under Maine law, if the 

communication is one that is stored in a retrievable form, regardless of the device used to 

send, receive or store the communication. Furthermore, all Select Board members are 

expected to adhere to all rules governing in accordance with the Maine State Archives Local 

Government Record Retention Schedules.  

6. Response to Violations of Select Board Code of Conduct

Select Board members who intentionally and repeatedly do not follow proper conduct may

be reprimanded or formally censured by the Select Board.  Serious infractions of the Code of

Conduct could lead to other sanctions as deemed appropriate by the Select Board. Board

members should point out to the offending Select Board member infractions of the Code of

Conduct.

7. Amendment

These rules may be amended by a majority vote of the Board. An amendment must be

submitted in writing at a preceding meeting and shall be placed on the next agenda under the

order of new business.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

P a g e  6 | 6 

This Select Board Code of Conduct was amended by a majority of the Lyman Select Board on this 

______day of ________________________, 2025 

Adopted: March 7th, 2024 

Amended: July 1st, 2024 

Amended:  

______________________________________Jessica Picard - Chair 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________David Alves 

______________________________________Joseph Wagner 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

DRAFT



May 5, 2025 

To The Town of Lyman Select Board, 

The Lyman Historical Society has, in previous years, raised funds at the annual Memorial Day Parade at John Street 

and Goodwins Mills Road, for the Travis Mills Foundation.  This year our society voted to raise funds for our local 

veterans instead. 

The Society respectfully requests that the Town of Lyman Select Board establish an expendable fundraiser account 

dedicated to supporting the needs of our town’s local veterans who may be facing hardships, including but not 

limited to emergency home repairs, heating fuel, mobility or accessibility needs and temporary food or shelter 

support. This account would be funded through donations and community fundraisers, and disbursements would 

be made on a case-by-case basis, as determined by the Select Board or their designee. 

Although we have not raised a large amount of funds in the past, we are hopeful that members of our community 

will more strongly support our local veterans for their military sacrifices. We thank you for your time and 

consideration and respectfully ask for your acceptance and approval of this request.   

Irene C. Single 

President, Lyman Historical Society 

Accepted and approved on ____________________________________ 

___________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Jessica Picard  David Alves 

Select Board Chair Select Board Member  

___________________________________ ___________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel  Joseph Wagner 

Select Board Vice Chair  Select Board Member 

___________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

Select Board Member 

ITEM #5: (d.) Historical Society Request



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 5th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 3 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Jessica Picard, Victoria Gavel, Joseph Wagner, Amber Swett, 
David Alves (Via Zoom) 
Selectboard members absent: none 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
1 M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion regarding personnel matters 
1 M.R.S.A §405 (E) Discussion regarding consultations with legal counsel 

Amber Swett – Motions to go into executive session per 1 M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion regarding personnel matters 
and 1 M.R.S.A §405 (E) Discussion regarding consultations with legal counsel.  
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

Victoria Gavel – Motions to come out of executive session.  
Joseph Wagner – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
Michelle Feliccitti – Thank you to the Select Board for continuing to support Candidate’s Night.

b. Mail •York County Sheriff Bulletin

ITEM #3 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Updates if any – No new updates.
b. Discussion - public comment procedures, requesting agenda placement and managing Q&A.

Discussion adding “The Board may not be able to respond to inquiries during public comment; if you
wish to be placed on a future agenda, please contact the Town Manager.” Jessica Picard asks to
change “inquiries” to “Q & A” so that it clarifies that the Board may not answer questions. Other
discussion that the Board may not be able to answer questions if they are not prepared and it
should be an agenda item. Also, that prior Boards talked a lot in between meetings and this board
doesn’t really do that. David Alves suggests that should also be included as part of onboarding for
new members.

c. Planning Board – Review/Approve Bylaws & Mission Statement
David Alves suggests keeping the suggestions from the Town Manager and to also modify the
opening statement so it sets a better tone and does not seem as aggressive. He suggests the
Planning Board make efforts to guide applicants during the Site Plan Review Process. Joseph Wagner
suggests removing from the intro language “the burden of proof is on the applicant” and add
“Planning is a mutually collaborative process between the Planning Board and the applicant. The
Board is responsible for the accurate and reasonable application of the Lyman ordinances and for
providing guidance to applicants in the interpretation of the ordinances. The applicant is responsible
for providing the information necessary for compliance to the Lyman ordinances.”. Joseph Wagner
also suggests cutting the language regarding special meetings as he was on the Planning Board
before and they did not run into many circumstances that called for a special meeting. Discussed

DRAFT
ITEM #6: (a.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 5th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 3 

removing language regarding personnel as the Town Manager makes any changes to employee job 
description and if the Planning Board needed support or had any concerns they can contact the 
Town Manager. The Board agrees to send the changes to the Planning Board for review and if they 
have any further questions or comments, they can submit them to the Select Board.  

ITEM #4 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Fire Chief – All Hands

Victoria Gavel updates the Board that the chief is resigning from their position, and they are
currently working towards interviewing to fill the vacancy.

b. Treasurer – Expense Report – Reviewed in agenda packet.

ITEM #5 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Cemetery Committee – Request for Tree Removal Funds

Discussion there is $2,487 available for funds as well as donations collected of $1,175 totaling the
amount of $3,662, however this does not cover the full cost of removing both trees. It’s unclear
which cemetery this work is for, if there are veteran gravesites involved, or if it’s for the benefit of a
private cemetery. The Board had questioned work being done at Chadbourne Cemetery in the past.
Victoria Gavel suggests the Board set a precedent and the money should be spent to remove the
trees but also suggest maybe removing one tree for now where there isn’t enough funding. Jessica
Picard suggests using up any remaining funds for this year if they can. The Cemetery Committee had
prior confirmed they have no other items remaining to purchase for supplies for this remaining fiscal
year. The Board agrees to table the item and invite the committee to come to the next meeting for
further discussion.

b. Maine Community Foundation – Received $5,000 from Donor of Nine Wicket Funds for Bunganut
The Town Manager applied for a grant that also works with private donors. The Town has been
awarded $5000 for improvements at Bunganut Park from a Private Donor - Nine Wicket Fund. There
are some development of plans to restore the beach by bringing in sand and adding a berm and new
plantings. During a DEP meeting regarding the Bunganut ramps, DEP inquired about any other
projects. There was discussion if the Town could add sand to help restore the beach area and DEP
confirmed it could be done with the filing of a NRPA permit. The Town Manager met with the
Buildings & Grounds committee who are working to assess the park to identify other projects.

c. Bunganut Park/YMCA updates
The Town Manager met with the YMCA on April 28th to go over the opening of the Park. YMCA asked
about allowing motorized boats. The Park does not have a large enough boat ramp to allow for large
boats, but smaller motor kraft could be launched and a few have been in the past. The addition of
the ramps will also be placed in the boat launching areas where the public launches small kraft. The
Board agrees to look into having one of the ramps moved closer to the handicap parking area and to
allow for small trolling motors. The YMCA also asked about food trucks if they are allowed. Currently
the Town does not have any ordinances around food trucks. The Town Manager consulted with
MMA that was of the opinion the Board could impose certain rules for the park if they wanted to.
For now, due to limited oversight, the Board agrees not to allow food trucks/carts vendors until
there can be more oversight and research. The YMCA asked for modifications of the ticket booth
that include adding a counter for a workspace and if they could switch out their own door that has a
window and when the season is over switch back to the existing door that’s there. This poses an
issue that could cause the door jamb to deteriorate. The park is still being assessed for ongoing
improvements which include improving the parking area. The Board agrees to leave the booth as it
is for now. The field side concession stand is being re-keyed. The Town Manager has reached out to
MUSC to remove any belongings. MUSC did confirm that they have some field equipment upstairs

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 5th, 2025 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 3 

and a fridge and other equipment downstairs. The board discusses the ability for committees to use 
the concession stand for fundraising activities that can help offset expenses.  

d. Review/ Approve Annual Town Meeting Warrant
Article 48 was removed because it was a duplicate. Article 32 shows the Select Board vote as 5-0-1
but should rather be 4-0-1. Otherwise, there are no other changes. The Board agrees with the
changes made to the warrant. The Architect and Civil Engineer will be at the public hearing on May
19th to provide a 3-D walkthrough of the expansion plans. They will also attend the Town Meeting to
help answer questions regarding the Town Hall expansion.
Joseph Wagner – Motions to approve the warrant with the corrections.
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #6 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 04/22/2025

David Alves – Motions to approve the minutes.
Joseph Wagner – Seconds the motion.
Motion passes: 3-0-2 (David Alves, Victoria Gavel, Joseph Wagner in favor; Amber Swett, Jessica
Picard abstain as they were not present at that meeting).

ITEM #7 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #48 in the amount of $29,413.68

Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Joseph Wagner seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #49 (FY2025) in the amount of $690,921.47

Joseph Wagner – Motions to approve. David Alves seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ADJOURN 

Amber Swett – Motions to adjourn. Victoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 

__________________________________________ 
Jessica Picard 

__________________________________________ 
David Alves 

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Joseph Wagner 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 3 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated May 5th, 2025 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

DRAFT



ITEM #7 (a.) Payroll Warrant





 ITEM #7: (b.) AP Warrant
















	TOL Personnel Policy AMENDMENT DRAFT (1) (2025).pdf
	Blank Page




